

# The Role of Schizophrenia Susceptibility Genes in Associative Learning

A thesis presented for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy** 

<sup>ву</sup> Nicholas E Clifton

September 2016

# Declarations

## Statement 1

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of PhD.

(Nicholas E Clifton) Date

### Statement 2

No portion of the work presented has been submitted in substance for any other degree or award at this or any other university or place of learning, nor is it being submitted concurrently in candidature for any degree or other award.

\_\_\_\_\_ (Nicholas E Clifton) Date \_\_\_\_\_

### Statement 3

This thesis is the result of my own independent investigation, except where otherwise stated, and the views expressed are my own. Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references.

\_\_\_\_\_ (Nicholas E Clifton) Date \_\_\_\_\_\_

### Statement 4

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available online in the University's Open Access repository and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

\_\_\_(Nicholas E Clifton) Date \_\_\_\_\_\_

# Acknowledgements

This work is an accomplishment reliant on the contributions and unwavering support provided by supervisors, colleagues and loved ones.

The project was supervised by Professor Jeremy Hall and Dr Kerrie Thomas, to whom I extend my heartfelt gratitude. Together, they are a continuous source of ideas, reassurance and optimism. It is through their inspiring teamwork that they provide a highly rewarding environment in which to perform research.

Further thanks are extended to Dr Andrew Pocklington for providing considerable guidance and facilitating the exploration of exciting avenues of research.

It is my pleasure to acknowledge the contributions made by my colleagues, and friends, Dr Simon Trent and Lucy Sykes. Together with Dr Thomas, they aided in the generation of tissue samples used for certain gene expression studies presented herein. Their contributions are detailed in the respective methods sections.

I would like to use this opportunity to express my appreciation of the infinite support provided by my parents, my brothers, and Anna. This achievement is truly testament to their encouragement and inspiration.

This work was funded by a studentship provided generously by the Wellcome Trust.

Acknowledgements pertaining to the collection and contribution of patient genetic data are found in the Appendix.

# Abstract

Schizophrenia is highly heritable, indicating that a large proportion of one's susceptibility to developing the disorder is attributable to genetics. Recent large-scale genomic studies have revealed that genetic variants in patients with schizophrenia affect genes involved in synaptic plasticity processes, which are required for learning and memory, including genes encoding protein complexes associated with the NMDA receptor and the postsynaptic density. Further evidence suggests that associative learning may be particularly affected, although it is unclear which components of this cognitive process are implicated in schizophrenia.

The present studies investigated the relationship between particular phases of associative learning, represented by the consolidation, retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory in rats, with genetic variants, psychoactive drugs and postsynaptic density proteins associated with schizophrenia. I tested associative learning-related gene expression datasets for enrichment in genetic copy number variants from a large cohort of patients with schizophrenia and demonstrated that only genes associated with extinction learning are enriched in patient variants (Chapter 3). I report that fear extinction in rats was impaired by administration of the NMDA antagonist and psychotomimetic, ketamine (Chapter 4). The expression of activity-induced, postsynaptic density products of the *Homer1* gene, which has been linked to psychiatric disease, was differentially regulated in specific hippocampal subregions following extinction learning (Chapter 5), and the effect of a partial knockdown of these genes during different phases of associative learning was investigated (Chapter 6).

These results build on clinical studies linking abnormalities in associative and, specifically, extinction learning with schizophrenia and support the notion that genetic variants associated with the disorder impact particular cognitive domains. My findings are consistent with the theory that altered inhibitory-type learning processes contribute to the manifestation of schizophrenia.

# Abbreviations

μΙ	Microliters
μm	Micrometres
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
AMPA	$\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARC	Activity-regulated cytoskeletal-associated protein
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BRET	Bioluminescence resonance energy transfer
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CA	Cornu ammonis
CFC	Contextual fear conditioning
CLOZUK	UK study of schizophrenic patients taking clozapine
cm	Centimetres
CNV	Copy number variant
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CPFE	Context pre-exposure facilitation effect
CS	Conditioning stimulus
dATP	Deoxyadenosine triphosphate
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DG	Dentate gyrus
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ERK	Extracellular signal-related kinase
FMRP	Fragile X mental retardation protein
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
h	Hours
ID	Intellectual disability
IEG	Immediate early gene

IP	Intraperitoneal
IS	Immediate shock
ISC	International Schizophrenia Consortium
mA	Milliamps
MAGMA	Multi-marker Analysis of GenoMic Annotation
MAS5	Microarray Suite 5
MEK	Mitogen activated protein kinase kinase
MGI	Mouse Genome Informatics
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor
MGS	Molecular Genetics of Schizophrenia
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
min	Minutes
mm	Millimetres
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
nmol	Nanomoles
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
РСР	Phencyclidine
PSD	Postsynaptic density
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RMA	Robust multi-array average
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RyR	Ryanodine receptor
sec	Seconds
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SSC	Saline sodium citrate buffer
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TRPC	Transient receptor potential canonical channel
US	Unconditioned stimulus
VGCC	Voltage-gated calcium channel

# Contents

Declarationsi
Acknowledgementsii
Abstractiii
Abbreviationsiv
Contents vi
Figures viii
Tablesx
Chapter 1: Literature Review1
1.1 Schizophrenia – current status1
1.2 Risk variants to biological pathways10
1.3 Associative learning and schizophrenia17
1.4 Homer family activity-induced proteins23
1.5 Experimental Plan45
Chapter 2: General Methodology46
2.1 Copy number variant enrichment analysis
2.2 Common variant enrichment analysis
2.3 The ethical use of animals in research
2.4 Contextual fear conditioning behavioural paradigms
2.5 In situ hybridization
2.6 Immunoblotting56
2.7 Intracerebral microinjection of substances
Chapter 3: The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from
Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders61
3.1 Introduction
3.2 The enrichment of learning-related genes in schizophrenia-associated CNVs65
3.3 Comparing the enrichment of learning-related genes in CNVs from patients with
schizophrenia, autism, ADHD and intellectual disability82
3.4 The enrichment of learning-related genes in schizophrenia-associated common
variants
3.5 Discussion
Chapter 4: Associative Learning by Contextual Fear Conditioning
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Generating context-specific fear memory101
4.3 Extinction of contextual fear memory104
4.4 Investigating the effect of ketamine on the consolidation of contextual fear
memory
4.5 Investigating the effect of ketamine on the extinction of contextual fear memory
108
4.6 Discussion
Chapter 5: The Regulation of Postsynaptic Density Homer1 Proteins by Associative
Learning 119
6

5.2 Determining the regulation of Homer1 expression by contextual fear memory
conditioning122
5.3 The regulation of short Homer1 isoforms by novelty exposure
5.4 Determining the regulation of Homer1 expression using the Context Pre-
exposure Facilitation Effect (CPFE) behavioural model of contextual fear conditioning 135
5.5 Differential expression of short and long Homer1 isoforms following contextual
fear memory retrieval and extinction138
5.6 Quantification of Homer1a protein following contextual fear conditioning and
extinction142
5.7 Discussion
Chapter 6: The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and
Extinction 151
6.1 Introduction151
6.2 Knockdown of Homer1a by intracerebral microinjection of antisense
oligonucleotides
6.3 The role of Homer1a in the consolidation of contextual fear memory: antisense-
targeted knockdown in the dorsal hippocampus162
6.4 The role of Homer1a in the extinction of contextual fear memory
6.5 The effect of Homer1a and Ania-3 double knockdown on the extinction of
contextual fear memory171
6.6 Discussion
Chapter 7: General Discussion
7.1 Results Chapter Summaries
7.2 The role of extinction learning in psychopathology
7.3 Generalisability and limitations
7.4 Future directions
7.5 Conclusions
References
Appendix
Acknowledgments for CNV datasets216

# Figures

Figure 1.1 The inverse relationship between allele frequency and effect size in genetic
diseases6
Figure 1.2 The convergence of synaptic pathways implicated in schizophrenia14
Figure 1.3 Primary structure of Homer1a, Ania-3 and Homer1b proteins
Figure 1.4 Cotransport of group I mGluRs and Homer proteins from the soma to the endoplasmic reticulum and cell membrane
Figure 1.5 The regulation of postsynantic calcium homeostasis by Homer proteins 40
Figure 2.1 <i>In situ</i> hybridization autoradiograph from coronal rat brain sections hybridized
with radiolabelled oligonucleotides specific to the Homer1a mRNA sequence55
Figure 3.1 Distinct groups of genes are associated with different components of fear
memory processing75
Figure 3.2 Extinction-related genes are enriched in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia
Figure 3.3 Secondary CNV enrichment analyses performed over the top 1, 2, 5, 10, 15
20 and 25% genes associated with consolidation, retrieval and extinction of fear
memory
Figure 3.4 Within the top 5% extinction-related genes, those more strongly associated
with extinction learning are also more enriched in schizophrenia case CNVs80
Figure 3.5 The size distribution of CNVs from patients with different psychiatric diseases.
Figure 3.6 The enrichment of learning-related genes in the CNVs of natients with
different nsychiatric diseases
Eigure 2.7 DLINK common variant anrichment analysis of the ten 1.25% genes associated
Figure 5.7 FLINK common variant enformment analysis of the top 1-25% genes associated
with consolidation, retrieval and extinction of fear memory
Figure 3.8 MAGIMA common variant enrichment analysis of the top 1-25% consolidation-
, retrieval- and extinction-related genes
Figure 4.1 Contextual fear conditioning (CFC) to a footshock
Figure 4.2 The effect of ketamine on contextual fear conditioning107
Figure 4.3 Ketamine impairs the extinction of contextual fear memory
Figure 4.4 Post-trial administration of 25 mg/kg ketamine has no effect on the
consolidation or extinction of contextual fear memory
Figure 5.1 Regional expression of Homer1 isoforms127
Figure 5.2 Contextual fear conditioning induced robust post-shock freezing
Figure 5.3 Heat map hippocampal autoradiograph of representative mRNA expression
of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 following contextual fear conditioning130
Figure 5.4 Hippocampal mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1
following contextual fear conditioning (CFC)
Figure 5.5 mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 following exposure
to a novel context or contextual fear conditioning (CEC) 134
Figure 5.6 Hippocampal mRNA expression of Homer1a Ania-3 and long Homer1
following a brief exposure to a novel context (Novelty) brief povel context
exposure with an immediate footsback (Novelty IS) and brief exposure to a
exposure with an infinediate footshock (noverty is) and brief exposure to a

familiar context with an immediate footshock (context preexposure facilitation
Figure 5.7 In the metricul and entiretien of content of fear means weter displayed
Figure 5.7 In the retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory, rats displayed
robust conditioned freezing and an extinguished response after long recall (10
min)140
Figure 5.8 mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 in the hippocampus
following the recall or extinction of contextual fear memory141
Figure 5.9 Hippocampal Homer1a protein following contextual fear conditioning and
extinction145
Figure 6.1 Homer1a antisense oligonucleotide target region within the predicted
structure of Homer1a mRNA
Figure 6.2 Rats administered with unilateral intrahippocampal infusions of Homer1a
antisense oligonucleotides exhibited robust post-shock freezing
Figure 6.3 Homer1a protein knockdown in whole cell lysates of the dorsal hippocampus
hy Homer1a antisense oligonucleotides
Figure 6.4. Homer1a oligonucleotide injection sites prior to contextual fear conditioning
Figure 6.5 Antisansa madiatad knaskdown of Hamar1a had no offact on the
Figure 6.5 Antisense-mediated knockdown of Homeria had no effect on the
Consolidation of contextual fear memory
Figure 6.6 Homer1a oligonucleotide injection sites prior to extinction training
Figure 6.7 Antisense-mediated knockdown of Homer1a in the dorsal hippocampus did
not influence the extinction (Ext) of contextual fear memory
Figure 6.8 Ania-3 antisense oligonucleotide target region within the predicted structure
of <i>Ania-3</i> mRNA172
Figure 6.9 Homer1a / Ania-3 antisense injection sites prior to extinction training174
Figure 6.10 Homer1a / Ania-3 double antisense infusion into the dorsal hippocampus
prior to extinction training had no effect on the extinction (Ext) of contextual fear
memory

# Tables

Table 3. ex	1 The enrichment of extinction-related genes in schizophrenia patient CNVs ists in each cohort independently78
Table 3. me	2 No learning-related gene sets were enriched in the CNVs of patients with elanoma79
Table 3 scl as:	.3 Extinction learning-related genes within loci previously implicated in hizophrenia through CNV studies (deletions or duplications) and genome-wide sociation studies
Table 5. 	1 Specific 45mer oligonucleotide probe sequences targeting Homer1 isoforms. 
Table 7.: th	1 Effects of systemic, hippocampal, infralimbic and amygdalar manipulations on extinction of conditioned fear memory187

# **Chapter 1: Literature Review**

### 1.1 Schizophrenia – current status

#### 1.1.1 Introduction

With a prevalence of up to 1% (McGrath et al., 2008; van Os and Kapur, 2009), a 10-20 years reduction of life expectancy (Chesney et al., 2014), an 80-90% unemployment rate (Marwaha and Johnson, 2004) and an enormous cost to society (around £12 billion per year in England alone; Andrew et al., 2012), schizophrenia is a severely disabling psychiatric disorder to both the affected individuals and society. It therefore warrants the tremendous research effort which endeavours to understand the disorder and improve therapeutics. However, despite more than 60 years of research since the serendipitous advent of the first antipsychotic drugs (Charpentier et al., 1952; Laborit et al., 1952; Seeman et al., 1976), medication for schizophrenia has improved very little. The most frequently used class of antipsychotics still have the same pharmacological target (dopamine receptor D<sub>2</sub>), are effective in only a subset of patients (Leucht et al., 2013), treat only some of the symptoms and induce a number of side-effects (Leucht et al., 2012). It has been only in the past decade that advances in our understanding of the disease have accelerated, largely due to large-scale genomics projects.

Schizophrenia is typically characterised by three clusters of symptoms: positive symptoms (e.g. delusions and hallucinations), negative symptoms (e.g. social withdrawal and impaired motivation) and cognitive symptoms (e.g. attention and working memory deficits). Psychotic symptoms usually first manifest at late adolescence or early adulthood, although many patients display social and cognitive impairments

long before the onset of schizophrenia (Lewandowski et al., 2011). However, there are at present no tests or known biomarkers to facilitate a definitive diagnosis, and since schizophrenia shares many of its symptoms with other psychiatric disorders, such as bipolar disorder, major depressive disorder, autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability, clinical differential diagnoses rely on the use of disease classification criteria such as those defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Whilst this permits consistency in diagnoses across clinics globally, the segregation of psychiatric disorders into distinct categories does not necessarily reflect their overlapping genetics and pathophysiology (Craddock and Owen, 2010).

#### 1.1.2 Pathophysiology and pathogenesis

Whilst no specific anatomical abnormalities are common to all patients with schizophrenia (Linden, 2012), some structural and functional differences are recurrently observed. One of the most consistently reported findings is a reduction of grey matter, which is linked to an enlargement of the ventricles and worsens as the disease progresses (Vita et al., 2012; Haijma et al., 2013). Another consistent finding is altered hippocampal volume and function (Tamminga et al., 2010). The hippocampus, particularly its *cornu ammonis* (CA) subregions, is responsible for several cognitive functions that are impaired in schizophrenia, including episodic, working and associative memory (Ranganath et al., 2004, 2008; Diwadkar et al., 2008a; Hall et al., 2009). Structural alterations in the hippocampus are accompanied by molecular changes. In the CA1 hippocampal subregion of patients, a recent study found reduced postsynaptic density (PSD)95-complex proteins, reduced metabotropic glutamate receptors and

altered Homer1 scaffold proteins in the CA1 hippocampal subregion (Matosin et al., 2016), all of which are components of synapses.

Indeed, synaptic systems have been further implicated in schizophrenia in relation to dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission. A substantial body of evidence, led by the fact that current antipsychotics block dopamine D<sub>2</sub> receptors, implicates abnormalities in dopamine signalling in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (Baumeister and Francis, 2002). However, two predominant sources of evidence account for a shift in the focus of research and potential therapeutics from the dopamine system to the glutamatergic system. Firstly, antagonists of the N-methyl-p-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor, including phencyclidine and ketamine, induce schizophrenia-like symptoms in health humans and worsen those of patients (Javitt and Zukin, 1991; Krystal et al., 1994; Newcomer et al., 1999). Secondly, there is a convergence of genetic evidence upon NMDA receptor signalling in schizophrenia, discussed later. Importantly, this evidence does not negate the role of dopamine in schizophrenia and the afflicted circuitry likely involves the interaction of both systems.

The age-dependent onset, at late adolescence or early adulthood, is a contrast to many other psychiatric disorders with childhood onset, and strongly suggests that schizophrenia has a neurodevelopmental aetiology. Consistent with this notion are multiple branches of research implicating the disruption of neuronal maturation during critical developmental periods in schizophrenia (Fatemi and Folsom, 2009; Jaaro-Peled et al., 2009). Indeed, a period of synaptic overproduction and elimination accompanies the periadolescent period, which is thought to be sensitive to environmental and intrinsic insult (Andersen, 2003; Cannon et al., 2003). Specific disruptions to neuronal

development observed in schizophrenia include γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) interneuron maturation (Beasley and Reynolds, 1997; Lewis et al., 2005; Tseng and O'Donnell, 2007), maturation of mesocortical dopaminergic projections (Akil et al., 1999, 2000), pruning of glutamate synapses (Keshavan et al., 1994; Boksa, 2012) and myelination (Hakak et al., 2001; Tkachev et al., 2003).

The incidence of schizophrenia can vary region-by-region across the globe (McGrath et al., 2008). Hence, the exposure to environmental risk factors varies with demographics. Studies of environmental risk strengthen the view that neurodevelopment represents an important period in the pathogenesis of psychiatric disease (Cannon et al., 2003; van Loo and Martens, 2007). These studies have found relationships between schizophrenia and environmental insults such as maternal stress (Khashan et al., 2008), infection (Khandaker et al., 2012) or inflammation (Knuesel et al., 2014), postnatal stress (Dvir et al., 2011), childhood adversity (Varese et al., 2012) and exposure to psychoactive substances (Malone et al., 2010). It is notable that inflammatory and other immune processes during development represent a recurrent finding and important branch of epidemiological and clinical studies in schizophrenia (Benros et al., 2012; Smyth and Lawrie, 2013). It is the interaction between environmental risk factors and an individual's genetic predisposition that ultimately cause schizophrenia to manifest (van Os et al., 2008; Karl and Arnold, 2014).

#### 1.1.3 Genetics

Heritability estimates for schizophrenia range from 65-80% (Sullivan et al., 2003; Lichtenstein et al., 2009). This genetic contribution to the disorder does not form a Mendelian pattern of inheritance, but is instead derived from variants in a large number

of genomic regions (Purcell et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2012; Ripke et al., 2013, 2014). Despite this complexity, an increasing number of genetic risk variants are being identified from the substantial progress made recently in large-scale collaborative genomic studies. Some of the associated genetic loci are common single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), individually contributing only a small amount of risk, whilst others are rare variants in the form of copy number variants (CNVs), single nucleotide variants, insertions or deletions, which may contribute a much greater amount of risk (Stefansson et al., 2008; Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014; Rees et al., 2014b; Ripke et al., 2014). Figure 1.1 illustrates the relationship between frequency and penetrance of genetic risk variants, due to selection pressure.



**Figure 1.1** The inverse relationship between allele frequency and effect size in genetic diseases. Variants with small effect sizes may become common in a population because of weak selection pressure. Variants with larger effect sizes will therefore be rare in the population, and often *de novo*. Rare variants with small effect size are difficult to detect due to lack of statistical power. From (Manolio et al., 2009), adapted from (McCarthy et al., 2008).

#### 1.1.3.1 Common variants

It is estimated that over 8000 SNPs contribute to schizophrenia (Ripke et al., 2013). Together, they may contribute more than 50% of overall risk (Ripke et al., 2013), although each one typically has an odds ratio for the development of schizophrenia of around 1.10 (Ripke et al., 2011, 2013, 2014). In order to obtain sufficient statistical power to reveal some of these SNPs, a Psychiatric Genomics Consortium generated meta-analyses of genetic data from large numbers of patients and control subjects. In the most recent of these analyses, involving data from approximately 37,000 cases and 113,000 controls, 108 separate loci were associated with schizophrenia with sufficient statistical significance to surpass the genome-wide multiple comparisons involved (Ripke et al., 2014).

The next step – linking these SNPs to individual genes – is not straight forward. Most SNPs have the potential to affect multiple genes, creating uncertainty as to which functional product mediates the risk encoded by a SNP. Many of the associated SNPs are within non-coding regions of DNA and several appear to affect non-protein-coding genes (Maurano et al., 2012; Ripke et al., 2014). Instead, it is likely that a large proportion of these variants affect gene expression timing or location (Kleinman et al., 2011). Furthermore, SNPs attributed to risk for schizophrenia may also contribute risk for other psychiatric disorders. Such pleiotropy exists between schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, major depressive disorders, autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (Lee et al., 2013). Despite these limitations, biological insights into genetic risk from common variants is emerging (Ripke et al., 2014).

#### 1.1.3.2 Rare variants

Studies of rare variants have identified an increased burden of CNVs, either deletions or duplications, in patients with schizophrenia compared to controls (Stefansson et al., 2008; Malhotra and Sebat, 2012). CNVs are thought to contribute around a tenth of the heritability attributed to common SNPs (Purcell et al., 2014). So far, 11 recurrent CNVs have been linked to schizophrenia (Rees et al., 2014a, 2014b), which each confer a relatively high risk to the disorder (Kirov et al., 2014). Odds ratios for these CNVs range from around 2 to 60 (Rees et al., 2014b, 2015). Like SNPs, CNVs are often difficult to map to specific genes, since many overlap with multiple genes and others are within non-coding regions (Rees et al., 2014a). Schizophrenia-associated CNVs also confer risk for other disorders, including intellectual disability, autism and generalized epilepsy (Malhotra and Sebat, 2012; Kirov et al., 2014). In addition, the occurrence of *de novo* CNVs through new mutations, as well as other varieties of rare variant, i.e. single nucleotide variants and indels (point mutations), also play a role in conferring risk to schizophrenia (Kirov et al., 2012; Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014).

#### 1.1.3.3 Missing heritability

Indeed, many more common and rare genetic variants in addition to those already discovered contribute risk to schizophrenia and will require further studies, including analyses with larger sample sizes, in order to identify them. However, even taking all those variants yet to be identified into account, their respective contributions to the disorder do not completely account for the total heritability of schizophrenia (Manolio et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2011). At least some of this "missing heritability" may derive from multiplicative, rather than additive, effects of multiple genetic variants within the same

individual (epistasis; Mackay, 2014). In support of this, epistatic interactions between schizophrenia candidate genes have been observed in clinical experiments (Nicodemus et al., 2007, 2010a, 2010b, 2014). A further component of heritability may come from interactions between genetic variants and environmental input *via* epigenetic factors (Millan, 2013), whereby inherited non-genetic mediators of gene expression, such as histone modifications and DNA methylation, alter sensitivity to environmental risk factors, increasing susceptibility to disease progression (Dempster et al., 2013).

### 1.2 Risk variants to biological pathways

### 1.2.1 Introduction

Genetic discoveries do not in themselves equate to drug targets, particularly for polygenic disorders such as schizophrenia. Even though some variants may be mapped accurately to affected genes, many genes have unknown, or partially known, functions and their gene product may not be possible to target with drugs (Plenge et al., 2013). In order to use genetic findings to better understand the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and related complex disorders, it is important to find common molecular pathways affected by many genetic variants conferring susceptibility. Here, I present the evidence implicating specific biological pathways in schizophrenia from previous studies and compare the pathways implicated through common and rare variants. I also address the variety of methods used to approach pathway analyses of polygenetic data.

#### 1.2.2 Glutamate synapses

As alluded to previously, caution must be taken when attempting to link genetic variants to specific genes. In the case of CNVs, this is due to the fact that they may span several genes. In order to circumvent this issue, studies of biological pathways represented in patient CNVs use a hypothesis-based systems approach, whereby gene sets are tested for statistical overrepresentation in case variants. This gene set enrichment analysis has been used in analyses of CNVs from large cohorts of patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls. Kirov *et al* (2012) found an enrichment of genes in the NMDA glutamate receptor complex in patient inherited and *de novo* CNVs, corroborating pre-existing NMDA hypofunction hypotheses (Olney and Farber, 1995; Kantrowitz and Javitt, 2010) and candidate gene studies (Moghaddam, 2003; Harrison and Weinberger, 2005).

This finding accompanied an overall enrichment of genes encoding components of the postsynaptic density, together lending support to the notion that excitatory glutamate synapses are involved in schizophrenia's aetiology (Kirov et al., 2012; Pocklington et al., 2014).

Further synaptic components have been linked to schizophrenia through gene set enrichment analyses in rare variants. These include interactors of the activity-regulated cytoskeletal-associated protein (ARC), which have been implicated through CNVs (Kirov et al., 2012; Pocklington et al., 2015) and point mutations (Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014). Arc is an immediate-early gene which is rapidly activated through local translation at the synapse and has an essential role in learning and memory (Plath et al., 2006). Studies of point mutations, through exome sequencing, again found an enrichment of the NMDA receptor complex, as well as the related PSD-95 protein complex (Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014).

A role for synaptic components in schizophrenia is further corroborated by genomewide significant common variants. SNPs associated with the disorder lie within genes encoding a subunit of the NMDA receptor (*GRIN2A*), a subunit of the  $\alpha$ -amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) glutamate receptor (*GRIA1*), the glutamate metabotropic receptor 3 (*GRM3*) and an enzyme responsible for synthesizing the intrinsic NMDA agonist, D-serine, serine racemase (*SRR*) (Ripke et al., 2014), all of which are involved in glutamate receptor signalling.

It is important to note that, as well as glutamate signalling, components of the dopamine system have also been implicated through genetic association studies, albeit to a lesser extent. Perhaps the most interesting of these is the association with schizophrenia of

common variants within the *DRD2* gene (Ripke et al., 2014), which encodes the dopamine receptor targeted by current antipsychotic medicine. An enzyme responsible for metabolising dopamine, Catechol-O-methyltransferase, is associated with schizophrenia through the overlap of its gene, *COMT*, with a recurrent CNV located at 22q11. However, since *COMT* is not the only gene affected by this CNV, it is not clear that it is the deletion of this gene that confers risk to the disorder (Liu et al., 2002; Bassett and Chow, 2008).

#### 1.2.3 Synaptic plasticity and calcium signalling

The emerging picture from studies of the biological pathways represented by schizophrenia-associated genetic variants is an enrichment of overlapping molecular systems, not all situated within the postsynaptic cleft, yet which are collectively involved in synaptic plasticity processes (Hall et al., 2015; Figure 1.2). One of the most consistently reported gene set enrichments in rare variants is that of targets of fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP). This group of genes are enriched in rare disruptive and *de novo* point mutations (Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014) and CNVs (Szatkiewicz et al., 2014a; Pocklington et al., 2015). FMRP regulates the translation of specific mRNAs, including *ARC* (Darnell et al., 2011; Fernandez et al., 2013), through interactions with its binding partner CYFIP1, associated with schizophrenia through a CNV located at 15q11.2 (Napoli et al., 2008; Stefansson et al., 2008). Through the regulation of translation, CYFIP1 and FMRP are thought to be critical mediators of synaptic plasticity processes, specifically the regulation of dendritic complexity and spine morphology (Pathania et al., 2014). These same processes are additionally

regulated by actin filament complexes, which are enriched in schizophrenia-associated point mutations (Fromer et al., 2014).

A further group of proteins central to synaptic plasticity and implicated in schizophrenia through genetic variants is voltage-gated calcium channels. Genes coding for these proteins are enriched in case point mutations (Purcell et al., 2014), and schizophreniaassociated SNPs exist within genes *CACNA1C* and *CACNB2* (Ripke et al., 2013, 2014), encoding the subunit of Ca<sub>V</sub>1.2 and Ca<sub>V</sub>1.3, respectively. Along with NMDA receptors, voltage-gated calcium channels mediate calcium signalling cascades required for the activation of transcription factors and the modification of synaptic excitability (West et al., 2001; Moosmang et al., 2005), and have been shown to be central to learning and memory (Moosmang et al., 2005; White et al., 2008; Heck et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.2** The convergence of synaptic pathways implicated in schizophrenia. Protein complexes, including the NMDA receptor complex, actin filament complex, Arc interactors, voltage gated calcium channels and targets of FMRP/CYFIP1 are associated with schizophrenia through genetic variants. Abbreviations:  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), activity-regulated cytoskeletal protein (ARC), N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), voltage-gated calcium channel (VGCC). From Hall et al., 2015.

#### 1.2.4 Excitatory *and* inhibitory signalling complexes

A recent study by Pocklington *et al* (2015) replicated and extended previous findings linking excitatory glutamatergic signalling to CNVs from patients with schizophrenia, whilst providing novel evidence implicating inhibitory GABAergic systems in schizophrenia (Pocklington et al., 2015). The study demonstrated that genes coding for components of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor complexes are enriched in patient CNVs, building on previous hypotheses of GABAergic signalling deficits and the involvement of inhibitory interneurons in schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005, 2012; Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012). Since alterations in the ratio of excitation to inhibition have been proposed to underlie schizophrenia phenotypes (Kehrer et al., 2008), these results lend support to the notion that disruption of either glutamatergic or GABAergic signalling could create an imbalanced state, vulnerable to the development of psychosis.

#### 1.2.5 Conclusions

The advent of large collaborative clinical studies, genome-wide association studies and sequencing brought with it high-powered evidence supporting the involvement of specific genetic variants in schizophrenia. Multiple pathway analyses with these data revealed a striking convergence of common and rare variants on genes involved in synaptic plasticity processes. These studies provide valuable guidance to future experiments aiming to further our understanding of the biological mechanisms underlying schizophrenia. However, "synaptic plasticity" is not specific enough to advise therapeutic design. One of the limitations affecting these pathway analyses is the gap in understanding of gene function and hence the incompleteness of gene ontology databases. This also creates bias in the analyses, due to the overrepresentation of those

biological pathways on which more research has been focused. Gene expression studies that capture gene sets associated with particular functionality of a tissue may yield more specific biological information in gene set enrichment analyses of disease-associated variants.

### 1.3 Associative learning and schizophrenia

### 1.3.1 Introduction

Synaptic plasticity is widely believed to underlie learning, memory and the development of neural circuits (Abbott and Nelson, 2000; Martin et al., 2000; Neves et al., 2008). However, the convergence of genetic findings on synaptic plasticity processes is not mirrored by universal memory deficits in schizophrenia. Instead, patients display impairments in specific facets of learning and memory (Stone et al., 1998; Rushe et al., 1999; Diwadkar et al., 2008a), which implies that the genetic component of schizophrenia susceptibility must impact on more specific biological mechanisms and perhaps on particular cognitive processes.

Based on the pre-existing convergence of patient CNVs on genes involved in synaptic plasticity, Pocklington *et al* (2015) investigated the enrichment of more specific genes sets, all relating to aspects of plasticity, learning and memory, in schizophrenia-associated CNVs. Among the gene sets statistically associated with case deletions, duplications or both combined, were those relating to "learning/memory/conditioning", "contextual conditioning behaviour", "cued conditioning behaviour" and "associative learning" (Pocklington et al., 2015). These intriguing findings highlight a specific memory system – association formation – as impacted on by CNVs in schizophrenia. They also strengthen existing hypotheses concerning dysfunctions of associative learning in the manifestation of schizophrenia phenotypes (Miller, 1976; Bazin and Perruchet, 1996; Friston, 1998; Diwadkar et al., 2008a; Hall et al., 2009).

#### 1.3.2 Neural circuitry for aversive conditioning to a context

Since associating environmental stimuli with safety or danger is a key functionality for the survival of all mammals, it is understandable that the circuitry responsible is common among many species (Pearce and Bouton, 2001; Fanselow and Poulos, 2005). Studies of classical Pavlovian conditioning (Pavlov, 1927) in rodents have contributed to a thorough understanding of the systems involved in associative learning (Mackintosh, 1983). One of the best understood systems is that of aversive learning, typically studied through fear conditioning (Maren, 2001). In this paradigm, an innately neutral stimulus, such as a cue or context is presented to a rodent simultaneously to, or with constant temporal separation from, the presentation of an unconditioned shock stimulus. Their pairing leads to the previously neutral stimulus becoming an aversively conditioned stimulus, so that the presentation of the cue or context alone elicits a fear response akin to that exhibited following the unconditioned stimulus.

The central hub for fear conditioning is the amygdala (LeDoux et al., 1991; Phelps and LeDoux, 2005). Through projections from the thalamus, hippocampus and cortical regions, and projections to the hypothalamus, periaqueductal grey and other brainstem regions, the amygdala mediates the expression of conditioned fear responses to learned conditioned stimuli (Applegate et al., 1982; LeDoux et al., 1991; Pitkänen et al., 1997). Whilst simple auditory conditioned stimuli are processed *via* direct projections from the medial geniculate nucleus of the thalamus to the amygdala, more complex conditioned stimulus information, such as context cues, reach the amygdala after processing by the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus (LeDoux et al., 1991; Maren and Fanselow, 1995; Fanselow and Poulos, 2005; Hugues and Garcia, 2007). Hence, the hippocampus is able

to gate complex contextual fear learning and fear responses (Radulovic and Tronson, 2010).

At the molecular level, both glutamatergic and dopaminergic systems are required for the acquisition of aversive conditioning. Blockade of NMDA glutamate receptors in lateral and basal nuclei of the amygdala prevents fear conditioning (Fendt, 2001; Bauer et al., 2002; Fanselow and Poulos, 2005). Furthermore, hippocampal NMDA receptormediated plasticity has been shown to be necessary for the generation of context representations during conditioning to a context (Cravens et al., 2006). The interactions of these processes with dopamine signalling are additionally involved in the acquisition of conditioned associations. Mesolimbic dopamine neurons fire in response to the presentation of an unconditioned stimulus, yet following conditioning, fire in response to the conditioned stimulus (Grace, 1991). This activity serves to mediate NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus and cortex (O'Carroll and Morris, 2004; Calabresi et al., 2007) and to provide feedback in the form of prediction error, valence or salience (Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Waelti et al., 2001; Kapur et al., 2005; Cooper and Knutson, 2008).

#### 1.3.3 Associative learning in psychopathology

From a psychological perspective, new associative learning in healthy individuals is mediated by an interaction between experience and belief (Corlett et al., 2009; Fletcher and Frith, 2009). Experiences that do not challenge a belief system become predictable and can be ignored, yet experiences that contradict a belief induce new learning. Prediction error is a model used to explain the process through which these unpredictable events induce new learning, and was derived from Bayesian machine

learning approaches to the study of learning (Fletcher and Frith, 2009). It has been proposed that the instability of this system could lead to the persistence of delusional beliefs, despite the existence of conflicting evidence, in schizophrenia (Corlett et al., 2009; Fletcher and Frith, 2009).

Deficits in multiple aspects of associative learning have been recurrently reported in schizophrenia (Diwadkar et al., 2008a). Firstly, patients exhibit impairments in contextual processing (Maren et al., 2013), demonstrated through tests of AX-continuous performance (Cohen et al., 1999; Barch et al., 2003), which may reflect hippocampal and medial prefrontal cortex abnormalities in the disorder (Taylor et al., 2012). Secondly, deficits in the classical conditioning of associations have been observed, typically in test of eyelid conditional discrimination (Sears et al., 2000; Hofer et al., 2001; Marenco et al., 2003). Thirdly, patients with acute schizophrenia show evidence of impaired signalling of prediction error when existing associations are challenged (Baruch et al., 1988; Jones et al., 1992; Serra et al., 2001). Fourthly, learning of aversive stimuli is consistently reported to be abnormal in the disorder (Kosmidis et al., 1999; Jensen et al., 2008; Linnman et al., 2013).

#### 1.3.4 Inhibitory learning of associations

A further component of associative learning frequently linked to the persistence of psychotic and cognitive symptoms in schizophrenia is the inhibitory learning of associations (Baruch et al., 1988; Swerdlow et al., 1996; Rascle et al., 2001; Serra et al., 2001; Holt et al., 2009, 2012). Three types of inhibitory learning are relevant in this regard. Firstly, latent inhibition is the process by which prolonged or repeated exposure to a neutral stimulus prior to its pairing with an unconditioned stimulus, inhibits

conditioning to the neutral stimulus (Escobar et al., 2002). Secondly, Kamin blocking describes the prevention of conditioning to a neutral stimulus due to its pairing with an unconditioned stimulus in conjunction with a further stimulus previously associated with the unconditioned stimulus (Padlubnaya et al., 2006). Finally, extinction learning occurs when a previously conditioned stimulus is presented repeatedly or for an extended period of time in the absence of the unconditioned stimulus, resulting in the reduction of memory-associated behavioural responses (Quirk and Mueller, 2008).

Deficits in each of these types of inhibitory learning have been reported in schizophrenia (latent inhibition: Baruch et al., 1988; Swerdlow et al., 1996; Serra et al., 2001; Corlett, 2012; blocking: Jones et al., 1992; Serra et al., 2001; extinction: Holt et al., 2009, 2012). Focusing on complex contextual associations, substantial evidence suggests that the hippocampus is responsible for the context-dependent gating of inhibitory fear extinction (Corcoran et al., 2005; Maren and Hobin, 2007; Zelikowsky et al., 2012), through indirect projections to inhibitory intercalated neurons of the amygdala *via* medial prefrontal cortex (Likhtik et al., 2008; Maren, 2011; Sotres-Bayon et al., 2012). It has been proposed that abnormalities in the functional connectivity within this fear extinction circuit form the neurobiological basis for impaired extinction learning in adolescence (Neumann et al., 2008; Pattwell et al., 2012), which has important implications for the development of schizophrenia in early adulthood.

#### 1.3.5 Conclusions

The enrichment of associative learning-related genes in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia is complimentary to the convergence of schizophrenia-associated genetic variants on synaptic pathways in that it provides a hint of particular cognitive processes

affected by schizophrenia-associated variants. It is also consistent with behavioural and physiological correlates of associative learning deficits in schizophrenia. However, since associative learning is comprised of multiple components, including inhibitory processes, it is unclear which specific aspects of associative learning are implicated in schizophrenia through genetic variants.

#### 1.4 Homer family activity-induced proteins

#### 1.4.1 Introduction

As detailed above, there is a substantial convergence of schizophrenia-associated genetic variants on genes involved in synaptic plasticity (Hall et al., 2015). A considerable component of this is attributable to genes encoding parts of the postsynaptic density (PSD) (Kirov et al., 2012; Pocklington et al., 2014). The PSD is an architecture of specialised proteins responsible for mediating the response to converging synaptic input. Rearrangement of PSD proteins, as a consequence of changes to the pattern of neurotransmission, leads to alterations in synaptic strength, required for learning and memory (Kennedy et al., 2005; Moutin et al., 2012; Murakoshi and Yasuda, 2012). Hence the study of PSD protein dynamics represents a fundamental route towards understanding synaptic plasticity and may be central to discerning the aetiologies of psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia (Grant, 2012).

Homer proteins are key components of the PSD and form functional links between receptors, ion channels and scaffolding proteins (Brakeman et al., 1997; Xiao et al., 1998). They share an N-terminal ligand-binding domain, which interacts with the proline-rich sequences displayed by PSD proteins involved in regulating synaptic architecture, intracellular calcium signalling and neuronal development. Whilst most transcription variants of the Homer family are constitutively expressed in mammals, two truncated forms of Homer1, Homer1a and Ania-3, are activity-induced immediate early genes (IEGs) (Fagni et al., 2002). These isoforms possess a common enabled/VASP homology 1 (EVH1) domain but lack a coiled-coil domain that permits longer Homer proteins to oligomerise with one another (Hayashi et al., 2009). As a consequence,

Homer1a and Ania-3 bind as dominant negative regulators, allowing them to disrupt interactions between long Homers and their effector proteins (Xiao et al., 1998; Kammermeier and Worley, 2007).

The expression of Homer IEGs appears to represent a powerful modulator of synaptic plasticity. The literature surrounding Homer1 IEGs indicates that their precise temporospatial expression and recruitment to active synapses is essential for the regulation of PSD protein complexes and calcium signalling in dendritic spines and may therefore be important for learning and memory (Worley et al., 2007; Okada et al., 2009a; Hu et al., 2010). Here, potential mechanisms through which Homer1 IEGs may mediate synaptic plasticity are discussed. Since most research to date has focused on either Homer1a only or short Homer1 isoforms as a collective, any distinct functions of Homer1a and Ania-3 remain somewhat hidden. Thus the majority of the content in this section addresses Homer1a function.

#### 1.4.2 Implications for Neurological Disease

Homer1 IEGs are rapidly induced following neuronal activity in limbo-corticostriatal circuits responsible for mediating cognitive and emotional functions (Tekin and Cummings, 2002). Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the Homer1 gene have been associated with schizophrenia (Norton et al., 2003; Spellmann et al., 2011), autism (Kelleher et al., 2012), major depression (Rietschel et al., 2010a), suicide attempt (Strauss et al., 2012; Rao et al., 2016), cocaine dependence (Dahl et al., 2005) and opiate abuse (Jacobs et al., 2013). These genetic associations are not conclusive, however, and replication is needed to confirm their validity. Further evidence suggests that Homer1a may additionally be involved in the pathology of neuropathic pain (Tappe et al., 2006;

Roselli et al., 2009; Tappe-Theodor et al., 2011; Obara et al., 2013) and Alzheimer's disease (Dickey et al., 2003; Yamamoto et al., 2011). Here, I provide an overview of the evidence implicating short Homer1 proteins in autism and schizophrenia.

Perhaps the strongest evidence for the involvement of Homer IEGs in neurological disease is from studies of their association with Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP). The absence of expression of FMRP (coded by the *FMR1* gene) is a common single-gene cause of autism and targets of FMRP are enriched in rare genetic variants from patients with schizophrenia (Fromer et al., 2014; Pocklington et al., 2015). The bindings partner of FMRP, CYFIP1, is also implicated in schizophrenia (Stefansson et al., 2008). FMRP is a negative regulator of group I mGluR-dependent protein synthesis (Weiler et al., 2004) and mice lacking Fmr1 show enhanced long-term depression (Huber et al., 2002). It was demonstrated that mGluR5-mediated translation initiation and longterm depression are dependent on mGluR5-long Homer interactions (Ronesi and Huber, 2008; Ronesi et al., 2012), which are diminished in Fmr1 knockout mice (Giuffrida et al., 2005). Moreover, Homer1 protein is decreased in post-mortem cerebellar vermis and superior frontal cortex of autistic patients (Fatemi et al., 2013). Instead, mGluR5 is more associated with Homer1a in mice lacking Fmr1 (Giuffrida et al., 2005; Ronesi et al., 2012). Ronesi and colleagues generated an Fmr1 / Homer1a (and Ania-3) double knockout in an attempt to rescue mGluR5 function. The additional deletion of Homer1a restored mGluR5-long Homer interactions, stabilized translation rates and reversed behavioural phenotypes. The abnormal translational control of specific FMRP target mRNAs or altered mGluR-mediated long-term depression in Fmr1 knockout mice were not rescued by Homer1a deletion, however (Ronesi et al., 2012). These observations imply that a
higher ratio of short / long Homer proteins interacting with mGluR5 might be responsible for disrupting mGluR5-mediated signalling in fragile X syndrome, contributing to the disorder. Therefore, the therapeutic action provided by mGluR5 antagonists in fragile X syndrome (Pop et al., 2014) may be due to inhibition of Homer1a / mGluR5-mediated events.

MGluR5 signalling complexes are also a potential target for therapy in schizophrenia (Matosin and Newell, 2013). Critically, Homer1a and Ania-3 induction is manipulated by environmental stimuli that impact on the manifestation of psychosis (reviewed in Szumlinski and Kippin, 2008). For example, acute cocaine administration in rodents induces a pronounced elevation of Homer1a expression in the striatum, prefrontal cortex and ventral tegmental area (Brakeman et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 2007; Ghasemzadeh et al., 2009). This response is necessary for the regulation of cocaine sensitivity (Szumlinski et al., 2004; Lominac et al., 2005). Psychotomimetic NMDA antagonists and, interestingly, antipsychotics also modulate Homer1a and Ania-3 expression (De Bartolomeis et al., 2002, 2013; Polese et al., 2002; Ambesi-Impiombato et al., 2007; Iasevoli et al., 2007, 2009; Dell'Aversano et al., 2009). Furthermore, recent evidence showed that the ratio of short to long Homer1 protein may be abnormal in patients with schizophrenia. In analyses of protein expression in post-mortem hippocampus, Matosin et al (2016) showed that there was increased Homer1a, but decreased long isoforms Homer1b/c, in the CA1 region of patients compared to controls (Matosin et al., 2016). This is consistent with an earlier report of decreased Homer1 protein in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex of patients with schizophrenia (Engmann et al., 2011). Finally, Homer1 knockout mice display several behavioural

phenotypes consistent with schizophrenia, including impaired pre-pulse inhibition, increased anxiety and enhanced locomotion in response to MK-801 or methamphetamine (Szumlinski et al., 2005), together implying that an imbalance of the competitive short / long Homer1 isoforms could contribute to the expression of schizophrenic symptoms in humans.

#### 1.4.3 Protein Structure and Interactions

Homer proteins contain a highly conserved enabled / vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (ena / VASP) homology 1 (EVH1)-like domain (Irie et al., 2002; Shiraishi-Yamaguchi and Furuichi, 2007), which maintains much sequence homology with other VASP proteins responsible for regulating cytoskeletal dynamics (Reinhard et al., 2001). A neighbouring proline motif is specific to the Homer1 subfamily (Shiraishi-Yamaguchi and Furuichi, 2007). Through the EVH1 domain, Homer proteins interact with prolinerich sequences of a range of targets including group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR1 and mGluR5), inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) receptors, Shank scaffolding proteins, ryanodine receptors, transient receptor potential canonical channels, voltagegated calcium channels and dynamin 3 (Tu et al., 1998, 1999; Xiao et al., 1998; Beneken et al., 2000; Feng et al., 2002; Gray et al., 2003; Yuan et al., 2003; Olson et al., 2005; Hayashi et al., 2009). Long Homer isoforms (Homer1b-h, Homer2a and b, Homer3a and b), which form multimers through their (low homology) carboxy-terminal coiled-coil domains, mediate functional links between these PSD proteins, facilitating signal transduction (Kato et al., 1998a; Xiao et al., 1998; Hayashi et al., 2006).

Expression of shorter Homer1 isoforms is introduced through alternative splicing. Premature termination of transcription downstream of exon 5 creates the truncated

Homer1a and Ania-3 proteins (Figure 1.3; Brakeman et al., 1997; Soloviev et al., 2000; Bottai et al., 2002). The fifth intron of the Homer1 gene comprises sections of DNA specific to the transcription of Homer1a or Ania-3 mRNA (Bottai et al., 2002). These isoforms therefore lack a coiled-coil domain, the absence of which prevents Homer1a and Ania-3 from forming homo- or hetero-oligomers. Hence, since their discovery (Brakeman et al., 1997; Berke et al., 1998), it has been supposed that Homer1a and Ania-3 act as dominant negative regulators of long Homer function, uncoupling them from effector proteins through competition for the proline-rich sequence of the target protein (Fagni et al., 2002; Irie et al., 2002). Indeed, expression of Homer1a blocks the binding of long Homers to group I mGluR and disrupts long Homer-mGluR-mediated functions (Tu et al., 1998; Xiao et al., 1998; Kammermeier et al., 2000).

Short Homers are synthesised in the soma before vesicular transportation to dendrites (Brakeman et al., 1997; Okada et al., 2009a), which is dependent upon interactions with Group I mGluRs (Ango et al., 2000; Okada et al., 2009a). This is indicated by the dendritic colocalisation of Homer1a and mGluR5 following depolarisation, whilst a mutant form of the mGluR5 receptor that cannot bind Homer1a does not relocate from the soma to dendrites (Ango et al., 2000). Long Homer1 isoforms are also transported with group I mGluRs to dendrites (Roche et al., 1999; Ango et al., 2000), yet, in the absence of Homer1a, retain the receptor complex within endoplasmic reticulum, inhibiting mGluR5 surface expression (Roche et al., 1999; Ango et al., 2000, 2002; Coutinho et al., 2001). The induction of Homer1a through neuronal excitation then interrupts the endoplasmic retention of mGluR5, permitting their trafficking to the membrane (Ango et al., 2002).

Hence, long Homers keep a pool of group I mGluRs at the endoplasmic reticulum until released by activity-induced short Homers (Figure 1.4).



**Figure 1.3** Primary structure of Homer1a, Ania-3 and Homer1b proteins. The amino-terminal EVH1 domain (blue) is conserved across all Homer proteins and permits their interaction with proline-rich sequences of target proteins. The proline motif (green; Ser-Pro-Leu-Thr-Pro) is specific to the Homer1 subfamily. At the carboxy-terminal region, long Homer isoforms, including Homer1b, contain a coiled-coil domain (cyan) required for dimerization. Short Homers, Homer1a and Ania-3, lack the coiled-coil domain and are therefore unable to form dimers.



**Figure 1.4** Cotransport of group I mGluRs and Homer proteins from the soma to the endoplasmic reticulum and cell membrane. (1) Transcription of short Homers is regulated by myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF2) transcription factors. The protein is synthesised in the soma. (2) Short Homers bind to group I mGluRs on transport vesicles and, together, they are transported in dendrites to synaptic sites. (3) Whilst long Homers retain clusters of mGluRs at the endoplasmic reticulum, short Homers reverse the intracellular retention of mGluRs, (4) permitting their trafficking to the cell membrane.

#### 1.4.4 Homer1 IEG induction and regulation

Neuronal activity-induced expression of short Homer1 mRNA has been observed throughout brain structures known to be involved in learning and memory, including the cerebral cortex, hippocampal CA1, CA2, CA3 and dentate gyrus, striatum, and amygdala (Brakeman et al., 1997; Sun et al., 1998; Xiao et al., 1998; De Bartolomeis et al., 2002; Polese et al., 2002; Vazdarjanova et al., 2002; Ary et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007; Montes-Rodríguez et al., 2013). The induction of Homer1a has been investigated in vitro through neuronal depolarization with ionotropic glutamate receptor agonists, Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), kainate and potassium channel blockers (Ango et al., 2000), application of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Mahan et al., 2012), the use of a magnesium-free artificial cerebrospinal fluid medium (Okada et al., 2009a), gonadotropin-releasing hormone (Wang et al., 2014), traumatic injury (Huang et al., 2005; Luo et al., 2014), and evoking epileptiform activity with bicuculline and 4aminopyridine (Li et al., 2012). Induction in vivo has been reported following electroconvulsive shock (Brakeman et al., 1997; Kato et al., 1997; Xiao et al., 1998; Bottai et al., 2002), long term potentiation (Kato et al., 1997, 1998a), exposure to psychoactive drugs such as cocaine (Brakeman et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 2007), lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) (Nichols and Sanders-Bush, 2002; Nichols et al., 2003) and ketamine (lasevoli et al., 2007; De Bartolomeis et al., 2013), direct dopamine D1 receptor stimulation (Berke et al., 1998), typical and atypical antipsychotic administration (De Bartolomeis et al., 2002; Polese et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 2006; Ambesi-Impiombato et al., 2007), associative learning (Mahan et al., 2012), instrumental learning (Hernandez et al., 2006), exploration of a novel environment (Vazdarjanova et al., 2002; Marrone et al., 2008), visual experience (Brakeman et al., 1997), environmental stressors (Igaz et al.,

2004; Ary et al., 2007) and neuropathic pain (Ma et al., 2009). Importantly, it is exclusively the short, IEG isoforms of the Homer1 gene that are induced under these conditions, whilst the expression of the longer isoforms typically remains unchanged.

As alluded to previously, neuronal activation induces a switch in the transcription of the Homer1 gene to the preferential expression of short isoforms. This switch is created through an activity-dependent change in the polyadenylation site usage, altering transcription termination, and is controlled by myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) transcription factors (Bottai et al., 2002; Flavell and Greenberg, 2008; Flavell et al., 2008). With an aim to gain insight into the transcriptional machinery of Homer1a that may regulate synaptic plasticity during memory consolidation, Mahan and colleagues (2012) examined the epigenetic modulation of the Homer1a gene during BDNF-induced plasticity in vitro and in vivo. BDNF prompted an upregulation of Homer1a in primary amygdala and hippocampal cultures that was dependent upon MEK and ERK signalling. Around the Homer1 promoter region, they observed an increase in histone H3 acetylation, a marker of enhanced gene transcription, or a decrease in histone H3K9 methylation, a transcriptional repressive marker. When mice underwent Pavlovian fear conditioning, the consolidation of which involves BDNF signalling (Lee et al., 2004; Rattiner et al., 2004; Barnes and Thomas, 2008), the same Homer1 epigenetic modifications that were seen in vitro were found in the mouse hippocampal and amygdalar extracts (Mahan et al., 2012). This work demonstrates one possible mechanism through which activity-induced Homer1 transcripts may be generated during processes of learning and memory or developmental synaptic maturation to bring about the necessary plastic changes at the synapse.

A few developmental studies have shown that Homer1a is regulated with postnatal age. Given its functional location at the glutamate PSD, its interactions with NMDA receptor complexes, the critical role of glutamate synapses in the developmental refinement of neuronal connections (Komuro and Rakic, 1993; Behar et al., 1999; Ikonomidou et al., 1999; Matsugami et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2013) and the developmental impairments caused by disrupting glutamate receptor complexes (Fredriksson et al., 2004; Clifton et al., 2013), Homer1a is in a prime position to impinge on synaptogenesis and synaptic pruning mechanisms during brain maturation. Postnatal forebrain expression of Homer1a increases from birth, peaking between 3-5 weeks (Brakeman et al., 1997). Montes-Rodríguez et al (2013) demonstrated that Homer1a is induced differentially by neuronal activity through early mammalian postnatal development. Maximal electroconvulsive shock treatment in rats only increased hippocampal Homer1a expression after the first postnatal week, indicating that Homer-related activity dependent synaptic plasticity is absent at this early stage of synaptogenesis (Montes-Rodríguez et al., 2013). The number of activity-induced Homer1a positive cells rapidly increased during the second postnatal week, reaching adult levels by P9, although hippocampal activity-induced Homer1a intra-nuclear foci intensity, representing mRNA quantity, peaked after 3 weeks, in parallel with synaptic maturation, hinting towards a role of the protein in the refinement of neuronal circuits (Yoshihara et al., 2009; Montes-Rodríguez et al., 2013). Furthermore, the balance of short to long Homer1 isoforms is an important regulator of axonal pathfinding in developing neurons (Foa et al., 2001). Unsurprisingly, disruption of Homer1a expression causes developmental impairments. These include deficits in motor coordination, learning, memory and sensorimotor gating (Szumlinski et al., 2005; Tappe and Kuner, 2006; Jaubert et al., 2007).

#### 1.4.5 Regulation of mGluR-NMDA Complexes

At the PSD, short Homer1 proteins act to interrupt the scaffolds created by long Homer1 isoforms (Kato et al., 1998a; Xiao et al., 1998; Hayashi et al., 2006). Overexpression of Homer1a in cultured hippocampal neurons, or induction of Homer1a expression by BDNF, prompts a reduction in long Homer1c clusters, without decreasing the amount of protein (Inoue et al., 2004). Clusters of F-actin and PSD-95 are similarly reduced, through disruption of their association with Shank protein (Sala et al., 2003; Inoue et al., 2004; Hayashi et al., 2009), and dendritic spine size is decreased (Sala et al., 2003). Homer1a therefore appears to redistribute functional synaptic architecture constructed by long Homer1 proteins, in response to neuronal activity, to bring about modifications in PSD scaffolds and spine morphogenesis, indicative of synaptic plasticity (Bosch et al., 2014; Tønnesen et al., 2014).

The interaction between Homer and group I mGluRs (mGluR1 and mGluR5) has been a particular focus of functional research into Homer proteins, because of the role of Homer as an intermediary between mGluRs and their effector proteins, including the NMDA receptor (Tu et al., 1998; Bertaso et al., 2010; Sylantyev et al., 2013). Reciprocal signal transduction between group I mGluRs and NMDA receptors permits the regulation of NMDA-evoked currents by mGluR activation (Fitzjohn et al., 1996; Awad et al., 2000; Bertaso et al., 2010; Sylantyev et al., 2013), which is required for certain NMDA-dependent processes (Jia et al., 1998; Rodrigues et al., 2002). The directionality of NMDA modulation by group I mGluRs varies between studies. Whilst some studies report that group I mGluR activation augments NMDA activity (Fitzjohn et al., 1996; Awad et al., 2000; Sylantyev et al., 2013), others report inhibition (Yu et al., 1997;

Bertaso et al., 2010; Moutin et al., 2012). The emerging explanation for these opposing outcomes is that it depends upon the relative involvement of long and short Homer1 proteins.

NMDA receptors are located within the PSD, whereas group I mGluRs are typically located at extrasynaptic and perisynaptic regions (Baude et al., 1993; Lujan et al., 1996) and do not colocalize with NMDA receptors (Moutin et al., 2012). Instead, interactions between the two glutamate receptors are mediated by a Homer-Shank-GKAP-PSD95 scaffold (Naisbitt et al., 1999; Tu et al., 1999). It has been suggested that mGluRs use this long Homer-containing scaffold to facilitate NMDA activity, supported by the observation that the potentiation of NMDA receptor currents by group I mGluR agonists is blocked by postsynaptic transfection of Homer1a (Sylantyev et al., 2013). Other studies have similarly demonstrated a Homer1a-dependent inhibition of NMDA receptor activity, whilst showing that it is calcium-independent (Bertaso et al., 2010) and requires the integrity of the EVH1 domain of Homer1a (Sala et al., 2003), highlighting further the functional importance of mGluR-Homer interactions.

This model does not yet fully explain how group I mGluRs could promote the inhibition of NMDA currents in the presence of Homer1a, as reported by some studies using sustained stimulation paradigms (Bertaso et al., 2010; Moutin et al., 2012). MGluR1amediated Homer1a-dependent inhibition of NMDA receptors gives rise to the coimmunoprecipitation of G $\beta$ -protein with NMDA NR1 subunits and is attenuated by disrupting G-proteins (Bertaso et al., 2010). Moreover, these results could be imitated by transfecting neurons with Shank3 mutants that are unable to bind Homer complexes, but not by mutants unable to bind the GKAP-PSD95 complex (Bertaso et al., 2010). These

data indicate that Homer1a may release group I mGluRs from their perisynaptic attachment to the scaffolding complex, permitting their translocation into the PSD and physical inhibition of NMDA receptors via Gβγ subunits. This notion is supported by a recent bioluminescence resonance energy transfer (BRET) study of cultured hippocampal neurons, which imaged spine-specific protein-protein interactions between mGluR5a and NMDA receptors only in the presence of Homer1a, prompting an inhibition of NMDA currents (Moutin et al., 2012).

Hence, group I mGluRs regulate NMDA receptor activity. Whether that regulation is facilitatory or inhibitory is determined by the mutually exclusive interaction with long or short Homer proteins, respectively. Homer1a-induced scaffold remodelling represents a switch for mGluR function upon synaptic stimulation that could be important for the initiation of plasticity processes such as long-term potentiation or long-term depression.

#### 1.4.6 Calcium Homeostasis

The majority of the proteins that Homer is known to interact with are involved in calcium homeostasis, including mGluRs, IP3 receptors, TRPC channels, ryanodine receptors and L-type voltage dependent calcium channels. Elevation in intracellular calcium in dendritic spines modifies neuronal excitability, initiates signalling cascades and recruits new membrane proteins, ultimately adjusting synaptic strength (Berridge, 1998; Yang et al., 1999; Yeckel et al., 1999).

It has long been recognised that group I mGluRs regulate the activity of the calcium releasing IP3 receptors on intracellular endoplasmic reticulum stores via Homer and Shank protein scaffolds (Kawabata et al., 1998; Tu et al., 1998; Hwang et al., 2005; Sala et al., 2005). In neocortex pyramidal neurons, intracellular injection of Homer1a dose-

dependently enhances spike-induced calcium increases through mGluR-IP3 signalling (Yamamoto et al., 2005). The same is not achieved by injection of Homer1b/c. However, the maintenance of this Homer1a-induced calcium augmentation depends instead on elevated calcium influx through L-type voltage dependent calcium channels. It was demonstrated that Homer1a lowers the threshold for calcium spikes by facilitation of the currents through these channels (Yamamoto et al., 2005).

Indeed, L-type voltage dependent Ca<sub>v</sub>1.2 and Ca<sub>v</sub>1.3 calcium channel subunits possess Homer binding domains on their carboxyl termini (Olson et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2007). A study of excitation-contraction coupling, which modelled calcium-induced calcium release by ryanodine receptor 2 (RyR2) and Ca<sub>v</sub>1.2 in human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells, suggests that the communication between Ca<sub>v</sub>1.2 at the cell surface and RyR2 on endoplasmic reticulum is mediated through the Homer-calcium channel interaction (Huang et al., 2007). Long Homer1b/c facilitates an interaction between RyR2 and Ca<sub>v</sub>1.2, which decreases the sensitivity of the cell to membrane depolarization-induced calcium elevations, whereas Homer1a disassembles the interaction, increasing the sensitivity and efficiency of calcium-induced calcium release (Huang et al., 2007; Figure 1.5). These observations corroborate closely with those from neocortex pyramidal neurons (Yamamoto et al., 2005), both illustrating how activity-induced Homer isoforms permit a rise in intracellular calcium concentration.

The link between ryanodine receptors and L-type voltage gated calcium channels is not the only occurrence of Homer1 facilitating the signal transduction between endoplasmic reticulum and cell membrane proteins involved in calcium homeostasis. IP3 receptors communicate with transient receptor potential canonical (TRPC) family cation channels

within a complex assembled by Homer. Similarly to the regulation of L-type calcium channels, the disassembly of this complex increases channel activity and calcium influx (Yuan et al., 2003). TRPC-Homer-IP3R disassembly is regulated by calcium store depletion and IP3-IP3R binding (Yuan et al., 2003, 2012; Kim et al., 2006), although expression of Homer1a similarly causes complex dissociation by interrupting the coupling between long Homer isoforms and TRPC, permitting channel opening by stromal interacting molecule 1 (STIM1; Yuan et al., 2003, 2012; Dionisio et al., 2015). Homer1a has also been reported to translocate TRPC complexes to the membrane, where they are spontaneously active (Kim et al., 2006).

These studies collectively demonstrate that activity-induced Homer proteins dynamically regulate the communication between calcium signalling proteins to achieve the facilitation of calcium currents. Calcium elevations through NMDA and mGluR-coupled signalling cascades are important components of spike-timing-dependent synaptic plasticity and determinants of the directionality of changes in synaptic strength (Kampa et al., 2006; Nevian and Sakmann, 2006). Therefore, the role of Homer1a in initiating calcium entry is highlighted as a key modulator of synaptic plasticity.



**Figure 1.5** The regulation of postsynaptic calcium homeostasis by Homer proteins. Long Homer proteins (left) link calcium-regulating proteins into complexes by forming dimers through their carboxy-terminal domains. Activity-induced short Homer proteins (right) act as dominant negative regulators of long Homer complexes, disrupting the links between synaptic proteins and affecting the gating of calcium. A group I mGluR-dependent potentiation of NMDA receptors is facilitated by a long Homer-Shank-GKAP-PSD95 scaffold, which is dismantled by short Homers. Short Homer proteins may also elicit the agonist-independent activation of group I mGluRs. TRPC and L-VDCC channels form complexes with IP3Rs and RyRs, respectively, through long Homer dimers, which limits the influx of calcium. The induction and binding of short Homers disrupts these complexes, increasing channel activity and calcium influx. ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GKAP, guanylate kinase-associated protein; IP3R, inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor; L-VDCC, L-type voltage-dependent calcium channel; mGluR1/5, metabotropic glutamate receptor 1/5; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; PLC, phospholipase C; PSD-95, postsynaptic density protein 95; RyR, ryanodine receptor; TRPC, transient receptor potential canonical channel.

#### 1.4.7 Functional Plasticity

I have discussed how activity-induced Homer protein is expressed during synaptic plasticity and interacts with other PSD components responsible for bringing about changes in synaptic strength; I now present the evidence that short Homers are themselves functionally involved in synaptic plasticity. This work implicates Homer1a and Ania-3 in the local regulation of synaptic strength and the global scaling of synaptic excitability.

Synaptic strength may be modified by the trafficking and phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors in the postsynaptic membrane, causing an adjustment of excitatory postsynaptic currents (Bredt and Nicoll, 2003; Derkach et al., 2007). This process is in part driven by group I mGluR activation (Snyder et al., 2001; Kelly et al., 2009). Overexpression of Homer1a in hippocampal neurons can globally decrease surface AMPA receptors (Sala et al., 2003; Hu et al., 2010; Rozov et al., 2012), reduce GluA2 subunit tyrosine phosphorylation (Hu et al., 2010) and block the maintenance of longterm potentiation (Celikel et al., 2007; Rozov et al., 2012). These effects are dependent on group I mGluR signalling, yet do not require the binding of glutamate to the receptors (Hu et al., 2010). Indeed, Homer1a has been shown to activate group I mGluRs independently of glutamate (Ango et al., 2001; Hu et al., 2010). Conversely, knocking out either the Homer1 gene or the short Homer1 isoforms results in an up-regulation of postsynaptic AMPA receptors and currents (Hu et al., 2010; Rozov et al., 2012). In contrast, one study reported an increase in synaptic AMPA receptors following Homer1a overexpression (Hennou et al., 2003), which may reflect differences in experimental protocols, whilst supporting the notion that scaffold remodelling can lead to the scaling

up or down of synapses, depending on the nature of the stimulation. Van Keuren-Jensen and Cline (2006) demonstrated in tadpole optic tectal neurons that the application of group I mGluR agonists to cells with a low Homer1a/Homer1b ratio increased AMPA currents, similarly to cells that had been removed from tadpoles after >12h of darkness. Conversely, either the exogenous expression of Homer1a, or Homer1a induction through visual stimulation for >4h, reversed the mGluR-mediated change in AMPA currents (Van Keuren-Jensen and Cline, 2006). These studies clearly demonstrate the involvement of Homer1a in AMPA receptor regulation, whilst indicating a specific role of the protein in the homeostatic scaling of synaptic strength.

The mechanism through which Homers regulate mGluR-mediated AMPA plasticity may involve their coupling to dynamin 3 in endocytic zones (Gray et al., 2003). Long Homers physically tether clathrin-positive endocytic zones near the PSD through interactions with Shank and dynamin 3, to permit local cycling and recapture of AMPA receptors (Gray et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2007). Disruption of this link by the expression of Homer1a in hippocampal neurons frees the endocytic zones from the PSD, which leads to a decrease in the number of postsynaptic membrane AMPA receptors (Lu et al., 2007). Therefore, Homer1a induction can remove the AMPA cycling capacity of dendritic spines, regulating synaptic strengthening.

The long-term maintenance of synaptic strength for memory consolidation requires *de novo* protein synthesis and scaffold remodelling over an extended period of time following an initial synaptic event (Kandel, 2001; Lee et al., 2004). One of the intriguing aspects of Homer1a function is its expression following neuronal activity, which occurs in conjunction with the expression of Arc, another IEG essential for memory

consolidation (Vazdarjanova et al., 2002; Plath et al., 2006). Both are induced in the same hippocampal neurons by exploration of a novel environment (Vazdarjanova et al., 2002; Marrone et al., 2008), implying that their coordinated activity may be necessary for forming a memory pertaining to that environment. Further work has examined the recruitment of Homer1a to active synapses in order to select spines for plasticity. Okada and colleagues (2009) demonstrated that soma-derived Homer1a is recruited from dendrites specifically into activated spines. This only occurred if NMDA receptors were stimulated and required extracellular calcium and the nitric oxide-protein kinase G signalling pathway. Trapping of Homer1a into spines did not, however, require group I mGluR activation (Okada et al., 2009a). The recruitment of Homer1a may therefore represent a synaptic tag for subsequent spine remodelling and the targeting of *de novo* plasticity-related proteins.

A few studies have evaluated the effect of manipulating the expression of short Homer isoforms on learning and memory. Overexpression of Homer1a in the hippocampus impairs spatial working memory and spatial reference memory (Klugmann et al., 2005; Celikel et al., 2007). Short form-specific Homer1 knockout mice exhibit a deficit in cued and contextual fear conditioning (Inoue et al., 2009a; Mahan et al., 2012). These mice have normal memory acquisition and short term memory of contextual fear, but impaired fear memory consolidation and memory retention, reminiscent of Arc knockout mice (Plath et al., 2006), another IEG critical for regulating synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, re-exposing short Homer1 knockout mice to the context, and therefore reactivating the fear memory, attenuated the conditioned response, indicating a deficit in reconsolidation or memory updating (Inoue et al., 2009a). These studies form

additional corroboration to the view that activity-induced Homer proteins are critical for coordinating plasticity relevant to learning and memory. It should be noted that, since both Homer1a and Ania-3 are absent in these knockout models, delineation of their respective contributions to fear memory consolidation is lacking.

#### 1.4.8 Conclusions

Homer1a is recruited to active dendritic spines upon stimulation and de novo Homer1a protein is synthesised somatically and transported to the PSD, thereby facilitating shortand long-term scaffold remodelling for early and late phases of synaptic plasticity. Primarily, its function is the dominant negative disruption of functional synaptic architecture constructed by long Homer1 proteins, which can result in a switch of group I mGluR function, receptor translocation or the accommodation of calcium entry. These findings suggest that the role of short Homer proteins is to transiently destabilise the PSD in order to permit scaling of the most currently or recently active synapses; or in other words, to selectively facilitate the plasticity of excitatory synapses. Disruption of Homer1a and Ania-3 has implications for neurological disease and their manipulation may represent a novel therapeutic approach.

# 1.5 Experimental Plan

Synaptic plasticity is presented here as a critical point of convergence in schizophrenia pathogenesis, particularly in relation to NMDA receptor and postsynaptic density protein complexes. It is noted that this may mediate specific deficits in associative learning processes. In this thesis, I further the investigation of the role of associative learning in schizophrenia through studying the impact that genes and pathways conferring risk to the disorder have on the consolidation, retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory. My aims were as follows.

- Determine whether genes associated with particular components of associative learning are enriched in the genetic variants from patients with schizophrenia and related disorders.
- Explore the effect of the NMDA antagonist and psychotomimetic, ketamine, on the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory.
- Deduce the role of postsynaptic density Homer1 proteins in associative fear learning processes.

# Chapter 2: General Methodology

This chapter describes the general protocol for each method used in this thesis. Details of the specific methodology used in each experiment is given within its respective chapter.

# 2.1 Copy number variant enrichment analysis

Enrichment analyses are used to determine whether a gene set is overrepresented within a reference gene list, compared to that which you would expect by chance. They can also be used to compare the relative enrichment of a gene set in genetic mutations from patients of a particular disease, relative to its enrichment in mutations from healthy controls. For CNVs, this can be done using a logistic regression analysis that regresses, for each CNV, case-control status of the patient on the number of genes from the gene set that the CNV overlaps with.

# 2.1.1 Logistic regression analysis

Gene sets were formatted as tab-delimited text files containing the human Entrez ID for each gene. CNV lists were annotated with CNV size, deletion or duplication, case-control status, chip type (Affymetrix chip ID), CNV study name, number of genes hit by the CNV and Entrez gene IDs. Using MATLAB (R2015a) or R (v 3.2.3), the number of genes in a gene set overlapped by each CNV was counted. The logistic regression analysis was performed using the general linear model (glm; binomial) function in R, as follows:

case-control status ~ gene set hits + CNV size + total genes in CNV + study + chip type *P*-values outputted by this analysis were converted to  $-\log_{10}(P\text{-value}) \times sgn(Z\text{-value})$ .

#### 2.1.2 Permutation correction

In order to remove the effect of any background enrichment in the gene sets, some analyses were subjected to permutation correction. This adjusts the observed enrichment *P*-value so that it is empirically determined by a distribution of *P*-values obtained from randomly permuted gene sets.

Using MATLAB, all genes (after any filtering processes specific to the study) were permuted many times (e.g. 1000). Following each permutation, the top N genes were taken as a random gene set, where N is the size of the gene set used for the analysis being corrected. Each gene set was subjected to a logistic regression analysis as described above, producing a null distribution of *P*-values (or  $-\log_{10}(P$ -value)). An empirical *P*-value is then calculated as follows:

for  $y = y_1 \dots y_N$  given x

$$P = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} z}{N} \text{ where } z = \begin{cases} 1 & y_i \leq x\\ 0 & y_i > x \end{cases}$$

where y is the null distributed *P*-values and x is the observed *P*-value.

# 2.2 Common variant enrichment analysis

The enrichment of a gene set in common variants is done using whole genome data analysis toolsets, such as PLINK and MAGMA. Due to the different statistical models employed by each approach, they may yield different results when applied to the same dataset.

#### 2.2.1 PLINK SNP analysis

Gene sets were converted to genomic locations using the genome build 37.3 sequence file found at the NCBI FTP site:

(ftp://ftp.ncbi.nih.gov/genomes/MapView/Homo\_sapiens/sequence/BUILD.37.3/initial \_release/seq\_gene.md.gz).

1000 Genomes reference files (http://www.1000genomes.org) were used for linkage disequilibrium calculations. Case-control SNPs were mapped to the gene set and the enrichment probability calculated using Plink's "--set-screen" function. Each analysis yielded *P*-values from two levels of statistical stringency. *P1* is an uncorrected *P*-value and *P2* is an empirical *P*-value corrected for the multiple SNPs within the set.

#### 2.2.2 MAGMA SNP analysis

MAGMA (Multi-marker Analysis of GenoMic Annotation) uses a multiple regression model and performs single gene analysis in conjunction with gene set analysis for added flexibility.

Case-control SNP data was annotated with gene location using NCBI Build 37.3 gene locations obtained from (http://ctg.cncr.nl/software/magma/aux\_files/NCBI37.3.zip). Then a gene-wide analysis was performed, using the 1000 Genomes reference files (as above) for linkage disequilibrium calculations. Gene set analyses were performed using the output from the gene-wide analysis. During this analysis, MAGMA executed a correction for false discovery rate using 100,000 data permutations.

# 2.3 The ethical use of animals in research

All experiments were conducted in accordance with the United Kingdom 1986 Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act (Project licenses PPL 30/3135 and PPL 30/2236; Personal license PIL I16A5E86C).

# 2.4 Contextual fear conditioning behavioural paradigms

#### 2.4.1 Subjects

Subjects were adult male Lister Hooded rats from Charles River UK, weighing 250-350 g (8-14 weeks old). Upon arrival, rats were housed in pairs in conventional cages in a holding room maintained at 21°C on a 12h reversed light/dark cycle. All experiments were conducted during the dark period. Food (chow) and water were freely available and the cages were cleaned weekly. A cardboard tube was provided as environmental enrichment. Rats were habituated to their home cages for at least 5 days prior to the experiment start. Tails were labelled for identification using a permanent marker pen. The handling of animals from each experimental group was ordered pseudorandomly.

#### 2.4.2 Contextual fear conditioning, recall and extinction

The protocol described here is a well-established paradigm for studying associative longterm memory in rodents (Lee et al., 2004; Barnes and Thomas, 2008), in which a rat learns to associate a novel context with the receipt of an electric footshock. Rats were transported from the holding room to the behaviour suite in dark transport boxes to avoid exposing the animals to the light during their dark period. Rats were placed individually into either conditioning context A or B. Conditioning contexts were 30.5 cm x 24.1 cm x 29.2 cm chambers (Med Associates, UK) with 19 floor bars raised 1.6 cm above a floor tray, all contained within a sound-attenuating cubicle 55.9 cm x 55.9 cm x

35.6 cm. During conditioning trials, rats received a 2 second 0.5 mA footshock after 2 min context exposure. The footshock was administered through the floor bars and was controlled by a Med-PC (version IV) Research Control and Data Acquisition System (Med Associates). Rats were removed from the context 1 min after footshock and transported back to their home cages.

Recall and extinction trials were conducted at the same time of day as the conditioning trial. Rats were transported to the context in the same transport boxes. In recall trials, rats were returned to the context for 2 min. In extinction trials, rats were returned to the context for 2 min. In extinction trials, rats were returned to the context for 10 min. Proof of concept experiments are presented in sections 4.2-4.3. All periods of context exposure were recorded on video (JSP Electronics, China), using Numeriscope software (Viewpoint, France), for behavioural analysis.

## 2.4.3 Quantification of freezing response

The freezing response of the animals was used as a metric of fear memory acquisition and recall. Files containing video recordings of context exposures were randomised programmatically in order to blind the experimenter to the experimental group of each subject, thereby minimising subjectivity during analyses. Freezing behaviour was defined as the complete and sudden cessation of movement and was recorded as a binary variable every 10 sec (freezing / not freezing), starting from the time at which the door to the conditioning context was closed. Percent freezing therefore represents the proportion of samples in which the rat was observed freezing.

#### 2.5 *In situ* hybridization

*In situ* hybridization is a method of localising and quantifying specific mRNA sequences in fixed tissue sections by hybridising with labelled strands of complementary nucleotide sequences (Figure 2.1).

#### 2.5.1 Brain extraction, coronal sectioning and paraformaldehyde fixation

Rats were killed by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation at the time point of interest. They were then immediately decapitated and the brain was extracted and snap frozen on dry ice within 10 min of death. Brains were wrapped in Parafilm (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and foil before storage at -80°C until needed.

Microscope slides used for mounting coronal brain sections were prepared by baking overnight at 180°C and allowing to cool before coating in poly-L lysine solution (2%). The slides were dried and stored at 4°C until use. A custom MATLAB program was used to design the arrangement of brain sections onto a library of microscope slides, so that there was a maximum of 6 sections per slide, each from a different subject, with pseudorandom subject selection and without position bias for any experimental group. From each subject, 114 14  $\mu$ m coronal sections of the region of interest were cut using a cryostat (Leica Biosystems, Germany) and mounted on a series of glass slides. Slides were then racked into hollow glass slide racks for fixing and storage.

To fix the brain sections, slides were bathed in 4°C 4% paraformaldehyde / phosphate buffer saline (PBS; 1.3 M NaCl, 70 mM disodium phosphate, 30 mM monosodium phosphate) solution for 5 min, before washing in PBS (1 min) and 70% ethanol (4 min). Slides were then stored in 95% ethanol at 4°C until use. A minimum of 2 weeks was allowed for before performing *in situ* hybridization to allow for delipidation.

#### 2.5.2 Oligonucleotide probe design

Single-stranded oligonucleotide probes were designed to target unique mRNA sequences. Due to the number of filtering steps required to identify a candidate oligonucleotide probe, a tool was developed in MATLAB to do this programmatically. Probes were designed to be only 45 base-pairs long to facilitate penetration into cells. Optimisation steps included choosing probes with G/C:A/T ratios close to 1 and excluding probes containing trains of the same nucleotide longer than 3. These steps permit consistency in hybridization conditions and prevent excessive secondary folding of the oligonucleotide.

On occasions where the probe is being designed to target a unique isoform, the probes are ranked by their maximum homology with the other isoforms of the same gene to allow identification of the most specific oligonucleotide probe.

# 2.5.3 5' end <sup>35</sup>S labelling of oligonucleotides

Oligonucleotide probes (Sigma-Aldrich) were radiolabelled with <sup>35</sup>S for detection. To do this, pure oligonucleotides were dissolved to 1  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l in DEPC-treated phosphate buffer before dilution to 5 ng/ $\mu$ l in DEPC-treated water. This was added to the radioisotope in the following solution: 12.5% recombinant terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (rTDT) enzyme (Promega, USA), 20.1% 5x TDT buffer (Promega), 16.7% 5 ng/ $\mu$ l oligonucleotide probe, 12.5% <sup>35</sup>S-dATP (87-day half-life; Perkin-Elmer). The solution was incubated at 35°C for 1 h before diluting 4.2X in DEPC-treated water. In order to extract the labelled probe, the solution was spun for 2 min at 2000 rpm on a spin column consisting of a 1 ml syringe filled with Sephadex G-25 (Sigma-Aldrich) TNES (0.14 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris,

5 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS) slurry. Dithiothreitol (DTT; Sigma-Aldrich) was added to 3.8% to terminate the reaction, before storage at -20°C until use.

#### 2.5.4 Hybridization of coronal brain sections

The specific activity of the labelled oligonucleotide probe was calculated by mixing a sample of it with scintillation fluid at a ratio of 1:1000 and quantifying the disintegrations per minute (dpm) using a liquid scintillation counter (Tri-Carb 2800 TR; Perkin-Elmer, USA). Coronal brain sections representing the same region along the sagittal plane were selected. Each slide of coronal brain sections was covered with a solution containing  $\frac{200}{Probe \ specific \ activity \ per \ \mu l}$   $\mu l$  oligonucleotide probe, 100  $\mu l$  HYB buffer (50% deionised formamide, 20% 20X saline-sodium citrate buffer, 5% 0.5 M sodium phosphate, 1% 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate, 10% 50X Denhardt's solution, 5% 4 mg/ml acid-alkali hydrolysed salmon sperm DNA, 2% 5 mg/ml polyadenylic acid, 0.1% 120 mg/ml heparin and 10% dextran sulphate) and 2 µl DTT. Control (non-specific) slides were covered in the same solution with the addition of  $\frac{200}{Probe \ specific \ activity \ per \ \mu l} \times 4 \ \mu l \ 5 \ ng/\mu l$ unlabelled oligonucleotide probe. A strip of Parafilm (Sigma-Aldrich) acted as a coverslip on each slide, before incubation in a humid environment overnight at 42°C. Slides were bathed in 1X saline-sodium citrate buffer (SSC) at room temperature to facilitate the removal of the coverslips. The slides then underwent washes in 52°C 1X SSC (30 min), 52°C 1X SSC (30 min), room temperature 0.1X SSC (1 min), 70% ethanol (1 min) and 95% ethanol (1 min).

#### 2.5.5 Imaging and quantification of gene expression

When dry, labelled slides were arranged in a radiographic cassette, along with a <sup>14</sup>C standard slide for calibration, sealed underneath a sheet of radiographic film (American

Radiolabeled Chemicals, USA). The duration for which the slides were left against the radiographic film depended on the intensity of the autoradiograph produced by the oligonucleotide probe (typical variation from 3-30 days) and preliminary tests were performed to optimize this duration. The film was developed using an EXOMAX x-ray processor (PROTEC, Germany) and scanned to produce a digital greyscale image (Figure 2.1).

Autoradiographs of labelled brain sections were analysed using ImageJ (NIH). Analysis was performed blind to the respective experimental groups. Densitometry was calibrated using known radioactive quantities from the <sup>14</sup>C standards. Triplets of intensity measurements were sampled from each region of interest, per hemisphere, per section. For each subject, the intensity of signal within a brain region, representing the quantity of mRNA expressed, was calculated as follows.

mRNA expression = 
$$\frac{\widetilde{sA} + \widetilde{sB}}{2} - \widetilde{ns}$$

where *Sa* and *Sb* are the densitometry values sampled from the specific signal of one brain region in sections *A* and *B* of a subject (Figure 2.1) and *ns* is the densitometry value acquired from the control (non-specific) section from the same subject. Expression values for each brain region were normalized to the mean expression of the control group.



**Figure 2.1** *In situ* hybridization autoradiograph from coronal rat brain sections hybridized with radiolabelled oligonucleotides specific to the Homer1a mRNA sequence. The first and second columns are experimental repeats, showing the specific binding of the oligonucleotide to its complimentary mRNA sequence on two separate slides of brain sections. Sections in the third column have been hybridized with an excess of unlabelled probe, giving the background signal, which is deducted from the specific signal during quantification.

# 2.6 Immunoblotting

Immunoblotting was used to quantify proteins from hippocampal tissue samples obtained from behaving rats.

#### 2.6.1 Tissue homogenisation and sample preparation

# 2.6.1.1 Preparation of whole hippocampal homogenates

Snap-frozen, micro-dissected hippocampi were stored at -80°C until preparation for immunoblotting. For the preparation of whole hippocampal fractions, 30-100 mg hippocampal tissue was homogenised with 4°C 10  $\mu$ l/mg radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) and protease inhibitors (Roche, Germany), using a glass 3 ml pestle and mortar on ice. Homogenates were centrifuged at 1200g for 20 min at room temperature to pellet and remove nuclei. Samples were stored at -80°C until use.

# 2.6.1.2 Preparation of hippocampal synaptosomes

To prepare synaptosomal fractions of hippocampal tissue, 30-100 mg hippocampal tissue was homogenised with 4°C Synaptic Protein Extraction Reagent (Syn-PER; Thermo Fisher, USA) and protease inhibitors (Roche, Germany) using a glass 3 ml pestle and mortar on ice. Homogenates were centrifuged at 1200g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellet was discarded and the supernatant was further centrifuged at 15000g for 20 min at 4°C. The supernatant, which contains the cytosolic fraction, was stored for reference. The pellet was re-suspended in 1 ml/g (original hippocampal tissue) Syn-PER with protease inhibitors, and re-homogenised, before storage at -80°C.

#### 2.6.1.3 Global protein quantification using the Bradford or BCA assay

Total protein concentration of samples homogenised in Syn-PER was calculated using the Bradford assay. A concentration gradient of bovine serum albumin (BSA; Bio-Rad, USA) was used to create a standard curve for reference. Samples were diluted 10X in Syn-PER and mixed 1:50 with Bradford reagent (Bio-Rad) in a cuvette. Optical density was determined at 595 nm.

Since the Bradford assay is sensitive to buffers containing strong detergents, total protein concentration of samples homogenised in Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer was determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit; Thermo Fisher, USA). Samples were diluted 10X in RIPA, before being added to BCA reagent mix 1:20 and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. Following incubation, samples were cooled rapidly to room temperature and the optical density was determined at 562 nm.

#### 2.6.2 Western blot procedure

To separate the proteins, samples were subjected to gel electrophoresis in an electrophoresis chamber (Bio-Rad). Prior to loading onto the gel, samples were diluted to equal protein concentrations and boiled with 45% Laemmli sample buffer (Bio-Rad) and 5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (Bio-Rad) at 96°C for 5 min. Samples containing 10-40 µg protein were loaded into each well of a 12% precast polyacrylamide gel (Bio-Rad), bordered by 5 µl prestained protein standards (Bio-Rad). Electrophoresis was run at 50V for 10 min, followed by 150V for 40 min, or until the sample has traversed the gel.

Proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad), using a Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer System (Bio-Rad). Membranes were blocked in a 5% milk (Amersham ECL

Prime, GE Healthcare, UK) and Tris-buffered saline with Tween (TBST; 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween 20) solution for 1 h at room temperature. Primary antibodies were diluted in 5% milk / TBST and incubated with the membrane overnight at 4°C. The membrane was washed three times in TBST for 5 min, before incubating with secondary fluorescent antibodies (LI-COR), diluted in 5% milk / TBST, for 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was washed a final three times in TBST (twice) and TBS (once) for 5 min each. Protein bands were imaged using an Odyssey Clx Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR).

#### 2.6.3 Quantification of protein of interest

Typically, each membrane was probed with antibodies targeting the protein of interest as well as a housekeeping gene, the expression of which is known to be unaffected by the experiment manipulation, for normalisation and quality control. Western blots were analysed using Image Studio (LI-COR). Relative protein quantities were calculated as follows.

Protein of interest in sample (arbitrary unit) = 
$$\frac{P_i - pB_i}{H_i - hB_i}$$

where each variable is a fluorescence intensity: P is protein of interest, H is housekeeping gene, pB is the background surrounding the protein of interest, hB is the background surrounding the housekeeping gene and i is the lane.

## 2.7 Intracerebral microinjection of substances

#### 2.7.1 Surgical placement of indwelling cannula to the dorsal hippocampus

Rats were anaesthetised in an induction chamber using 5% isoflurane (Abbott, UK), before the removal of fur on the top of the head and positioning of the animal in a

stereotaxic frame (David Kopf, USA), where 2-3% isoflurane was continuously administered via a gaseous mixture of oxygen (0.8 L/min) and nitrogen (0.4 L/min). A midsagittal incision was made to expose the skull and two holes were drilled at the following coordinates from Bregma: -3.5 mm anterior-posterior, ± 1.9 mm mediolateral. A bilateral guide cannula (22 gauge, 3.8 mm centre-to-centre, 3 mm below pedestal; Plastics One, UK) was implanted targeting the dorsal hippocampus and secured with screws and dental acrylic (Kemdent, UK). A dummy stylet (Plastics One) was inserted into the cannula to prevent blockage. 0.02 ml 5 mg/ml Metacam was administered subcutaneously approximately 10 min prior to the end of surgery. After surgery, the rat was placed in a warm (22°C) recovery chamber for 30-60 min and given a minimum 7 days recovery before testing.

#### 2.7.2 Bilateral hippocampal infusion

To administer substances via intracerebral microinjection, the dummy stylets were replaced with injector stylets (28 gauge, 4 mm; Plastics One) attached to two Hamilton syringes (Hamilton, Switzerland) by polyethylene tubing, fixed to a syringe pump (Harvard Apparatus, UK). Substances were infused at 1  $\mu$ l/hemisphere at a rate of 0.5  $\mu$ l/min. A further 2 min was allowed after infusion before removing the injectors to permit sufficient diffusion of the solution into the tissues.

Each subject underwent a practice infusion session using sterile PBS at least 3 days prior to testing, in order to habituate the animal to the process.

#### 2.7.3 Histology

Nissl staining was performed on sections of brain tissue taken from rats used in surgical procedures to verify the placement of cannulae and the site of infusion.

14 µm coronal sections were cut and fixed as described in section 2.5.1. Slides were then washed as follows: distilled water (1 min), 0.1% Thionin (10 min), distilled water (1 min), 70% ethanol (1 min), 95% ethanol (1 min), 95% ethanol (1 min), 100% ethanol (1 min), 100% ethanol (1 min). Stained sections were bathed in Histoclear (National Diagnostics, UK) for at least 30 min, before being dried and covered with DePeX mounting medium (BDH Laboratory Supplies, UK) and a glass coverslip (Agar Scientific, UK).

Sections were imaged using a Leica DM2000LED microscope and the injection site was identified by finding the location of the most ventral point of the implant. Local inflammation and tissue damage was noted. Accurate bilateral dorsal hippocampal infusion was a criterion for inclusion of a subject's data in analysis.

# Chapter 3: The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders

# 3.1 Introduction

The pathophysiology of schizophrenia is unknown, yet its high heritability implicates inherited genetic variants in its aetiology (Sullivan et al., 2003). A major branch of research seeks to identify genetic variants associated with the disorder through largescale genomic studies. In recent years, this approach has progressively revealed a growing list of common variants, rare variants and structural variants that increase an individual's susceptibility to schizophrenia (Stefansson et al., 2008; Stone et al., 2008; Kirov et al., 2012; Ripke et al., 2013, 2014, Rees et al., 2014a, 2014b; Pocklington et al., 2015). Each genetic variant may contribute a relatively small component of risk, with rare variants typically contributing more risk than common variants, but collectively they can form a substantial burden that accounts for a large proportion of risk (Purcell et al., 2009; Stefansson et al., 2009). Some progress has been made in subsequently linking these genetic variants to individual genes and clustering affected genes into particular functional pathways (Hall et al., 2015; Kotlar et al., 2015; Owen et al., 2016). However, the insight from these analyses is limited by our current understanding of gene function and is therefore at present too broad to be of sufficient value to therapeutic design.
It is notable that many of the genetic variants linked to schizophrenia also increase risk for the development of other disorders. For example, there is substantial overlap of the risk conferred by schizophrenia-associated common variants to bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder, and by schizophrenia-associated rare variants to intellectual disability and autism spectrum disorder (Lee et al., 2013; Doherty and Owen, 2014). This implies that there is substantial overlap between the molecular pathways involved in the pathophysiology of these phenotypically-related disorders. However, the neural circuits and cognitive domains that are consequently impaired may be very different (Millan et al., 2012).

#### 3.1.1 A convergence of susceptibility genes on learning pathways

Despite the complex genetics of schizophrenia, pathway analyses across studies have found some points of convergence within the implicated genes. A predominant molecular convergence is that of synaptic proteins, particularly those of the postsynaptic density (Kirov et al., 2012; Fromer et al., 2014). Through analyses of inherited and *de novo* CNVs from patients with schizophrenia, Kirov et al. (2012) found an enrichment of members of the NMDA receptor complex, PSD-95 complex and activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein (ARC) signalling complex (Kirov et al., 2012), all of which function at the synapse. Critically, these same protein complexes are also enriched for small variants observed in exome sequencing studies (Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014). A further group of genes, those targeted by fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP), were also implicated through exome sequencing (Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014) and through the largest common variant study to date (Ripke et al., 2014). FMRP regulates the translation of a number of synaptic proteins

(Fernandez et al., 2013) through its interactions with CYFIP1, which has been individually linked to schizophrenia through CNV studies (Stefansson et al., 2008; Kirov et al., 2012). Common variant studies of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium have revealed associations with schizophrenia of several genes coding for synaptic proteins, including clusters of genes coding for voltage-gated calcium channel subunits and glutamate receptor subunits (Ripke et al., 2011, 2013, 2014).

Beyond the structural convergence of schizophrenia-associated genes at the synapse, further functional patterns have been noted amongst these genes. Many of the implicated synaptic proteins are key regulators of synaptic plasticity (Hall et al., 2015), both of excitatory and inhibitory systems (Pocklington et al., 2015). Pocklington et al (2015) explored the enrichment of 134 gene sets in patient CNVs from a large casecontrol cohort. The gene sets were derived from functional data, mostly curated in the Mouse Genome Informatics (MGI) Mammalian Phenotype database, and all related to aspects of brain function and development. As well as replicating previous findings, such as the overrepresentation of the NMDA receptor and PSD-95 complexes in patient CNVs, they also show that genes associated with particular plasticity processes, including longterm potentiation, contextual conditioning and associative learning, are enriched within CNVs from sufferers of schizophrenia (Pocklington et al., 2015). These findings are consistent with clinical studies showing deficits in associative-type learning in schizophrenia, which is thought to contribute to the manifestation of positive and cognitive symptoms (Serra et al., 2001; Corlett et al., 2009; Hall et al., 2009). However, there are multiple components to associative learning (Barnes et al., 2012; Maren et al., The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders 2013), and it is thus far unclear which precise learning processes are affected by schizophrenia-associated CNVs.

3.1.2 Differential regulation of consolidation, retrieval and extinction of aversive memory

Associative learning, and its constitutive components, has been studied in detail, particularly in relation to hippocampal processing of contextual fear memory (Barnes et al., 2012; Maren et al., 2013; Scholz et al., 2016). Such studies have shown that the consolidation, retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory are dependent on distinct patterns of *de novo* gene expression, thereby recruiting different families of proteins to facilitate the particular memory process (Duvarci et al., 2008; Mamiya et al., 2009; Barnes et al., 2012; Scholz et al., 2016). Like memory consolidation, memory extinction is an active form of new learning, which occurs upon the prolonged or repeated exposure to a conditioned stimulus in the absence of a previously associated unconditioned stimulus, and results in dominance over the former associative memory (Bouton, 2004). Using microarrays to quantify gene expression in CA1 following fear memory consolidation, retrieval and extinction in rats, Scholz et al. (2016) were able to create gene sets associated with each learning stage and explore their respective molecular pathways. This data therefore provides a framework for further investigating the enrichment of associative learning-related genes in genetic variants from patients with psychiatric disorders.

Using gene sets obtained from the Scholz et al. (2016) study, I examined the hypothesis that genetic variants from patients with schizophrenia and related disorders are selectively located within genes related to specific components of associative learning.

The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders Specifically, I used gene set enrichment analysis to investigate whether genes differentially expressed following the consolidation, retrieval or extinction of contextual fear are enriched in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia, autism, intellectual disability or ADHD, or in the SNPs from patients with schizophrenia.

### 3.2 The enrichment of learning-related genes in schizophreniaassociated CNVs

#### 3.2.1 Methods

The general methodology for enrichment analyses and contextual fear conditioning can be found in sections 2.1-2.4. The *in vivo* gene expression data used in this chapter was generated from experiments published in Barnes et al (2012) and (Scholz et al., 2016). Three independent expression datasets were generated representing genes regulated in rat CA1 associated with the consolidation, retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory. Section 3.2.1.1, below, describes the methods employed in these previous studies.

#### *3.2.1.1* The generation of learning-related gene expression data – previous studies

In brief, adult male Lister Hooded rats individually underwent contextual fear conditioning (see General Methods 2.4). In the consolidation protocol, awake rats (N = 8) received bilateral microinfusions of either brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) antisense (5'-TCTTCCCCTTTTAATGGT-3') or missense oligonucleotides (5' - ATACTTTCTGTTCTTGCC-3') into the dorsal hippocampus (1  $\mu$ l, 2 nmol/ $\mu$ l) via chronically implicated steel cannula, 90 min prior to the conditioning trial. The knockdown of hippocampal BDNF levels via antisense administration blocks the consolidation of contextual fear memory (Lee et al., 2004), therefore generating a control group. In the

retrieval protocol, rats were replaced into the same context 48 hours after conditioning for a short recall trial (2 min). They (N = 8) received bilateral microinfusions via chronic indwelling cannulae targeting the dorsal hippocampus of either Zif268 antisense (5'-GGTAGTTGTCCATGGTGG-3') or missense oligonucleotides (5'-GTGTTCGGTAGGGTGTCA-3'; 1 µl, 2 nmol/µl), 90 min prior to the short recall trial. Reducing hippocampal Zif268 levels using antisense impairs the post-retrieval memory processes that serve to maintain the expression of contextual fear memory (Lee et al., 2004; Trent et al., 2015). To generate the extinction dataset, rats were pre-exposed to two different novel contexts (Context A or Context B) over 3 days (10 min / day), prior to conditioning in either Context A or Context B. 48 hours later, rats underwent a long recall trial (10 min) in either the conditioned context (N = 6) or the unconditioned context. Those placed in the conditioned context exhibit a progressively decreased freezing response over the duration of the long recall trial, as, in the absence of the unconditioned stimulus, the association between the context and the footshock is extinguished, creating the extinction group.

All rats were killed by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation 2 h after either the conditioning or recall trials and the dorsal CA1 region of the hippocampus dissected and snap frozen prior to gene expression analysis. Microarray analysis was performed using Affymetrix Rat Genome Array 230.2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, US). Individual differential gene expression datasets associated with the consolidation, retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory were generated using two normalisation methods: Microarray Suite 5 (MAS5) and Robust Multi-array Average (RMA). These normalisation methods each yielded a P-

The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders value per probe set, representing the probability of differential expression compared to the respective consolidation, retrieval and extinction control groups.

### *3.2.1.2 Extracting consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related gene sets*

The initial step in the analysis was to extract gene sets from the microarray data associated with contextual fear memory consolidation, retrieval and extinction. Using Affymetrix Rat Genome Array 230.2 resources, probe sets that did not target a unique coding gene were filtered from the dataset. To permit comparison with human mutation data, rat Entrez gene IDs were converted to human homologs through the HomoloGene ID index (Box 3.1), obtained from the Mouse Genome Informatics (MGI) Vertebrate Homology table (http://www.informatics.jax.org/homology.shtml). Genes that do not have a unique human homolog according to this database were thus excluded.

Genes were then ranked by the significance of their differential expression. For each probe set, MAS5 and RMA *P*-values were combined using Fisher's method, so that each probe set was represented by a single *P*-value. For genes targeted by more than one probe set, these *P*-values were further combined using Simes *P*-value correction (Python 3.5.1, "StatsModels" package), thereby giving one *P*-value per gene. For consolidation, retrieval and extinction, genes could then be ranked by this *P*-value, with smaller values representing a stronger association with the particular learning phase.

In primary analyses, the top 5% learning-related genes (representing 607 genes from the consolidation, retrieval and extinction ranked data sets) were used as the gene set. In subsequent analyses, gene sets were generated from the top 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% of learning-related genes, equating to 121, 243, 607, 1214, 1822, 2429 and 3036 genes

respectively. For single gene analyses, each gene from the top 5% of the learning-related

genes was considered separate sets.

### Box 3.1: HomoloGene ID

Not all human genes are present in the rat genome, just as not all rat genes are present in the human genome. For those that do have corresponding homologs, the precise sequence of the gene may vary and therefore its function, and that of any proteins it codes for, could differ. Hence when converting genes across species, it is crucial that controls are put in place to ensure that identified homologs are likely to be functionally identical.

The HomoloGene ID is a numerical index for labelling genetic homologs across several species (including human, rat, mouse, chimpanzee, rhesus macaque, dog, cattle and zebrafish), created by the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). The input for HomoloGene comes from comparing both the gene sequence and protein structure, permitting the additional comparison of distance metrics such as molecular distance and Ka/Ks ratio. An algorithm is applied that uses thresholds of bits per position and Ks values to filter out unlikely orthologs and group together true homologs.

### 3.2.1.3 Collating patient CNV data and quality control

CNV data from patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls were compiled from multiple large-scale studies, to reduce any bias incurred from the demographics of any one cohort. Data from three European datasets was used: the Molecular genetics of Schizophrenia (MGS, dbGAP phs000167.v1.p1 and phs000021.v3.p2), the International Schizophrenia Consortium (ISC) and a UK study of schizophrenic patients taking clozapine (CLOZUK; Stone et al., 2008; Levinson et al., 2011; Rees et al., 2014; Details of genotyping: Stone et al., 2008; Levinson et al., 2011; Rees et al., 2014a; Pocklington et al., 2015). Control subjects for the CLOZUK cohort contains data obtained from The Genetic Architecture of Smoking and Smoking Cessation (dbGAP phs000404.v1.p1); Genetic Epidemiology of Refractive Error in the KORA Study (dbGAP phs000303.v1.p1); High-Density SNP Association Analysis of Melanoma (dbGAP phs000187.v1.p1). In total, this dataset contains CNVs from 11917 schizophrenia cases and 16416 control subjects. CNVs from patients with melanoma were obtained from a Study of Melanoma Risk in Australia and the United Kingdom (n = 2416 following QC). 6335 control subjects were obtained from The Genetic Epidemiology of COPD (COPDGene, dbGAP phs000179.v3.p2); A Genome-Wide Association Study of Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD, dbGAP phs000421.v1.p); California Pacific Medical Center Research Breast Health Cohort (dbGAP phs000395.v1.p1); National Blood Donors Cohort (Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2).

Each CNV was annotated with genes using the corresponding human genome reference assembly (MGS: Build 36, ISC: Build 35, CLOZUK: Build 37). Only protein coding genes were included in the annotation, as defined by the "Homosapiens\_geneinfo.txt" file

The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders within the genome reference assembly files. The resulting CNV dataset was subjected to quality control. This involved filtering out CNVs smaller than 100 kb, covered by fewer than 15 probes or having a frequency greater than 1%. These steps are consistent with recent approaches to base analyses on large, rare and reliable CNVs (Szatkiewicz et al., 2014a; Pocklington et al., 2015).

#### 3.2.1.4 Logistic regression analysis

Enrichment analyses were performed for each learning-related gene set, comparing the number of consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related genes that overlap with CNVs from patients or healthy controls (Pocklington et al., 2015). This was done using the following logistic regression analysis:

### case-control status ~ gene set hits + CNV size + total genes in CNV + study + chip type

where "case-control status" is a binary variable that can be either 0 (control) or 1 (case), "gene set hits" is the number of times a CNV overlaps a gene from the gene set and "CNV size" (base pairs), "total genes in CNV", "study" (i.e. CLOZUK, MGS or ISC) and "chip type" (Affymetrix chip ID) are covariates.

*P*-values obtained from primary analyses (top 5% learning-related genes) were adjusted by Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. *P*-values from secondary analyses (top 1-25%) were adjusted by permutation correction. *P*-values from single-gene analyses were uncorrected.

### 3.2.1.5 Permutation Correction

Null distributions of *P*-values for each gene set size were generated by permuting all genes 2000 times, each time taking the top 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% (giving a total of

The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders 14000 randomised gene sets) and analysing these gene sets by logistic regression analysis. Empirical enrichment *P*-values were calculated from these null distributions by finding the proportion of *P*-values within the null distribution greater than the observed *P*-value (General Methods 2.1.2).

#### 3.2.2 Results

The consolidation, retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory induced the expression of distinct groups of genes, with only chance levels of overlap between the top 5% of each learning condition in Fisher's exact test (consolidation vs retrieval P=0.85, consolidation vs extinction P=0.39, retrieval vs extinction P=0.29; Figure 3.1). Top 5% gene sets encompassed genes with differential expression *P*-values < 0.012 (consolidation), *P* < 0.021 (retrieval) and *P* < 0.032 (extinction).

In primary logistic regression analyses, using a gene set comprised of the top 5% learning-related genes, there was a marked enrichment of extinction-related genes in patient CNVs ( $P = 3.9 \times 10^{-4}$ ; Bonferroni corrected), but not consolidation- or retrieval-related genes (consolidation: P = 0.31; retrieval: P = 0.23; Bonferroni corrected; Figure 3.2).

The enrichment of extinction-related genes was observed in duplication CNVs and deletion CNVs separately. The top 5% extinction-related genes were enriched in both CNV types (deletions: P = 0.0034, duplications: P = 0.042, Bonferroni corrected; Figure 3.1b and c). No enrichment of the top 5% consolidation- or retrieval-related genes was observed in deletions or duplications.

By expanding the analysis over a range of gene set sizes (top 1-25%), the statistical association of the learning-related gene set with case CNVs increased with the size of

the gene set (Figure 3.3a-c). Plotting the enrichment of randomly permuted gene sets of the same sizes confirmed that the strength of the enrichment was proportional to gene set size (Figure 3.3d). This may be due to a background enrichment from all genes convertible from rat to human homologs. Hence, the permuted gene sets were used to correct the observed enrichment *P*-values. Following permutation correction, only the top 1%, 2% and 5% extinction-related genes yielded a significant enrichment in schizophrenia-associated CNVs (Figure 3.3g), whilst all sizes of consolidation- and retrieval-related gene sets showed no enrichment (Figure 3.3e and f).

Since this CNV dataset is made up of CNVs from three separate studies (MGS, ISC and CLOZUK), the existence of this finding in each independent cohort was investigated. Interestingly, the same enrichment of extinction-related genes in patient CNVs was present in each of the CNV datasets (Table 3.1). These results suggest that CNVs which increase an individual's susceptibility to developing schizophrenia impact selectively on genes involved in the extinction of associative fear memories.

To test the specificity of these findings to schizophrenia-associated CNVs, a control analysis was performed observing the enrichment of each learning-related gene set in the CNVs of patients with melanoma. Using logistic regression analysis, no enrichment of consolidation-, retrieval- or extinction-related genes in melanoma-associated CNVs was measured (consolidation P = 0.59; retrieval P = 1.0; extinction P = 1.0; Bonferroni-corrected; Table 3.2).

In order to explore this association between extinction-regulated genes and schizophrenia CNVs further and to identify specific genes driving the association, the contribution of individual genes was assessed. Single-gene logistic regression analysis

The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders was performed on each extinction-related gene from the top 5%. The statistical association of a gene with extinction was a significant predictor of the gene's enrichment in CNVs of patients with schizophrenia ( $R^2 = 0.087$ ,  $F_{(1,141)} = 13.49$ , P = 0.0003; Figure 3.4). Even within the top 1% extinction-related genes, this association was maintained ( $R^2 = 0.15$ ,  $F_{(1,29)} = 5.3$ , P = 0.029; Figure 3.4, inset).

A number of the genes contributing to this enrichment have already been implicated in schizophrenia through CNV studies (Table 3.3): MFI2, CLDN5, ATP10A, SNRPN, CGNL1 and PDZK1 (Goodbourn et al., 2014; Rees et al., 2014a, 2014b). A further three extinction-related genes have been implicated through genome-wide association studies: ERCC4, GALNT10 and SLC39A8 (Ripke et al., 2014).



**Figure 3.1** Distinct groups of genes are associated with different components of fear memory processing. Represented here is the overlap of the top 5% genes by significance of differential expression in the CA1 region of the hippocampus two hours after each learning phase. Only one gene was common to all three gene sets (ICOS). The degree of overlap is no greater than chance levels (consolidation vs retrieval P = 0.85, consolidation vs extinction P = 0.39, retrieval vs extinction P = 0.29 in Fisher's exact test).



**Figure 3.2** Extinction-related genes are enriched in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia. (a) The top 5% genes differentially expressed following fear extinction, but not consolidation (Consol) or retrieval, are overrepresented in schizophrenia CNVs vs control CNVs ( $P = 3.9 \times 10^{-4}$ ). Bars represent  $-\log_{10}(P - value)$  after logistic regression enrichment analysis and Bonferroni *P*-value correction. (b) Deletions from schizophrenic patients alone show an overrepresentation of fear extinction-related genes (P = 0.0034, Bonferroni corrected). (c) The enrichment of fear extinction-related genes in duplications from schizophrenic patients is significant (P = 0.042, Bonferroni corrected) yet weaker than in deletions. (a-c) Dotted line represents a P=0.05 threshold for statistical significance



**Figure 3.3** Secondary CNV enrichment analyses performed over the top 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% genes associated with consolidation, retrieval and extinction of fear memory. Points represent  $-\log_{10}(P$ -value) × sgn(Z-value). (**a-c**) Prior to *P*-value correction, enrichment becomes more significant with gene set size. (**d**) The statistical association of a gene set with case CNVs was proportional to the gene set size. All genes were permuted 2000 times, each time yielding random gene sets from the top 1-25%. This data was used to correct P-values obtained from the secondary analyses of the experiment. Boxplots display the minimum, first quartile, median, third quartile and maximum  $-\log_{10}(P$ -value) × sgn(Z-value) following logistic regression analyses. (**e-g**) Enrichment of the top 1-25% learning-related genes following *P*-value adjustment by permutation correction. Only the top 1-5% extinction-related gene sets are enriched in schizophrenia-related CNVs. (**d-g**) Dotted line represents a P=0.05 threshold for statistical significance.

Extinction gene set	CLOZUK P	GAIN P	ISC P	
<b>Top 1%</b>	0.00067	0.029	0.041	
Тор 2%	0.0056	0.11	0.043	
Тор 5%	0.00030	0.18	0.11	

**Table 3.1** The enrichment of extinction-related genes in schizophrenia patient CNVs exists in each cohort independently. The top 1, 2 and 5% extinction-related genes were analysed for enrichment in each CNV dataset using logistic regression analysis. Sample sizes: CLOZUK 6,307 cases, 10,675 controls; MGS 2,215 cases, 2,556 controls; ISC 3,395 cases, 3,185 controls.

Gene set	All CNVs		Deletions		Duplications	
	Р	$\pmb{P}_{adj}$	Р	$P_{adj}$	Р	$P_{adj}$
Consolidation	0.20	0.59	0.62	1.0	0.17	0.50
Retrieval	0.50	1.0	0.34	1.0	0.68	1.0
Extinction	0.75	1.0	0.09	0.28	0.56	1.0

**Table 3.2** No learning-related gene sets were enriched in the CNVs of patients with melanoma. The top 5% learning-related genes were subjected to enrichment analysis in melanoma CNVs from the CLOZUK2 control dataset, using logistic regression analysis. Displayed are uncorrected and Bonferroni-corrected ( $P_{adj}$ ) *P*-values representing the association between consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related genes and all melanoma CNVs, as well as deletions and duplications separately.



**Figure 3.4** Within the top 5% extinction-related genes, those more strongly associated with extinction learning are also more enriched in schizophrenia case CNVs ( $R^2 = 0.087$ ,  $F_{(1,141)} = 13.49$ , P = 0.0003). This is also true within the top 1% extinction-related genes ( $R^2 = 0.15$ ,  $F_{(1,29)} = 5.3$ , P = 0.029; inset). Dots represent  $-\log_{10}(P$ -value) of the significance of differential expression following extinction learning regressed against  $-\log_{10}(P$ -value) × sgn(Z-value) of the enrichment in case CNVs following single-gene logistic regression analysis. Outliers, which were excluded from analysis, are displayed in blue. Genes that gave no contribution to the model were excluded from this analysis and are not displayed.

Gene symbol	Gene ID	Gene name	Region	Mutation type	Extinction <i>P</i>	Case hits	Control hits	CNV enrich <i>P</i>
ATP10A	57194	ATPase class V type 10A	15q11.2-13.3	Duplication	0.007	10	1	0.4
CGNL1	84952	Paracingulin	15q21.3	Duplication	0.001	52	29	0.0001
CLDN5	7122	Claudin 5	22q11.2	Deletion	0.002	47	14	0.2
MFI2	4241	Melanotransferrin	3q29	Deletion	0.00005	10	1	0.04
PDZK1	5174	PDZ domain containing 1	1q21.1	Del / Dup	0.004	66	57	0.1
SNRPN	6638	Small nuclear ribonucleoprotein- associated protein N	15q11.2-13.3	Duplication	0.03	11	2	0.6
ERCC4	2072	Excision repair cross- complementation group 4	16p13.12	SNP	0.004	0	0	NA
GALNT10	55568	Polypeptide N- acetylgalactosaminyltransferase 10	5p33.2	SNP	0.00009	1	0	0.89
SLC39A8	64116	Solute carrier family 39 member 8	4q24	SNP	0.03	0	0	NA

**Table 3.3** Extinction learning-related genes within loci previously implicated in schizophrenia through CNV studies (deletions or duplications) and genome-wide association studies (single-nucleotide polymorphisms, SNP). Gene symbols, gene IDs (Entrez) and regions listed pertain to the Homo sapiens genome. "Extinction *P*" relates to the significance of differential expression following extinction learning. "CNV enrich *P*" relates to the significant of the single-gene enrichment in schizophrenia-associated CNVs.

3.3 Comparing the enrichment of learning-related genes in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia, autism, ADHD and intellectual disability

### 3.3.1 Methods

Gene sets relating to consolidation, retrieval and extinction were unchanged from above.

### 3.3.1.1 Collating patient CNV data and quality control

Autism-associated CNVs (2446 cases, 2640 controls) were obtained from the Autism Genome Project (Pinto et al., 2014). Intellectual disability-associated CNVs were obtained from two sources: 15767 cases from Signature Genomic Laboratories (Cooper et al., 2011) and 15749 cases from International Standards for Cytogenomic Arrays consortium (Kaminsky et al., 2011). The latter source contained CNVs associated with various intellectual and developmental disabilities, from which 608 CNVs from patients whose Subject Phenotype contained the words "Intellectual disability" were selected. Control CNVs for the intellectual disability analyses were taken from the MGS, ISC and CLOZUK control cohorts (16416 controls). ADHD-associated CNVs (1508 cases, 3057 controls) were obtained from the International Multi-Centre for ADHD Genetics (IMAGE) 2 project and a UK Cardiff Study (Thapar et al., 2015). CNVs were annotated (Pinto: Build 36, Cooper and Kaminsky: Builds 36/37, ADHD: Build 36) and subjected to quality control and filtering as above.

### 3.3.2 Results

CNV datasets from patients with ADHD, autism, schizophrenia and intellectual disability were subjected to the same filtering and quality control procedures, as described in the methods. Past studies have shown variations in CNV frequencies and sizes among

patients with different psychiatric diseases (Malhotra and Sebat, 2012). Therefore, to make a comparison of these CNV datasets, the CNV size distributions for each disorder were examined (Figure 3.5). CNVs from patients with intellectual disability were on average much larger than CNVs from control subjects ( $P < 2.2 \times 10^{-16}$ , independent Mann-Whitney U test; Figure 3.5). Moreover, the frequency of large CNVs (>1 Mbp) was significantly greater in intellectual-disability CNVs compared to controls ( $P < 2.2 \times 10^{-16}$ , Binomial test). These observations are in keeping with previous studies (Girirajan et al., 2011), although may also be a reflection of the CNV detection methods.

The top 1-25% learning-related gene sets were subjected to logistic regression against each CNV dataset. In order to correct the *P*-values obtained from these analyses, the same 14000 permutation-generated gene sets were tested for enrichment in the CNVs associated with each disorder, giving distributions of *P*-values that were used for permutation correction. The top 1-25% consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related genes showed no enrichment in CNVs from patients with ADHD, autism or intellectual disability (*P* > 0.05 following permutation correction in all instances; Figure 3.6). The only significant enrichment observed was that of the top 1-5% extinction-related genes in the CNVs of patients with schizophrenia (Figure 3.6), as described previously (Figure 3.3).



**Figure 3.5** The size distribution of CNVs from patients with different psychiatric diseases. CNVs associated with intellectual disability (ID) are considerably larger than those from healthy control subjects or patients with ADHD, autism and schizophrenia. Control CNVs were taken from the ISC, MGS and CLOZUK control subjects. CNV size is plotted on a logarithmic scale following the exclusion of CNVs < 100 kb. It should be noted that variations in the CNV identification methods between CNV datasets may influence the distribution of observed CNV sizes.

The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders



**Figure 3.6** The enrichment of learning-related genes in the CNVs of patients with different psychiatric diseases. Only the top 1-5% extinction-related gene sets are enriched in schizophrenia-related CNVs. For each CNV dataset, enrichment analysis was performed over the top 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% genes associated with consolidation, retrieval and extinction of fear memory. Points represent -log10(P-value)  $\times$  sgn(Z-value) following permutation correction. Dotted lines represents a P=0.05 threshold for statistical significance.

### 3.4 The enrichment of learning-related genes in schizophreniaassociated common variants

### 3.4.1 Methods

Two different analysis methods were used to investigate the enrichment of learningrelated genes in schizophrenia-associated common variants: PLINK and MAGMA. For all analyses, gene sets were the top 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25% consolidation-, retrievaland extinction-related genes.

### 3.4.1.1 Sample

SNP data from schizophrenia patients and controls was obtained from the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium (PGC) repository. The sample includes cases and controls from UK, Ireland, US, Bulgaria, Portugal, Sweden, Germany, Denmark, Norway, The Netherlands and Australia, with a total of 34,241 cases and 45,604 controls.

### 3.4.1.2 PLINK enrichment analysis

The SNPs were filtered to exclude those with an imputation score < 0.8, a minor allele frequency < 1% and those within the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) region. Consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related genes were converted to genomic locations using the genome build 37.3 seq\_gene37.3.md file. 1000 Genomes reference files (http://www.1000genomes.org) were used for linkage disequilibrium calculations. Plink's "--extract" function was used to reduce the genome reference data to regions covered by genes analysed in the microarray. The "--set-screen" function mapped the case-control SNPs to each gene set and calculated the enrichment probability. Each analysis yielded 2 *P*-values:  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ .  $P_2$  is obtained following a more stringent correction. In order to correct the *P*-values produced by this analysis, 1000 gene sets of The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders random size, consisting of genes randomly selected from the full microarray, were subjected to PLINK enrichment analysis, using a supercomputer. For each of the two levels of *P*-value stringency, a curve was fitted to the output from these analyses representing the expected *P*-value for a gene set hit by a given number of SNPs, which was used to adjust the observed *P*-values.

#### 3.4.1.3 MAGMA enrichment analysis

MAGMA (Multi-marker Analysis of GenoMic Annotation) is a gene set analysis tool developed more recently than PLINK, and provides improved statistical power and speed (de Leeuw et al., 2015). The analysis uses a multiple regression model and performs single gene analysis in conjunction with the gene set analyses for added flexibility.

Case-control SNP data was annotated with gene location using NCBI Build 37.3 gene locations. Then followed a gene-wide analysis, using the 1000 Genomes reference files (as above) for linkage disequilibrium calculations. The gene set analysis was performed using the output from the gene-wide analysis. During this analysis, MAGMA executed a correction for false discovery rate using 100,000 data permutations.

#### 3.4.2 Results

Common variant enrichment analysis performed using PLINK revealed that gene sets hit by a greater number of SNPs tended to yield a lower *P*-value (Figure 3.7a-d). *P*-values obtained from permuted gene sets fit the following models, where *n* is the number of SNPs within genes from a gene set.

 $-\log_{10}(P_1) = 0.0031n^{0.585}$  $-\log_{10}(P_2) = 0.009n^{0.4045}$ 

However, there was high variability in the *P*-values obtained from smaller gene sets (Figure 3.7d). These models were used to correct the enrichment *P*-values. After correction, there was no significant enrichment of SNPs from patients with schizophrenia in the top 5% genes associated with consolidation, retrieval or extinction of contextual fear (Figure 3.7).

Results obtained from the MAGMA common variant enrichment analysis were consistent with those observations from PLINK. No learning-related gene set had a significant enrichment of patient SNPs (Figure 3.8).



**Figure 3.7** PLINK common variant enrichment analysis of the top 1-25% genes associated with consolidation, retrieval and extinction of fear memory. Gene set size is proportional to the number of SNPs hit by it. Data represented by  $-\log_{10}(P_1)$  and  $-\log_{10}(P_2)$ . (a-c) Enrichment analysis output prior to permutation correction. (d) Permutation analysis output. 1000 gene sets of random sizes were selected from randomly permuted genes. (e-g) Permutation-corrected enrichment values. Dotted lines represent a P=0.05 threshold for statistical significance.



**Figure 3.8** MAGMA common variant enrichment analysis of the top 1-25% consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related genes. No significant enrichment of any gene set was observed. Data represented by  $-\log_1(P)$ . Dotted lines represent a P=0.05 threshold for statistical significance.

### 3.5 Discussion

The results herein show that CNVs from patients with schizophrenia selectively impact on genes related to extinction learning, implying that these structural variants may confer vulnerability to the disorder by effecting molecular pathways involved in inhibitory-type learning and thereby contributing to psychotic symptoms characteristic of schizophrenia. This relationship was observed in schizophrenia-associated CNVs only; no enrichment of consolidation-, retrieval- or extinction-related genes was observed in CNVs from patients with autism, ADHD or intellectual disability, or in common variants from patients with schizophrenia.

The link between extinction-related genes in hippocampal CA1 and schizophrenia highlighted in this study is consistent with previous work showing that patients exhibit impaired extinction of fear associations (Holt et al., 2009) and furthers the hypothesis that altered associative- and, specifically, inhibitory-type learning contributes to the manifestation of schizophrenia (Serra et al., 2001; Millan et al., 2012). It also corroborates past evidence reporting irregular hippocampal responses to fearful stimuli (Schobel et al., 2009), heightened activation of CA1 (Holt et al., 2012; Talati et al., 2014) and CA1 synaptic pathology (Matosin et al., 2016) in the disorder.

These results extend past studies linking genes involved in synaptic plasticity, associative learning and contextual conditioning to CNVs from patients with schizophrenia (Kirov et al., 2012; Pocklington et al., 2015). In contrast to these previous studies, which rely on documented annotation of individual genes, the current analysis used gene sets derived from experimental quantification by microarray. This permits the integration of genes into the analysis whose function is poorly understood and overcomes the knowledge The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders bias associated with traditional pathway analyses. However, this approach is vulnerable to false positives, due to the multiple testing involved in the microarray method, and incorporates only a select set of genes expressed at a certain time point (2 h) from a certain brain region (CA1).

The enrichment of extinction-related genes in case CNVs was observed both in the combined schizophrenia CNV dataset from three European case-control cohorts, and in each cohort individually, thereby providing internal replication and reinforcement of the main finding. Compared with the CLOZUK cohort the enrichment was less significant in GAIN and ISC cohorts, and the top 5% extinction gene set (used for primary analyses) was not significantly enriched in case CNVs, although this is unsurprising due to the smaller sample size of the GAIN and ISC case-control groups. Interestingly, within both the top 5% and top 1% gene sets, the association of individual genes with extinction learning was related to its single gene enrichment in case CNVs, whereby those more strongly associated with extinction learning were also more enriched in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia. This suggests that the main finding extends beyond the principle gene sets analyses to the single gene level. It should be noted, however, that the potential co-localisation of multiple genes from the same gene set within the same CNVs may bias this single gene relationship.

Extinction-related genes were enriched in case CNVs when deletions and duplications were analysed together and when they were analysed separately, implying that both structural variants impinge on extinction learning in schizophrenia. However, since the enrichment was most significant in deletions, these variants may contribute the most to inhibitory learning impairments. The same learning-related gene sets were also tested

for enrichment in deletions and duplications from patients with melanoma. There was no enrichment of consolidation-, retrieval- or extinction-related genes in these variants when analysed together or separately. This result supports the view that the enrichment of extinction-related genes in schizophrenia-associated CNVs is disease-specific and unlikely to be a reflection of the general properties of disease-linked CNVs.

Prior to permutation correction, observed *P*-values were inflated by the size of the gene set used in the analysis. This was confirmed by the generation and analysis of 14000 randomly permuted gene sets, which were used to resolve the influence of gene set size. The cause of the statistical inflation is likely a background enrichment within those genes which were possible to convert to human homologs for inclusion in the gene set enrichment analyses. Hence, larger gene sets incorporated more of this background signal and tended to yield smaller *P*-values. Those genes which were possible to convert to human homologus due to conservation over evolution. Since schizophrenia-related alleles are enriched in mutation-intolerant genes (Pardiñas et al., 2016), a background enrichment may have emerged from increasing the concentration of mutation-intolerant genes in the available dataset during the conversion of rat to human homologs.

I did not find a relationship between learning-related genes and CNVs from patients with autism, ADHD or intellectual disability, suggesting that the enrichment observed in schizophrenia-related CNVs does not extend to these related psychiatric disorders. This is interesting, considering the shared genetic risk and overlapping phenotypes between these disorders (Lee et al., 2013; Doherty and Owen, 2014), and implies that despite the shared genetic risk, these disorders are segregated by clusters of genetic variants

impacting on specific cognitive processes. Indeed, the link between associative learning / fear memory and schizophrenia does not extend to autism, ADHD and intellectual disability in the existing literature (Hall et al., 2009; Holt et al., 2009, 2012; Pollard et al., 2012). Still, care should be taken when comparing the results from these cross-disorder CNV-enrichment analyses since the sample sizes varied considerably. Furthermore, different CNV identification methods were used in each study, which affects the reliability of CNV calling over the range of CNV sizes. Whilst the CNV identification methods were analysis where possible, this was not true for the intellectual disability CNV cohort, since a matching control cohort did not exist, which may have created bias in the enrichment analysis.

A number of extinction-related genes driving the enrichment in schizophreniaassociated CNVs are situated within loci recurrently implicated in schizophrenia. One of the strongest contributors was the gene Claudin-5 (*CLDN5*), which lies within the recurrent CNV located at 22q11.2 and is a component of tight junctions (Escudero-Esparza et al., 2012). Interestingly, another extinction-related gene was Paracingulin (*CGNL1*) previously implicated in schizophrenia through duplications (Levinson et al., 2011; Rees et al., 2014a). Paracingulin protein is also a component of tight junctions and adherens junctions where it interacts with Rho GTPases and actin filaments (Paschoud et al., 2012). Its role in the central nervous system, however, is yet to be explored. Indeed, gene ontology analysis revealed an enrichment of genes involved in cell adhesions in the extinction-related gene set (Scholz et al., 2016).

There was no enrichment of extinction-related genes in common variants, as determined by two independent analysis methods, suggesting that these genetic

variants do not confer vulnerability to schizophrenia by influencing molecular pathways responsible for extinction learning. It is perhaps not surprising that the same gene set is not associated with both CNVs and common variants. With the exception of some broad functional annotations, such as NMDA receptor signalling, abnormal behaviour and immune function, the overlap between pathways implicated in schizophrenia through each type of genetic variant is minimal at present (Harrison, 2015). Furthermore, common variants individually confer less risk than rare variants and are less reliably attributed to specific genes (Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014). Still, several of the genes linked to schizophrenia through common variants are involved in plasticity processes (Ripke et al., 2014) and further investigation of common variants in genes associated with specific types of learning and memory is warranted.

Through the integration of human genetic data with gene expression data from model organisms, these experiments build upon previous functional studies to yield a novel insight into the link between associative learning and schizophrenia. These results imply that CNVs may confer risk for schizophrenia by impairing extinction learning, therefore contributing to the development of cognitive symptoms and the persistence of delusional beliefs. The findings have implications for the role of other types of inhibitory learning in schizophrenia and corroborate current hypotheses linking inhibitory-type learning processes to the disorder

# Chapter 4: Associative Learning by Contextual Fear Conditioning

### 4.1 Introduction

Altered associative learning and related plasticity processes have been linked to schizophrenia through genomic studies (Ripke et al., 2014; Pocklington et al., 2015) and have been proposed to contribute to the manifestation of positive symptoms (Serra et al., 2001; Corlett et al., 2009; Fletcher and Frith, 2009; Hall et al., 2009). This chapter employs the contextual fear memory paradigm in order to explore components of associative learning in the context of psychiatric disease.

### 4.1.1 Contextual fear conditioning and extinction learning

Fear conditioning is an evolutionarily-conserved behaviour, making it a suitably translational paradigm for studying the regulation and dysregulation of aversive associative memories (Milad and Quirk, 2012). Associative learning by fear conditioning has been extensively studied for over a century and its psychology has been well characterised (McGaugh, 1966; Maren et al., 2013). As described in the Chapter 3, three distinct component processes of learning can be discerned by the paradigm: consolidation of the fear memory, maintenance of the memory after retrieval ("reconsolidation") and memory extinction (Pedreira and Maldonado, 2003; Lee et al., 2004). We also know that each process is accompanied by the *de novo* expression of distinct sets of genes (Duvarci et al., 2008; Mamiya et al., 2009; Barnes et al., 2012; Scholz et al., 2016).
Both the consolidation and extinction of a fear memory are considered forms of new learning (Ochs, 1968), yet relate to behaviourally antagonistic components of Pavlovian conditioning (Pavlov, 1927). Consolidation is the time-delimited process that stabilizes an association between a neutral stimulus (conditioning stimulus, CS) and an event (unconditioned stimulus, US) such as an aversive footshock association when these stimuli are contiguous, so that presentation of the CS elicits a conditioned fear response. Extinction of conditioned fear typically occurs when the subject is re-exposed to the CS in the absence of the US repeatedly or for an extended period of time. Extinction results in the loss of the conditioned response. Importantly, however, since the consolidated CS-US association can be recovered after extinction, by re-exposure to the US, for example, such studies indicate that extinction is new learning itself, which inhibits expression of the original memory rather than erasing it (Ochs, 1968; Rescorla and Heth, 1975; Bouton, 1993; Gale et al., 2004). Poor retrieval of the extinction memory, if not due to reinstatement of the conditioned fear memory, may be due to a pathological process impairing the extinction mechanisms or the recall of the CS-no US extinction memory (Quirk and Mueller, 2008).

The potential to study consolidation, retrieval and extinction processes independently in rodents using single trials makes fear conditioning a reliable and clinically relevant behavioural paradigm. Such features also make the paradigm amenable to the administration of pharmacological agents, lending it potential for the creation of models of diseases characterised by impairments in fear learning.

#### 4.1.2 NMDA receptors in contextual fear memory and inhibitory learning

Glutamate is one of the neurotransmitter systems most frequently associated with the aetiology of schizophrenia, along with dopamine and GABA. One of the strongest sources of evidence for a role of NMDA-type glutamate receptors in schizophrenia is the observation that NMDA antagonists, such as phencyclidine (PCP) and ketamine, induce psychotic and cognitive symptoms characteristic of the disorder in healthy humans and worsen the symptoms of schizophrenia patients (Javitt and Zukin, 1991; Krystal et al., 1994; Newcomer et al., 1999). For this reason, PCP and ketamine have been used extensively in the generation of animal models of schizophrenia. Some work has been done to test the effect of these NMDA antagonists on components of associative learning, although the results have been largely inconclusive and it has principally been directed at cued tone-shock, amygdala-mediated learning, rather than single trial contextual fear conditioning mediated by the hippocampus.

Using rats, Pietersen *et al.* (2006) found that pre-training ketamine (16 mg/kg, subcutaneous) blocked fear conditioning to a tone-shock CS-US pairing and abolished the induction of amygdalar *cFos* expression (Pietersen et al., 2006). Conversely, others have found that pre-training ketamine at a lower dose (8 mg/kg, subcutaneous) or post-training with high-doses (four injections of 100/50/50/50 mg/kg spaced at 60 min intervals, intramuscular / intraperitoneal) had no effect on cued fear conditioning (Bolton et al., 2012; Groeber Travis et al., 2015). However, ketamine (8 mg/kg, subcutaneous) or microinfusion of another NMDA antagonist, 2-amino-5-phosphonovaleric acid (APV), to the prefrontal cortex profoundly impaired conditioned response in a more complex trace conditioning protocol (Gilmartin and Helmstetter,

2010; Bolton et al., 2012). Bolton *et al.* (2012) also reported that a decrease in simple contextual fear conditioning by ketamine was not statistically significant. It is likely that some of the discrepancy between these studies can be explained by dose variations or complexity of the behavioural conditioning task.

A small volume of literature exists investigating the effect of NMDA receptor manipulation on inhibitory fear learning, including extinction. High-dose ketamine administration in rats following multiple extinction trials of cued fear conditioning had no effect on subsequent freezing responses (Groeber Travis et al., 2015), while postextinction training PCP dose-dependently impaired the extinction of cued fear memory (Pollard et al., 2012). Interestingly, pre-administration of an NMDA receptor partial agonist, p-cycloserine, dose-dependently facilitated the extinction of cued fear conditioning (Walker et al., 2002). Further evidence suggests that NMDA antagonism by ketamine (25 mg/kg, intraperitoneal) or MK-801 can inhibit a second type of inhibitory fear learning known as latent inhibition (Razoux et al., 2007; Traverso et al., 2012). Latent inhibition is a process whereby extensive prior exposure to the CS in absence of the US, before pairing of the two, masks their association upon pairing. It is plausible that ketamine acts to broadly impair inhibitory-type learning, which could be a major contributor to its psychotomimetic effects.

The amygdala is central to the expression of conditioned fear responses, through its projections to the hypothalamus, periaqueductal grey and other brainstem regions (Applegate et al., 1982; Pitkänen et al., 1997). Conversely, the hippocampus is responsible for the contextual gating of fear conditioning to an explicit conditioned stimulus (Ji and Maren, 2007; Radulovic and Tronson, 2010; Tronson et al., 2012)

through direct projections to the amygdala via the pre-limbic and infralimbic cortical areas (Hugues and Garcia, 2007). Hence, the hippocampus is able to modulate fear learning and fear responses. Since context representations are an essential component of information retrieval and logical inference (Maren et al., 2013), altered hippocampal functioning may contribute to inappropriate associative learning, which in humans could translate to delusions and paranoia characteristic of schizophrenia. Indeed, substantial evidence implicates hippocampal abnormalities and impaired contextual processing in schizophrenia (Taylor et al., 2012). Here, I measured the effects of pre- and post-training ketamine (8 mg/kg and 25 mg/kg, intraperitoneal) on the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory in rats to determine the sensitivity of excitatory and inhibitory associations, respectively, to ketamine.

## 4.2 Generating context-specific fear memory

#### 4.2.1 Methods

General methodology used for contextual fear conditioning experiments is described at length in section 2.4.

Adult Lister hooded rats (275-325 g) were individually exposed to one of two novel but distinct contexts (Context A or Context B) for a 3 min conditioning training trial. Rats received a single scrambled footshock (0.5 mA for 2 sec) 2 min after being placed in the novel context. Rats were then returned to the home cages.

Contextual fear memory and the specificity of the memory was assessed by exposing the rats to either the same context within which the animal was conditioned, or a different context (n = 6 per group), during a short recall trial (2 min), 48 h later. Freezing

behaviour was recorded and assessed pre- and post-shock during the conditioning training and during the recall trial, as an index of fear behaviour.

#### 4.2.2 Results

Application of footshock increased the freezing response relative to baseline (Pre US) levels ( $F_{(1, 32)} = 480.4$ , P < 0.001, repeated measures RM ANOVA; Figure 4.1). Returning the rat to the same context 48 h later induced an increase in conditioned freezing behaviour comparable to Post US freezing (P = 0.61, paired t-test; Figure 4.1), demonstrating the recall of a conditioned fear memory. If the rat was placed into a different context to where the animal was conditioned, the freezing compared to the post-US response was reduced (P < 0.01, paired t-test; Figure 4.1). Thus, this behavioural paradigm results in fear memory recall and expression in the conditioned context only.



**Figure 4.1** Contextual fear conditioning (CFC) to a footshock (unconditioned stimulus, US). Recall of the associative memory generated by CS-US pairing is specific to the context within which the animals is conditioned and can be extinguished be a long recall trial (10 min), but not a short recall trial (2 min). Rats placed into a novel context received a 0.5 mA footshock. Conditioning and recall trials were 48 hours apart. Freezing was sampled every 10 sec. During the extinction trial, percent freezing was calculated in 2 min bins (Ext 2-Ext 10). Data represented by mean ± SEM of percent freezing response. n = 6-12.

## 4.3 Extinction of contextual fear memory

### 4.3.1 Methods

Adult Lister hooded rats (n = 6) were fear conditioned as above. Forty-eight h later, rats were returned into the same context for a long recall extinction training trial (10 min) in the absence of the US. To test for the extinction (loss of the conditioned response), rats were returned to the conditioning-extinction context for a 2 min recall test, 48 h after extinction training. Freezing behaviour was recorded as previously.

### 4.3.2 Results

Separate cohorts of fear-conditioned rats were replaced into the conditioned context for either a short recall trial (2 min) or a long recall trial (10 min). Within the long recall trial, the freezing response decreased over time ( $F_{(2.859, 31.45)} = 22.21$ , P < 0.0001, RM ANOVA; Figure 4.1). In a subsequent recall trial, 48 hours later, the freezing response was substantially reduced compared to the conditioned response (first 2 min of extinction training, Ext 2; P < 0.0001, t-test), which represents extinction of the CS-US association by the long recall trial. The short recall trial did not produce extinction (P = 0.192, t-test; Figure 4.1).

# 4.4 Investigating the effect of ketamine on the consolidation of contextual fear memory

### 4.4.1 Methods

Adult male Lister hooded rats (275-325 g) underwent a single 3 min conditioning training trial using a footshock (0.5 mA for 2 sec at 2 min). This conditioning trial was preceded by the administration of the NMDA receptor antagonist, ketamine (ketamine hydrochloride, Ketaset, Henry Schein Animal Health; 8 mg/kg or 25 mg/kg,

intraperitoneal (IP)) or saline vehicle (n = 6 per group) 30 min prior to conditioning. These doses, time scales and route of administration were chosen in accordance with previous studies (Razoux et al., 2007; Bolton et al., 2012). Contextual fear memory was tested in short recall (2 min) trials in up to three subsequent time points: 2 days (Recall 1), 4 days (Recall 2) and 7 days (Recall 3) post-conditioning. Ketamine or vehicle was administered 30 min prior to the recall trials. Freezing behaviour was recorded during all training and recall trials.

#### 4.4.2 Results

#### 4.4.2.1 High dose ketamine pre-treatment creates a state-dependent fear memory

A footshock stimulus induced a robust freezing response in both vehicle- and 25 mg/kg ketamine-treated animals ( $F_{(1, 10)} = 91.63$ , P < 0.0001, two-way RM ANOVA; Figure 4.2a). There was no effect of treatment on freezing response ( $F_{(1, 10)} = 1.003e-013$ , P = 1, two-way RM ANOVA), indicating that ketamine-treated rats exhibit a normal level of baseline freezing and are able to acquire a contextual fear memory comparably to control subjects. In a first test phase, 48 h later, rats pre-treated with 25 mg/kg ketamine prior to conditioning displayed substantially less freezing than their control counterparts (P < 0.0001, t-test; Figure 4.2a), demonstrating that these animals failed to recall a fear memory and hints towards a failure to consolidate the memory in the presence of ketamine. However, when the same animals were re-exposed to the same context following the administration of the same dose of ketamine, their freezing response was not different from control levels (P = 0.24, t-test; Figure 4.2a). In a subsequent recall trial, without the administration of ketamine, the two groups were discernible once more: rats treated with ketamine prior to conditioning showed reduced freezing

compared to controls (P < 0.01, t-test; Figure 4.2a). These results suggest that fear conditioning in the presence of 25 mg/kg ketamine induces a state-dependent memory, which is only recalled upon exposure to the context following the re-administration of ketamine and hence the return to the previously-experienced state.



**Figure 4.2** The effect of ketamine on contextual fear conditioning. (a) 25 mg/kg ketamine induced the generation of a state-dependent contextual fear memory. Ketamine (25 mg/kg) or saline vehicle were administered IP 30 min before conditioning and recall trial 2 (indicated by arrows). n = 6. (b) 8 mg/kg does not induce the creation of a state-dependent contextual fear memory. Ketamine (8 mg/kg) or saline vehicle was administered IP 30 min before conditioning and recall trials, indicated by arrows. n = 4. (a, b) Data represented by mean ± SEM of percent freezing response..

## 4.4.2.2 Low dose ketamine does not affect contextual fear conditioning

I next sought to probe the effect of a lower dose of ketamine on memory consolidation, with the aim to avoid the induction of a state-dependent memory. Rats were conditioned following the administration of 8 mg/kg ketamine and were given a recall trial 48 h later following either 8 mg/kg ketamine or vehicle. There was no effect of treatment on the freezing response ( $F_{(1, 6)} = 0.8745$ , P = 0.39, RM ANOVA; Figure 4.2b), indicating that this dose of ketamine does not generate a state-dependent contextual fear memory, and retrieval is solely dependent on exposure to the physical context.

# 4.5 Investigating the effect of ketamine on the extinction of contextual fear memory

#### 4.5.1 Methods

All rats underwent a 3 min contextual fear conditioning training trial by footshock (0.5 mA for 2 sec at 2 min), a long recall trial (10 min) 2 days after conditioning (extinction) and two short recall trials (2 min) at 4 days and 7 days after conditioning. Ketamine (8 mg/kg or 25 mg/kg) or saline vehicle were administrated either 30 min before or immediately after trials (n = 6 per group). Freezing behaviour was recorded for all trials.

### 4.5.2 Results

In order to assess the effect of ketamine on the extinction of fear memory, rats underwent contextual fear conditioning followed by an extinction trial 48 h afterwards. Since 25 mg/kg induces a state-dependent memory, ketamine at this dose, or saline vehicle, was administered before both trials. In a separate cohort, 8 mg/kg ketamine or saline vehicle was administered prior to extinction. Extinction training caused a reduction in freezing behaviour over time in all treatment groups, as shown by the difference in freezing response between the first and last 2 min period of the extinction trial (25 mg/kg P < 0.0001, 8 mg/kg P < 0.0001, RM ANOVA; Figure 4.3a, b). Recall of the extinction memory was assessed following the administration of either ketamine or vehicle. By comparing freezing during the last 2 min of the extinction trial to the first recall trial, a statistically significant interaction between treatment and learning phase was observed, at both doses (25 mg/kg  $F_{(2, 15)}$  = 11.59, P < 0.001, 8 mg/kg  $F_{(3, 20)}$  = 3.471, P < 0.05, RM ANOVA). To improve the validity of post-hoc testing, freezing responses were normalized to those exhibited during the Post-US phase (Figure 4.3c, d) and the data grouped by pre-extinction treatment (Figure 4.3e, f). In recall trials, rats treated with either 25 mg/kg or 8 mg/kg ketamine prior to extinction exhibited greater freezing compared to controls (25 mg/kg P < 0.001; 8 mg/kg P < 0.01, t-tests; Figure 4.3e, f) indicating that, at these doses, ketamine blocks the extinction of contextual fear memory. At the higher dose, subsequent administration of a different treatment given prior to conditioning reversed the elevation of freezing response (Saline vs Ketamine P = 0.42, t-test; Figure 4.3e), presumably due to state-dependency of the fear memory. The ketamine-induced impairment in fear extinction at 8 mg/kg persisted in a second recall trial (P < 0.05, t-test; Figure 4.3f).

In order to investigate whether ketamine impairs extinction learning due to its action during the acquisition of new learning or because of its action during the memory consolidation processes that occur after the trial, ketamine (25 mg/kg) or vehicle was administered immediately after conditioning and extinction trials. Post-conditioning ketamine had no effect on freezing during the first two minutes of the long recall trial ( $F_{(2, 15)} = 0.4050$ , P = 0.17, ANOVA; Figure 4.4b), indicating that there was no effect of the

drug on memory consolidation. The extinction trial caused a decrease of freezing response in all treatment groups ( $F_{(1, 15)} = 53.62$ , P < 0.0001, RM ANOVA). Post-extinction ketamine had no effect on total freezing during subsequent recall trials (Recall 1  $F_{(2, 15)} = 0.07557$ , P = 0.93; Recall 2  $F_{(2, 15)} = 1.122$ , P = 0.35, one-way ANOVA, normalised data; Figure 4.4b). These results indicate that ketamine impairs fear extinction memory only when present during the acquisition of new learning.



### Associative Learning by Contextual Fear Conditioning

**Figure 4.3** Ketamine impairs the extinction of contextual fear memory. Displayed are the first (Ext Start) and last (Ext End) 2 mins of the extinction trial (10 min). 25 mg/kg (**a**, **c**, **e**) or 8 mg/kg (**b**, **d**, **f**) ketamine or saline vehicle was administered IP 30 min before trials indicated by red arrows. n = 6. (**a**, **c**, **e**) In recall trials, ketamine-treated rats received either the same (Recall 1) or different (Recall2) administration to that received prior to conditioning. The same data is presented in three ways, replicated vertically: (**a**, **b**) Data represented by mean ± SEM of percent freezing response. (**c**, **d**) Data normalised to Post-US freezing response. (**e**, **f**) Data grouped by pre-extinction saline- and ketamine-treatment.



**Figure 4.4** Post-trial administration of 25 mg/kg ketamine has no effect on the consolidation or extinction of contextual fear memory. Displayed are the first (Ext Start) and last (Ext End) 2 mins of the extinction trial. Ketamine (25 mg/kg) or saline vehicle was administered IP immediately after each trial, indicated by arrows. n = 6. (a) Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM of percent freezing response. (b) Data normalised to Post-US freezing.

#### 4.6 Discussion

One of the biggest advantages of a one-trial learning paradigm for research is its amenability to pharmacological interrogation. In these experiments, a contextual fear conditioning protocol is presented as a reliable one-trial learning paradigm in which rats undergo the consolidation of contextual fear memory in a single CS-US pairing, before context-dependent retrieval of that fear memory in a recall trial 48 h later, as manifested by quantifiable freezing behaviour. A single long recall trial induced extinction of the fear memory, which was confirmed by reduced freezing in a subsequent recall trial.

The pharmacological experiments herein show that systemic administration of the NMDA antagonist, ketamine, prior to consolidation generates a state-dependent fear memory at 25 mg/kg – that is, the rats were better able to recall association information about the context when they were subjected to the same internal context to which the information was acquired in. It has been shown previously that ketamine can induce state-dependent retrieval (Oberling et al., 1996), and indeed from use at this dose and route of administration (Aguado et al., 1994). Just as this result informed subsequent experiments herein, it too has implications for the use of this dose in other studies, particularly those which fail to control for state-dependent effects. For example, the finding that 25 mg/kg intraperitoneal ketamine blocked latent inhibition of conditioned fear (Razoux et al., 2007) may be confounded by a change of internal context from CS pre-exposure to CS-US conditioning, since the study did not include a group administered with ketamine prior to both learning phases.

Ketamine did not affect the conditioned response when it was administered before or immediately after fear conditioning, indicating that the treatment had no effect on the

acquisition or consolidation of the associative memory. This is consistent with the small amount of existing literature on contextual fear learning (Bolton et al., 2012) and parallels the majority of findings from cued fear learning (Bolton et al., 2012; Groeber Travis et al., 2015). However, inconsistencies in dose, protocol and the potential for state-dependency make it difficult to compare the data.

Acute ketamine administration may elicit a worse model of psychiatric pathology than chronic administration. Amann et al used chronic ketamine to investigate the effect of prolonged NMDA receptor antagonism on contextual fear conditioning in mice. They report that whilst two weeks of daily ketamine administrations prior to conditioning had no effect on freezing response, a further two weeks of chronic ketamine impaired retrieval of the conditioned memory (Amann et al., 2009). Equally, the psychotomimetic effects of NMDA antagonists may be more pronounced when the drug is administered to coincide with a critical developmental period. Indeed, neonatal PCP treatment is frequently used as a model of schizophrenia phenotypes (Jones et al., 2011; Clifton et al., 2013). Consistent with this approach, the neonatal treatment of mice with PCP impaired conditioned fear when tested at P60 (Yuede et al., 2010). It is important to note, however, that in humans a single administration of ketamine or PCP is sufficient to induce schizophrenia-like phenotypes (Javitt and Zukin, 1991; Krystal et al., 1994; Newcomer et al., 1999).

Our results indicate that ketamine selectively impairs the extinction of contextual fear memory. This finding is consistent with previous reports that NMDA receptor activation is required for fear extinction (Burgos-Robles et al., 2007; Sotres-Bayon et al., 2007). This finding was not due to underlying effects of the treatment on baseline or conditioned

freezing responses, since there was no difference in pre-US and post-US freezing between saline- and ketamine-treated groups. Ketamine at 25 mg/kg and 8 mg/kg did not influence within-session freezing response during the long recall trial, suggesting that ketamine has no effect on the acquisition of extinction learning and instead mediates its effects by interfering with molecular processes responsible for the subsequent "consolidation" of extinction memory. However, administration of ketamine immediately after extinction training did not induce the same deficit. Therefore, extinction memory is only impaired when ketamine is present during the acquisition of extinction. This is contradictory to reports of the effect of ketamine and PCP administration following the extinction of cued fear memory (Pollard et al., 2012; Groeber Travis et al., 2015), which may highlight mechanistic differences between the involvement of NMDA receptors in the molecular processes required for hippocampaland amygdalar-mediated extinction learning.

Due to the state-dependent effects of 25 mg/kg ketamine observed previously, extinction experiments were performed on cohorts of rats that were conditioned in the presence and absence of ketamine. The increase in fear memory retrieval in ketamine-treated rats only occurred when an equivalent pre-administration was given to that prior to conditioning, which was to be expected given the state-dependency. However, the conditioned response was elevated regardless of whether the rats were administered with ketamine prior to extinction and recall trials or just extinction, making it unlikely that the apparent extinction deficit is explained by state-dependency of the extinction memory. In support of this, 8 mg/kg ketamine, which does not induce state-dependent retrieval of contextual fear conditioning, also impaired extinction.

Whilst this is, to my knowledge, the first time that ketamine has been shown to selectively impair the extinction of contextual fear memory, the same 25 mg/kg dose of ketamine has been found to impair inhibitory fear learning in other studies. One such study examined the effect of ketamine on latent inhibition, which refers to the weakening of a CS-US association due to extensive pre-exposure to the CS in the absence of the US, before conditioning. In this study, ketamine administration prior to CS preexposure abolished latent inhibition of conditioned fear, which was correlated with increased extracellular glutamate in the nucleus accumbens and increased synaptic efficacy in the prefrontal-accumbens pathway (Razoux et al., 2007). The same effect was also observed following administration of the NMDA receptor antagonist MK-801 (Traverso et al., 2012). This is understandable, considering the overlap in molecular requirement for extinction and latent inhibition (Barad et al., 2004). Together, these results imply that NMDA antagonism by ketamine and related psychotomimetic drugs may have a selective effect on inhibitory fear learning processes. This is consistent with a substantial body of evidence proposing that altered inhibitory learning may contribute to the development of psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia (Serra et al., 2001; Holt et al., 2009; Millan et al., 2012), as discussed previously (Section 3.5), and reinforces the translational validity of rodent ketamine administration as a model of schizophrenia-like phenotypes.

It is feasible to suggest that rather than blocking extinction learning, the increased freezing response observed during recall is instead due to an enhancement in the retrieval of the original CS-US association. Indeed, in humans, ketamine administration leads to stronger fear conditioning (Corlett et al., 2013), which could reflect the

emergence of delusional beliefs in schizophrenia. However, when rats were administered with saline prior to extinction and 8 mg/kg ketamine prior to retrieval, the freezing response was comparable to animals treated with saline before both trials, indicating that ketamine had no effect on retrieval at this dose. Whilst the same comparison cannot be made for the higher ketamine dose, rats treated with 25 mg/kg prior to conditioning and retrieval exhibited no greater freezing response than control subjects. It appears therefore, that the effects of ketamine observed herein are due to NMDA receptor antagonism during extinction acquisition.

## Chapter 5: The Regulation of Postsynaptic Density Homer1 Proteins by Associative Learning

## 5.1 Introduction

As addressed in previous chapters, converging genetic evidence points towards postsynaptic density proteins in the aetiology of schizophrenia (Kirov et al., 2012; Fromer et al., 2014) and particularly those involved in the regulation of associative learning (Pocklington et al., 2015). In Chapter 3, an enrichment of genes involved in a particular component of associative learning, extinction, in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia was found. Within the set of extinction-related genes was *Homer1*, a protein with key roles at the postsynaptic density and in the control of synaptic plasticity, learning and memory (see Literature Review Section 1.4). Furthermore, Homer1 has previously been linked to several psychiatric diseases, including schizophrenia (Norton et al., 2003; Spellmann et al., 2011; Matosin et al., 2016).

5.1.1 Postsynaptic density Homer proteins in psychiatric disease, learning and memory The Homer1 gene codes for several isoforms, most of which are long and constitutively expressed whilst two shorter isoforms, Homer1a and Ania-3, are activity-induced immediate early genes (Fagni et al., 2002). All Homer1 isoforms share the same binding domain, and hence have common targets (Hayashi et al., 2009), although, upon the recruitment to the postsynaptic density, short Homers disrupt interactions of the long Homers through dominant negative regulation (Xiao et al., 1998; Kammermeier and

#### The Regulation of Postsynaptic Density Homer1 Proteins by Associative Learning

Worley, 2007). It is understood that, through this mechanism, Homer1a and Ania-3 regulate mGluR function (Tu et al., 1999; Bertaso et al., 2010; Sylantyev et al., 2013) and calcium homeostasis (Kim et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2007; Yuan et al., 2012).

Homer1 has been linked to schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders. Homer1 protein is decreased in the post-mortem hippocampus of patients with schizophrenia (Engmann et al., 2011) and the frontal cortex of autistic patients (Fatemi et al., 2013). A more recent study similarly found a decrease in long Homer1 isoforms in post-mortem CA1 from patients with schizophrenia, but an increase in Homer1a (Matosin et al., 2016), suggesting that these patients had a higher ratio of short to long Homer1 protein in this hippocampal subregion. Furthermore, Homer1a and Ania-3 are induced rapidly by psychoactive compounds (Szumlinski and Kippin, 2008), such as ketamine (lasevoli et al., 2007; De Bartolomeis et al., 2013) and cocaine (Brakeman et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 2007; Ghasemzadeh et al., 2009).

Genetic variants within the *HOMER1* gene have been associated with schizophrenia (Norton et al., 2003; Spellmann et al., 2011) and other psychiatric disorders (Rietschel et al., 2010a; Kelleher et al., 2012; Strauss et al., 2012), although more recent genomewide association studies do not find a link between *HOMER1* SNPs and schizophrenia (Ripke et al., 2014). Still, Homer1 functionally interacts with proteins recurrently linked to schizophrenia, such as FMRP (Ronesi et al., 2012; Fromer et al., 2014; Ripke et al., 2014), Arc (Vazdarjanova et al., 2002; Kirov et al., 2012) and the calcium channel subunit CaV1.2 (Huang et al., 2007; Ripke et al., 2014).

Alterations of short Homer1 expression have been shown to affect synaptic strength. Overexpression of Homer1a in the hippocampus induces a glutamate-independent

#### The Regulation of Postsynaptic Density Homer1 Proteins by Associative Learning

modulation of surface AMPA receptors (Hennou et al., 2003; Sala et al., 2003; Hu et al., 2010; Rozov et al., 2012), reduced GluA2 subunit tyrosine phosphorylation (Hu et al., 2010) and blockade of long-term potentiation (Celikel et al., 2007; Rozov et al., 2012). It is considered that the ratio of short to long Homer1 in dendritic spines is a key mediator of AMPA currents (Gray et al., 2003; Van Keuren-Jensen and Cline, 2006). Other studies have shown that hippocampal Homer1a overexpression impairs spatial working and reference memory (Klugmann et al., 2005; Celikel et al., 2007), whilst knocking out Homer1 short forms causes deficits in fear conditioning (Inoue et al., 2009b; Mahan et al., 2012). However, the respective roles of Homer1a and Ania-3 in learning and memory cannot yet be distinguished.

Whilst there has been substantial investigation of the induction of Homer1 isoforms following exposure to psychoactive compounds (e.g. Nichols et al., 2003; lasevoli et al., 2007; de Bartolomeis et al., 2013) and environmental stressors (e.g. Igaz et al., 2004; Ary et al., 2007) in rodents, fewer studies have focussed on its expression after learning. Hernandez et al (2006) demonstrated that the corticostriatal expression pattern of Homer1a varies with successive trial of instrumental learning (Hernandez et al., 2006). More recently, Mahan et al (2012) reported that *de novo* Homer1a expression occurs in the hippocampus and amygdala of mice following fear conditioning (Mahan et al., 2012). However, the induction of *Ania-3* with learning, or the examination of learning phase-specific expression, such as extinction learning, of either isoform, has yet to be studied.

## 5.1.2 Further dissecting the molecular correlates of associative learning: the context pre-exposure facilitation effect

In order to explore the contribution from activity-induced Homer1 proteins to different components of associative fear learning, I quantified the respective expression patterns of Homer1 isoforms after the consolidation, retrieval and extinction of conditioned fear memory. To enable further interrogation of the precise role of these proteins in memory consolidation, I employed a protocol which separates the contextual fear conditioning paradigm into its constitutive parts. In the context pre-exposure facilitation effect (CPFE) protocol, learning about the context and associating the contextual memory with a footshock occur during separate, consecutive training events. Since context encoding is necessary for context conditioning (Fanselow, 1990), only rats that are pre-exposed to the same context they are subsequently given an immediate shock in undergo associative fear learning about the context. Thus, immediate early gene expression related to exposure to a novel context versus the context-shock association can be quantified independently (Fanselow, 1990; Asok et al., 2013).

# 5.2 Determining the regulation of *Homer1* expression by contextual fear memory conditioning

### 5.2.1 Methods

The general methodology for contextual fear conditioning, *in situ* hybridization and immunoblotting is described in full in sections 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6, respectively. Contextual fear conditioning behaviour described in section 5.2.1.1 was performed by Dr K Thomas and Dr S Trent. The generation of coronal brain section libraries from these animals was performed in collaboration with Miss L Sykes.

#### 5.2.1.1 Behaviour

To investigate memory consolidation-induced gene expression of Homer1, adult Lister Hooded rats (n = 6) were subjected to a conditioning training trial (3 min novel context exposure with 2 sec 0.5 mA footshock at 2 min). Rats were killed by  $CO_2$  inhalation 30 min, 2 h, 4 h or 24 h after conditioning (n = 6 per group), in order to capture the rapid and slower induction of mRNA species and to observe their regulation over time. Control subjects were naïve littermates, killed at the same time of day as those undergoing fear conditioning.

Whole brains were immediately dissected and snap frozen on dry ice before storage at -80°C until use in *in situ* hybridization.

#### 5.2.1.2 In situ hybridization

Oligonucleotide probes were designed to target specific mRNA sequences of interest. Since it was necessary to target individual Homer isoforms, a tool was developed in MATLAB to select optimal nucleotide sequences for generating probes. Table 5.1 shows the oligonucleotide probes sequences that were designed to target *Homer1a* and *Ania-3*, as well as a pan-probe for the long isoforms of the Homer1 gene. The rat Homer1 mRNA sequence used has accession number NM\_031707.

Coronal brain sections (14  $\mu$ m) containing dorsal regions of the hippocampus were cut, thaw-mounted onto glass slides and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde prior to dehydration in ethanol and storage in 95% ethanol at 4°C, as described. Oligonucleotide probes were end-labelled with <sup>35</sup>S-dATP, before being hybridised to the tissue sections (see section 2.5.4). For each subject, two sections were incubated with radiolabelled probe whilst one section was incubated with 100X excess of un-labelled probe, as a negative control

### The Regulation of Postsynaptic Density Homer1 Proteins by Associative Learning

(see General Methods). Bound radiolabelled probe, corresponding to mRNA quantity, was measured using radiographic film. Exposure times were as follows: *Homer1a*, 5 days; *Ania-3*, 10 days; long *Homer1*, 7 days. Films were developed and regional mRNA expression quantified by sampling the densitometry from the autoradiograph.

Target mRNA	Oligonucleotide probe sequence	Max non- specific homology
Homer1 a	CATGATTGCTGAATTGAATGTGTACCTATGTGAAAATGGCAATGC	62%
Ania-3	GGTAGGGCGGAGGATTCATGACAGACAATACATGAACTTGGGCAG	53%
Long Homer1	CTCTGTCTTGTGGCTGTGCACCGCGTTTGCTTGACTACTAACACA	47%

**Table 5.1** Specific 45mer oligonucleotide probe sequences targeting Homer1 isoforms. Probes were designed with a CG:AT ratio close to 1 and without long trains of the same nucleotide. Max non-specific homology denotes the maximum sequence homology with other Homer isoforms. The rat Homer1 accession number is NM\_031707.

## 5.2.2 Results

## 5.2.2.1 Regional expression of Homer1

*In situ* hybridization yielded quantifiable autoradiographs, such as those in Figure 5.1, which show the expression of the short Homer1 isoforms, *Homer1a* and *Ania-3*, and the long isoforms (*Homer1b/c/f/g*) across coronal sections of rat brain at approximately -3.5 mm posterior to bregma. Each isoform is strongly expressed in cortical and hippocampal regions of this section, as well as some areas surrounding the basolateral amygdala. Within the hippocampus, Homer1 isoforms are expressed strongly throughout, with the exception of *Homer1a*, which shows weak expression in the dentate gyrus (Figure 5.1). These expression patterns are consistent with those observed previously, using similar methods (lasevoli et al., 2010).



**Figure 5.1** Regional expression of Homer1 isoforms. Coronal sections of rat brain taken from approximate location from bregma: -3.5 mm posterior. Short isoforms, *Homer1a* and *Ania-3*, and long isoforms, *Homer1b/c/f/g*, are expressed throughout hippocampal regions CA1, CA3 and dentate gyrus.

## 5.2.2.2 Differential regulation of short and long Homer1 isoforms following contextual fear memory training

During contextual fear conditioning training, rats displayed robust post-shock freezing, compared to baseline (*P* < 0.001, t-test; Figure 5.2). Hippocampal expression of Homer1 transcripts was visualised over 24 h following the acquisition of contextual fear memory (Figure 5.3). Quantitative analysis showed that the expression of both short Homer1 isoforms, Homer1a and Ania-3, was increased by fear conditioning, compared to naïve controls (effect of group: *Homer1a* F<sub>(5, 90)</sub> = 21.70, *P* < 0.001; *Ania-3* F<sub>(5, 90)</sub> = 30.17, *P* < 0.001, two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.4a,b). The expression of long Homer1 isoforms, as indicated by a pan-Homer1b/c/f/q oligonucleotide probe, was unchanged from naïve controls ( $F_{(5, 90)}$  = 1.31, P = 0.27; Figure 5.3, Figure 5.4c). For Homer1a and Ania-3 isoforms, there was a significant effect of hippocampal subregion (Homer1a  $F_{(2, 90)}$  = 6.30, P < 0.01; Ania-3  $F_{(2,90)} = 5.34$ , P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA), indicating that the change in Homer1a and Ania-3 expression following conditioning was not uniform across the hippocampus. Post-hoc tests indicated that Homer1a expression was increased in the CA1 region at 30 min (P < 0.001, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test), 2 h (P < 0.05) and 4 h (P < 0.05) after conditioning and in the dentate gyrus at 30 min only (P < 0.001; Figure 5.4a), but not CA3. Conversely, Ania-3 expression was increased in all three hippocampal regions, yet solely at the 30 min time point: CA1 (P < 0.001, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test), CA3 (P < 0.05), dentate gyrus (P < 0.001; Figure 5.3, Figure 5.4b). At 24 h after conditioning, neither Homer1a nor Ania-3 mRNA levels differed from control in any of the regions investigated.



**Figure 5.2** Contextual fear conditioning induced robust post-shock freezing. Rats were exposed to a novel context for 3 min and received a footshock after 2 min. Data representative of all experimental groups culled 30 min, 2 h, 4 h and 24 h after conditioning for *in situ* hybridization and immunoblotting (n = 6). Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM percent freezing.



**Figure 5.3** Heat map hippocampal autoradiograph of representative mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 following contextual fear conditioning. False-colour heat map indicates the optical density of the autoradiograph, which represents the level of gene expression in that region. Specifically designed oligonucleotide probes were radiolabelled with dATP-<sup>35</sup>S. Times indicate the duration after contextual fear conditioning that the animals were culled and the brains dissected. Note that the method does not allow one to compare the relative expression levels of genes of interest in a subregion.



**Figure 5.4** Hippocampal mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 following contextual fear conditioning (CFC). mRNA expression from the CA1, CA3 and dentate gyrus (DG) regions is represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM standardised optical density values, standardised to naïve controls (100%). Brains were dissected 30 min, 2 h, 4 h or 24 h after conditioning. n=6 per group. Asterisks represent significance of group vs. naïve control (\**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001).

#### 5.3 The regulation of short Homer1 isoforms by novelty exposure

#### 5.3.1 Methods

In order to determine Homer expression following uniquely the exposure to novelty, Lister Hooded rats (n = 6) were placed in a novel context for 3 min without the administration of a footshock. Subjects were killed by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation 30 min after context exposure. These were compared to a cohort of naïve rats (n = 6), as well as rats which had undergone a conditioning training trial and killed at the same time point (n = 6). Whole brains were immediately dissected and snap frozen on dry ice before storage at -80°C. *In situ* hybridization, targeting *Homer1a*, *Ania-3* and long *Homer1*, was performed as above.

#### 5.3.2 Results

The previous experiments show that both *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* are induced in the hippocampus by contextual fear conditioning. Since this procedure involves the exposure of the animal to a novel context, and past studies have shown Homer1a to be upregulated by novelty alone (Vazdarjanova et al., 2002), the expression of *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* was compared 30 min after novelty and fear conditioning in separate cohorts. I again show that contextual fear conditioning induced the expression of both short Homer1 isoforms, compared to naïve controls (effect of group: *Homer1a*  $F_{(1, 30)} = 20.26$ , *P* < 0.001; *Ania-3*  $F_{(1, 30)} = 27.08$ , *P* < 0.001, two-way ANOVA). Exposure to a novel context for 3 min was sufficient to induce the expression of *Homer1a* (effect of group:  $F_{(1, 30)} = 35.95$ , *P* < 0.001, two-way ANOVA) and *Ania-3* ( $F_{(1, 30)} = 25.98$ , *P* < 0.001), but not the long Homer1 isoforms ( $F_{(1, 30)} = 2.62$ , *P* = 0.12). Novelty exposure increased *Ania-3* expression in each hippocampal subregion (CA1 *P* < 0.001, CA3 *P* < 0.05, DG *P* < 0.05,

Tukey's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.5b), while *Homer1a* was induced in the CA1 (P < 0.001) and dentate gyrus (P < 0.001), but not in CA3 (P = 0.43; Figure 5.5a). The change in hippocampal *Ania-3* expression did not differ between the fear conditioned and novelty-exposed groups. Interestingly, novelty exposure alone induced a greater expression of *Homer1a* in the dentate gyrus than fear conditioning (P < 0.05, Tukey's multiple comparisons test).


**Figure 5.5** mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 following exposure to a novel context or contextual fear conditioning (CFC). mRNA expression is represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM standardised optical density values, standardised to naïve controls (100%). Brains were dissected 30 min after context exposure. n = 6 per group. Asterisks represent significance of group vs. naïve control (\**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001). Hash symbol represents significance of group vs. novelty (<sup>#</sup>*P* < 0.05).

5.4 Determining the regulation of Homer1 expression using the Context Pre-exposure Facilitation Effect (CPFE) behavioural model of contextual fear conditioning

### 5.4.1 Methods

In an immediate shock paradigm, Lister Hooded rats were exposed to one of two different contexts, context A or context B, for 20 min/day for three consecutive days, in order to familiarise the animals to one context. On the fourth day, rats were placed into either their familiar context or the novel context. One group (n = 6) was placed into the familiar context (context pre-exposure facilitation effect, or CPFE group) and received a footshock (0.5 mA, 2 sec) immediately and then removed. Two groups (n = 6 per group) were placed into the novel context for the same short duration: one group received a footshock whilst the other group did not. Groups were counterbalanced between the two contexts. Rats were killed by  $CO_2$  inhalation 30 min after the final context exposure. Control subjects were naïve littermates. Whole brains were rapidly dissected and snap frozen on dry ice before storage at -80°C. *In situ* hybridization, targeting *Homer1a*, *Ania-3* and long Homer1, was performed as above.

#### 5.4.2 Results

In order to determine whether *Homer1a* or *Ania-3* are induced specifically by associative learning or by the novelty exposure associated with the standard contextual fear conditioning paradigm I used a context pre-exposure facilitation effect (CPFE) procedure to further dissect the regulation of short Homer1 isoforms by training. Training was split into three components: brief exposure to a novel context with no presentation of the unconditioned stimulus (Novelty); immediate footshock given upon exposure to a novel context (Novelty IS); brief exposure to a familiar context with an immediate footshock (CPFE). Only the CPFE procedure is sufficient to generate an associative contextfootshock fear memory (Fanselow, 1990). Thirty minutes following training, the induction of *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* within the hippocampus was subregion-dependent (effect of brain region: *Homer1a*  $F_{(2, 60)} = 11.62$ , P < 0.001; *Ania-3*  $F_{(2, 60)} = 4.60 P < 0.05$ ). Compared to naïve controls, the expression of both *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* was increased following each stimulus, irrespective of context-footshock pairing, but only in the CA1 region (*Homer1a*: Novelty P < 0.001, Novelty IS P < 0.001, CPFE P < 0.01; *Ania-3*: Novelty P < 0.05, Novelty IS P < 0.01, CFPE P < 0.05, two-way ANOVA with post-hoc Dunnett's multiple comparisons test; Figure 5.6). These results imply that short Homer1 isoforms are induced in some regions of the hippocampus by constitutive events of the fear conditioning procedure, but not by associative learning *per se*. Long Homer1 isoforms remained unchanged in all experimental groups.



**Figure 5.6** Hippocampal mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 following a brief exposure to a novel context (Novelty), brief novel context exposure with an immediate footshock (Novelty IS) and brief exposure to a familiar context with an immediate footshock (context preexposure facilitation effect, CPFE). mRNA expression is represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM standardised optical density values, standardised to naïve controls (100%). Brains were dissected 30 min after context exposure. n = 6 per group. Asterisks represent significance of group vs. naïve control (\**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001).

# 5.5 Differential expression of short and long Homer1 isoforms following contextual fear memory retrieval and extinction

#### 5.5.1 Methods

Associative fear memory retrieval and extinction behavioural testing and subsequent generation of a coronal brain section library were performed previously by Dr K Thomas. Rats were subjected to a conditioning training trial followed by either a short recall trial (2 min) or a long recall trial (10 min), 48 h later. Rats were killed by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation 30 min or 2 h after testing (n = 6 per group). Conditioned control rats underwent a conditioning training trial and were killed 48 h later (n = 6). Whole brains were rapidly dissected and snap frozen on dry ice before storage at -80°C. *In situ* hybridization, targeting *Homer1a*, *Ania-3* and long Homer1, was performed as above.

#### 5.5.2 Results

In order to investigate whether short Homer1 isoforms are induced in the hippocampus by other contextual encoding processes, gene expression was quantified after the recall (retrieval) and extinction of contextual fear. All groups displayed robust post-shock freezing (effect of time:  $F_{(1, 33)} = 385.5$ , P < 0.001, two-way repeated measures ANOVA) and extinction training induced a within-trial reduction of freezing (P < 0.001, paired ttest; Figure 5.7). Re-exposure to the context modified the expression of *Homer1a* (effect of group:  $F_{(4, 147)} = 12.05$ , P < 0.001, two-way ANOVA) and *Ania-3* ( $F_{(4, 147)} = 20.75$ , P <0.001). For all three targets, there was no effect of brain region on gene expression, nor was there an interaction effect. Following a 2 min recall trial, which is not sufficient to induce extinction (Barnes and Thomas, 2008), *Homer1a* expression was increased at 30 min (P < 0.05, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test) and at 2 h in CA1 (P < 0.001) and at 2 h only in the dentate gyrus (P < 0.001; Figure 5.8a). Conversely, *Ania-3* expression was upregulated at 30 min in all three hippocampal regions: CA1 (P < 0.01, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test), CA3 (P < 0.05) and dentate gyrus (P < 0.01; Figure 5.8b), but not at 2 h.

Extinction induced a similar pattern of *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* expression. *Homer1a* expression was increased in all hippocampal regions at 30 min (CA1 *P* < 0.01, CA3 *P* < 0.01, DG *P* < 0.05, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test) and 2 h (*P* < 0.001 all instances; Figure 5.8a) after extinction training. Again, *Ania-3* expression was solely increased at 30 min, and in all regions (CA1 *P* < 0.001, CA3 *P* < 0.05, DG *P* < 0.001; Figure 5.8b). There were no significant differences between the recall- and extinction-induced expression of either short Homer1 isoform (two-way ANOVA). Despite a significant modulation of the expression of the longer Homer1 isoforms by context re-exposure (F(4, 93) = 12.05, P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA), there were no post-hoc differences observed in multiple comparison tests (Dunnett; Figure 5.8c).



**Figure 5.7** In the retrieval and extinction of contextual fear memory, rats displayed robust conditioned freezing and an extinguished response after long recall (10 min). Retrieval and extinction (Ext) training took place 48 h after conditioning. Control, "no recall" animals were conditioned and culled 48 h afterwards. Data representative of experimental groups culled 30 min and 2 h after retrieval and extinction for *in situ* hybridization or immunoblotting (n = 12). Data represented by mean ± SEM percent freezing normalised to post-unconditioned stimulus (US) levels.



**Figure 5.8** mRNA expression of Homer1a, Ania-3 and long Homer1 in the hippocampus following the recall or extinction of contextual fear memory. mRNA expression is represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM standardised optical density values, standardised to no recall controls (100%). Brains were taken 30 min or 2 h after reexposure. n = 6-12 per group. Asterisks represent significance of group vs. no recall control (\**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001).

# 5.6 Quantification of Homer1a protein following contextual fear conditioning and extinction

# 5.6.1 Methods

## 5.6.1.1 Behaviour

For protein quantification assays, separate cohorts of rats underwent either contextual fear conditioning or conditioning training with 10 min recall trial 48 h later, in order to measure protein changes associated with the consolidation and extinction of fear memory, respectively. Rats were then killed 2 h (n = 6 per group) or 4 h (n = 6 per group) after training. Conditioning only control subjects were naïve rats and extinction controls underwent conditioning training but no recall (killed 48 h post-conditioning).

Rats were killed by  $CO_2$  inhalation and whole hippocampi were rapidly micro-dissected and snap frozen before storage at -80°C until Western blotting.

# 5.6.1.2 Immunoblotting

For each subject, the hippocampus from one hemisphere was used to produce whole tissue hippocampal homogenates and the contralateral hippocampus was used to produce synaptosomal fractions. Protein concentration per sample was measured using the BCA assay (whole tissue homogenates) or the Bradford assay (synaptosomes). Samples were diluted to standardise the protein concentration added to gels for electrophoresis and 15  $\mu$ l of each diluted sample (typically containing 10-40  $\mu$ g protein) was loaded to a lane. Proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and blocked in 5% milk solution (Amersham ECL Prime, GE Healthcare, UK). The membrane was incubated with anti-Homer1a polyclonal rabbit antibody (160013, Synaptic Systems, Germany), 1:1000, and either anti-GAPDH monoclonal mouse antibody (ab8245, Abcam,

UK; whole tissue homogenates), 1:5000, or anti-Calnexin polyclonal rabbit antibody (ab22595, Abcam; synaptosomes), 1:5000, overnight at 4°C. The anti-Homer1a antibody targets the following amino acid sequence at the C-terminus of the Homer1a protein: HRYTFNSAIMIK. Since an antibody targeting Ania-3 does not exist at present, protein quantification could only be performed for Homer1a. After washing in TBST, the membrane was incubated with 1:10000 goat anti-rabbit (680 nm) and donkey antimouse (GAPDH; 800 nm) or donkey anti-rabbit (Calnexin; 800 nm) fluorescent secondary antibodies (LI-COR), for 1 h at room temperature and washed in TBST again. Protein bands were imaged and quantified using an infrared imaging system. Homer1a quantity was standardised to the housekeeping gene of the same lane.

#### 5.6.2 Results

With the aim to gain a greater insight into the functional induction of short Homer1 isoforms following phases of contextual fear learning, immunoblotting was used to quantify protein in samples of rat hippocampus following the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear.

There was no effect of contextual fear conditioning on Homer1a protein in whole hippocampal fractions ( $F_{(1, 18)} = 4.265$ , P = 0.054, two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.9a). In contrast, extinction learning significantly modified Homer1a protein ( $F_{(1, 20)} = 7.114$ , P < 0.05). Post-hoc tests showed that extinction increased Homer1a protein at 4 h (P < 0.05, Sidak's multiple comparisons test), but not at 2 h (P = 0.63; Figure 5.9c).

Since Homer1a functions predominantly at the postsynaptic density, the same protein quantification assays were performed on synaptosome fractions of hippocampal samples from the same animals (i.e. the contralateral hippocampus). No change in

Homer1a protein was observed in hippocampal synaptomes following contextual fear conditioning ( $F_{(1, 20)} = 0.2576$ , P = 0.62; two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.9b) or extinction ( $F_{(1, 20)} = 0.0824$ , P = 0.78; two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.9d).



**Figure 5.9** Hippocampal Homer1a protein following contextual fear conditioning and extinction. Rat hippocampal samples were homogenised as either whole tissue fractions (**a**, **c**) or synaptosomal fractions (**b**, **d**). Homer1a protein quantity is represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM optical density values, standardised to controls (100%). Brains were dissected 2 h or 4 h after fear conditioning or extinction. n = 6 per group. Asterisks represent significance of group vs. naïve or no recall control (\**P* < 0.05).

## 5.7 Discussion

The present findings indicate that the expression of short Homer1 isoforms in the hippocampus is correlated with the processing of a Pavlovian association between the conditioned and unconditioned stimuli concurrent with the contextual fear conditioning paradigm. Within this, the relative expression of *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* within different subregions of the hippocampus depended on the type of memory processing involved. Crucially, in some instances, the region-specific regulation of *Homer1a* differed to that of *Ania-3*. Long forms of Homer1, which were identified as a group with one oligonucleotide probe, were not regulated by contextual fear conditioning, retrieval or extinction in any hippocampal subregion or time point measured, consistent with its previously reported constitutive expression (Fagni et al., 2002).

Short forms of Homer1 mRNA were increased in CA1 following contextual fear conditioning, hinting at a role for Homer1a and Ania-3 in associative memory formation. Equally, *Homer1a* and *Ania*-3 were regulated by 3 min novel context exposure, which, in the formation of a context representation, is considered an associative learning event (Fanselow, 1990; Matus-Amat et al., 2004). Increased hippocampal Homer1a after Pavlovian fear conditioning and novel context exposure has been demonstrated previously (Vazdarjanova et al., 2002; Mahan et al., 2012). However, I show that an increase in short Homer1 CA1 expression is induced by arousal, irrespective of a context-footshock pairing. Both Homer1a and Ania-3 mRNA was elevated in CA1 following exposure to the novel context alone or footshock alone. Upon breaking down the components of contextual fear conditioning in the CPFE experiments, expression levels in the only group that engages associative learning, the CPFE group, are not different

from the brief novelty exposure or immediate shock groups. Therefore, the regulation of short Homer1 isoforms in CA1 may be related to the activity associated with the processing of external stimuli, rather than the consolidation of associative fear memory. The regulation of *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* in the dentate gyrus after contextual fear conditioning and novelty exposure is more likely to be related to the Pavlovian associative events of contextual memory formation. The expression of both isoforms was increased in the dentate gyrus following fear conditioning training, but not after an immediate footshock or brief novelty exposure, suggesting that short Homer1 expression solely occurs during the pairing of the two. This is consistent with the view that the dentate gyrus mediates the formation of conjunctive contextual representations (Morris et al., 2013). The lack of regulation in this subregion with CPFE may be due to the temporal separation of context representation and context-footshock pairing.

Whilst *homer1a* and *Ania-3* expression was induced by the same stimuli, their regulation after contextual fear conditioning exhibited temporal and spatial differences. The most striking of these was the duration for which the elevated expression level was detectable. Regulated *Ania-3* expression was considerably more transient than *Homer1a*, in all hippocampal subregions. This observation, which is previously unreported, implies that the post-transcriptional regulation of these two activity-induced isoforms occurs through different mechanisms. It is possible that the discrepancy occurs due to differences in metabolic processing, yet may also have functional implications for the subsequently translated proteins.

Following contextual fear conditioning, only *Ania-3* was regulated in CA3. The same was observed following brief fear memory retrieval. This regional discrepancy between *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* implies that the two isoforms are independently regulated and are likely to play different functional roles in long-term contextual fear memory. Since CA3 is posited to participate in the encoding of new representations, pattern completion and spatial short-term memory (Ji and Maren, 2008; Kesner and Rolls, 2015), it may be hypothesised, based on the current observations, that Ania-3 has a more predominant role in such processes than Homer1a.

Interestingly, in contrast to the lack of changes in CA3 expression following contextual fear conditioning and retrieval, *Homer1a* was upregulated in CA3 by extinction learning, suggesting that the expression of short Homer1 isoforms in CA3 is dissociated by the type of associative memory process. This is the first time that evidence for a role of short Homer proteins in extinction learning has been presented, and may represent a key distinction between Homer1a and Ania-3 function. It also implicates Homer1 in specific cognitive processes relevant to schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders. The differential upregulation of *Homer1a* in CA3 and dentate gyrus may be related to the respective pattern completion and pattern separation processes of these two subregions (Rolls, 2016) that serve to encode the context-no footshock extinction memory (Ji and Maren, 2008) distinct from the context-footshock memory supporting the fear response.

The expression of mRNA does not guarantee its translation to functional protein. Using Western blot assays, I observed an increase in Homer1a protein in whole hippocampal samples 4 h after extinction learning, but not in synaptosomal fractions or after fear

conditioning. Since short Homers are synthesised in the soma before recruitment to active dendritic spines (Brakeman et al., 1997; Okada et al., 2009b), the lack of protein change in the synaptosomal fraction after extinction may indicate that recruitment to dendritic spines is yet to occur at the time points observed. However, previous evidence suggests that Homer1a can be recruited into spines within 4 h (Okada et al., 2009b). It is more likely that these observations are due to the recruitment of Homer1a to too few synapses in particular subregions of the hippocampus for detection within fractions of all synaptosomes from the entire hippocampus, yet sufficient surplus translation in somata for detection in whole hippocampal fractions, by Western blot. The absence of increased Homer1a protein following fear conditioning may also reflect a failure to detect small changes in protein with this method, yet may also reflect functional differences between Homer1a and Ania-3. Since an antibody against Ania-3 does not exist at present, it was not possible to compare the protein expression of the two short Homer1 isoforms. Considering the differential expression of the mRNA in each subregion of the hippocampus, future experiments should be designed to determine region-specific short Homer1 protein expression after components of fear learning. This approach may also facilitate the detection of more subtle protein changes from concentrating functionally relevant tissue.

In conclusion, the present results build on previous studies showing that short, activityinduced Homer1 immediate early genes are involved in learning and memory. I present novel findings showing that regulation of these short Homer1 variants accompany the retrieval and extinction of associative fear memories, and replicate previous findings demonstrating their expression after consolidation. I also demonstrate for the first time

that Homer1a and Ania-3 are differentially regulated in the hippocampus during learning processes and may function differently in long-term contextual fear-memory. It is thus far unclear whether Homer1a and/or Ania-3 expression is required for processes of associative fear learning in the hippocampus. These data pave the way for the exploration of the respective roles of short Homer1 isoforms in the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory. This is the subject of Chapter 6

# Chapter 6: The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and Extinction

# 6.1 Introduction

The previous chapter highlighted the differential regulation of Homer1 isoforms in the hippocampus by contextual fear conditioning, retrieval and extinction. I showed that hippocampal *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* expression, but not long *Homer1* expression, is increased following each of these phases of associative learning, yet the respective expression pattern of each isoform in subregions of the hippocampus is regulated independently. Moreover, an increase in Homer1a protein was only observed following extinction learning. However, it is still unclear whether the expression of either short Homer1 isoform is required for associative learning. Little is known about the functional differences between Homer1a and Ania-3 and it is feasible that their roles are accommodated by both proteins and therefore redundant. However, their distinct activity-regulated expression profiles suggest that Homer1a and Ania-3 may function separately in separate processes.

Few studies have manipulated the expression of short *Homer1* isoforms *in vivo* in order to provide insight into their role in learning and memory. Klugmann et al (2005) overexpressed Homer1a in the dorsal hippocampus of rats using adeno-associated virus vectors. These animals exhibited impaired encoding in a novel object recognition task and impaired spatial reference memory in the Morris water maze task, both of which

are hippocampal-dependent tasks (Klugmann et al., 2005). A later study also reported that Homer1a overexpression in the dorsal hippocampus impaired spatial working memory in a Y-maze task (Celikel et al., 2007). Most recently, Banerjee et al (2016) showed that overexpression of Homer1a in the basal and lateral amygdala of rats induced deficits in cued fear conditioning and social interaction (Banerjee et al., 2016). Knocking out Homer1 short forms also affected fear learning. Homer1a/Ania-3 double knockout mice exhibited impaired cued fear conditioning (Mahan et al., 2012). In a study of contextual fear, whilst the acquisition and short-term recall of fear memory was normal in short form-specific Homer1 knockout mice, long-term fear memory was impaired, suggesting that these animals have a deficit in the consolidation of contextual fear memory (Inoue et al., 2009c). These mice also displayed poor fear memory retention and reconsolidation (Inoue et al., 2009c). Hence, the expression of short Homer1 isoforms appears to be necessary for hippocampal-dependent learning. However, these studies do not address the potential divergence of the functions of Homer1a and Ania-3 in fear learning, nor their roles in fear memory extinction, another form of associative learning important for the flexibility of behavioural responses to conditioned stimuli (Bouton, 2004).

I thus investigated the effect of knocking down hippocampal short Homer1 on the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory. To do this, I delivered antisense oligonucleotides specific to each short Homer1 isoform *via* intracerebral microinjection to acutely knockdown their expression during specific training phases. We have successfully used this approach to show the causal relationship between the expression of specific genes and memory formation and maintenance (e.g. Lee et al., 2004; Trent

#### The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and Extinction

et al., 2015). The CA1, CA3 and dentate gyrus hippocampal subfields are distinguished dorsally and ventrally by distinct connectivity, gene expression patterns and functions (Strange and Dolan, 1999; Bannerman et al., 2004, 2014; Strange et al., 2014). Whilst the ventral regions are associated with motivational and emotional behaviour, common to other parts of the temporal lobe, the dorsal hippocampus is principally involved in learning and memory in relation to navigation, locomotion and exploration (Czemiawski et al., 2009; Fanselow and Dong, 2010). Hence, the experiments herein targeted *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* in the dorsal hippocampus.

Antisense knockdown is a well-established technology that has been used to further understanding of gene function (Stephenson and Zamecnik, 1978). More recent advances in the technology has made them suitable for therapeutic procedures in humans and have shown promise for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders (Evers et al., 2015). Antisense oligonucleotides are synthetic single-stranded nucleotide sequences, which are able to bind to RNA and block their translation into protein. They are ideal for customisation and specific targeting of individual mRNA variants. Compared to alternative knockdown techniques, antisense oligonucleotides hold advantages in their use in acute *in vivo* studies, in part due to their short duration of action (< 24 h) and superior specificity (Achenbach et al., 2003; Watts and Corey, 2012).

# 6.2 Knockdown of Homer1a by intracerebral microinjection of antisense oligonucleotides

#### 6.2.1 Methods

Detailed methodology concerning the intrahippocampal microinjection of substances can be found in General Methods chapter section 2.7.

#### 6.2.1.1 Antisense design

A specific antisense oligonucleotide sequence, 20 bases long, was designed to target *Homer1a* using strict filtering criteria. Motifs known to weaken antisense activity were avoided (i.e GGGG, ACTG, AAA and TAA), whilst motifs known to strengthen antisense activity were favoured (i.e. CCAC, TCCC, ACTC, GCCA and CTCT; Matveeva et al., 2000). Sequences with a high GC content (> 50%) were favoured (Matveeva et al., 2000; Chan et al., 2006). Sfold (http://sfold.wadsworth.org/) tool was used for target accessibility predictions, binding energy optimisation and target visualisation. Regions of the mRNA with a high degree of secondary folding were also favoured. Oligonucleotide candidates were subjected to BLAST analysis (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/) to remove those sequences complimentary to other, non-specific mRNA targets. Selected antisense oligonucleotides were synthesised (Sigma Genosys, UK) with phosphoroththioate linkages between bases 1 and 2 and bases 19 and 20, to increase the stability of the oligonucleotides in the tissue, and PAGE purified.

The mRNA coding sequence of *Homer1a* has high homology to other Homer1 isoforms. Therefore, to generate an antisense oligonucleotide with high specificity to *Homer1a*, I targeted the untranslated region of the mRNA strand, which is unique to the Homer1a transcription variant. An intronic sequence flanking the Homer1a gene continues as a three prime untranslated region in the mRNA for approximately 4.4 Kb (Brakeman et al., 1997; Kato et al., 1998b; Bottai et al., 2002). The Homer1a antisense oligonucleotide selected (5'-AGAAGTCTGACCTGGGATTT-3') targeted this region as shown in Figure 6.1. A missense oligonucleotide sequence was designed for administration to control animals. This sequence was comprised of the same nucleotides as the antisense

## The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and Extinction

oligonucleotide, yet was not complimentary to any mRNA sequences in BLAST analysis. Clustal Omega (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/) analysis was performed to ensure that the missense and antisense oligonucleotide sequences would not bind to one another.



**Figure 6.1** Homer1a antisense oligonucleotide target region within the predicted structure of Homer1a mRNA. Arrow indicates target location. Oligonucleotide sequence = 5'-AGAAGTCTGACCTGGGATTT-3'. Sfold (http://sfold.wadsworth.org/) tool was used for target accessibility predictions, binding energy optimisation and target visualisation.

## 6.2.1.2 Surgery

6 adult male Lister hooded Rats underwent surgery for the placement of an indwelling cannula into the dorsal hippocampus. Anaesthetised, rats were positioned in a stereotaxic frame and two holes drilled through the skull at the following coordinates from Bregma: -3.5 mm anterior-posterior,  $\pm$  1.9 mm medial-lateral. A bilateral steel guide cannula (Plastics One, Bilaney Ltd, UK) was implanted through the holes, targeting the dorsal hippocampus (3 mm below the pedestal). A dummy stylet extending 1 mm from cannula tips was inserted into the cannula until use for injections to preserve cannula patency.

# 6.2.1.3 Intracerebral microinjection and behaviour

Homer1a antisense oligonucleotides were diluted to 2 nmol/µl in 0.01 M sterile PBS and kept under 4°C. Awake rats were administered with unilaterally with antisense oligonucleotides and/or missense oligonucleotides *via* intracerebral microinjection. To do this, dummy stylets were replaced with injectors and connected to Hamilton syringes via polyethylene micropore tubing (PE50), and infused 1 µl *Homer1a* antisense into one hemisphere and 1 µl of the *Homer1a* missense oligonucleotide to the other hemisphere (n = 6), at a rate of 0.5 µl/min. Injectors were left in place for 2 min to prevent back diffusion of the injectate from the target region. At least one week after recovery from surgery, infusions were performed 90 min before contextual fear conditioning training, thereby allowing for sufficient time for the oligonucleotides to penetrate the tissue and enter cells (Lee et al., 2004; Barnes et al., 2012). The behavioural intervention was used to stimulate the expression of *de novo Homer1a* mRNA by the antisense oligonucleotide

on Homer1a protein in the dorsal hippocampus. Specifically, rats were placed into a novel context for 3 min and received a footshock (0.5 mA, 2 sec) after 2 min. Rats were housed in their home cages between microinfusion and behavioural manipulations.

### 6.2.1.4 Immunoblotting

Antisense knockdown was quantified by Western blot analysis of Homer1a protein. Rats were culled by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation 4 h after conditioning and each dorsal hippocampus was micro-dissected and snap frozen. Whole cell fractions of the dorsal hippocampi were made using RIPA buffer and a Western blot assay performed as described in General Methods section 2.6. The membrane was incubated with anti-Homer1a polyclonal rabbit antibody (160013, Synaptic Systems, Germany), 1:1000, and anti-GAPDH monoclonal mouse antibody (ab8245, Abcam, UK; whole tissue homogenates), 1:5000, overnight at 4°C. Secondary antibodies were 1:10000 goat anti-rabbit (680 nm) and donkey anti-mouse (800 nm) fluorescent secondary antibodies (LI-COR), for 1 h at room temperature. Relative Homer1a intensity was standardised to the housekeeping gene of the same lane. A paired statistical analysis was used to compare the quantity of Homer1a protein in hippocampi from ipsilateral and contralateral hemispheres to the antisense injection site.

#### 6.2.2 Results

Rats subjected to contextual fear conditioning displayed robust post-shock freezing compared to baseline (P < 0.001, t-test; Figure 6.2). Intracerebral microinjection of Homer1a antisense oligonucleotides into the dorsal hippocampus 90 min prior to contextual fear conditioning decreased Homer1a protein by approximately 20%

The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and Extinction

compared to rats treated with missense oligonucleotides 4 h after training (P < 0.05, two-tailed t-test; Figure 6.3).



**Figure 6.2** Rats administered with unilateral intrahippocampal infusions of *Homer1a* antisense oligonucleotides exhibited robust post-shock freezing. Rats were exposed to a novel context for 3 min and received a footshock after 2 min (n = 6). Rats were culled 4 h after conditioning for hippocampal dissection and immunoblotting. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM percent freezing.



**Figure 6.3** Homer1a protein knockdown in whole cell lysates of the dorsal hippocampus by Homer1a antisense oligonucleotides (ASO). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM relative abundance in Western blot compared to protein level following administration of Homer1a missense oligonucleotides (MSO) to the contralateral hemisphere. Rats were administered 90 min prior to contextual fear conditioning and dorsal hippocampi were micro-dissected 4 h after conditioning. n = 6. \**P* < 0.05.

6.3 The role of Homer1a in the consolidation of contextual fear memory: antisense-targeted knockdown in the dorsal hippocampus

# 6.3.1 Methods

# 6.3.1.1 Intracerebral microinjection and behaviour

14 adult male Lister Hooded rats were given surgically implanted indwelling cannulae to the dorsal hippocampus, as described above. Rats received a bilateral infusion of 1  $\mu$ l 2 nmol/ $\mu$ l Homer1a antisense or missense (n = 7) oligonucleotides at a rate of 0.5  $\mu$ l / min, 90 min before a contextual fear conditioning trial (see above). Rats were returned to their home cages and subjected to 2 min context re-exposure recall trials 48 h and 4 weeks later. Freezing behaviour was recorded and quantified offline throughout all trials.

# 6.3.1.2 Histology

After behavioural testing, rats were killed by  $CO_2$  inhalation and the brains were dissected and snap frozen for histology. This enabled verification of cannula placement positioning. The region of the brain around the site of the implant was sectioned coronally at 14 µm, taking every fifth section and thaw mounted onto glass microscope slides prior to counterstaining in 0.1% β-Thionin, followed by dehydration using ethanol, clearing using Histoclear and coverslipping using DePeX mountant. The sections were then imaged at 50X using a bright field microscope to identify and record the injection site. Subjects were only included if the ventral-most part of the cannula tracts terminated bilaterally in the dorsal hippocampus and there was no sign of damage to adjacent brain structures or gross ventricular enlargement.

# 6.3.2 Results

# 6.3.2.1 Verification of injection site

Cannula histology verified the bilateral placement of cannulas to the dorsal hippocampus in all 14 rats used for *Homer1a* knockdown prior to contextual fear conditioning (Figure 6.4). All injection sites were situated between -3.14 mm and -3.80 mm posterior to Bregma bilaterally within the dorsal hippocampus. One rat was excluded from the MSO group due to detachment of the cannula prior to behaviour testing.



**Figure 6.4** *Homer1a* oligonucleotide injection sites prior to contextual fear conditioning. Blue crosses mark the ventral-most point of the cannula placement, determined by histology. Paxinos and Watson (1997) rat brain atlas images shown from -3.80 mm to -3.14 mm posterior to Bregma.

# 6.3.2.2 The effect of Homer1a knockdown on the consolidation of contextual fear memory

Rats treated with intracerebral microinjection of Homer1a antisense or missense (control) oligonucleotides into the dorsal hippocampus 90 min prior to contextual fear conditioning exhibited normal levels of pre- and post-shock freezing (main effect of time:  $F_{(1, 11)} = 178.8$ , P < 0.0001, two-way repeated measures ANOVA; Figure 6.5). There was no difference in pre- and post-shock freezing between antisense- and missense-treated groups (pre US P = 0.92, post US P = 1.00; post-hoc Sidak's multiple comparison test). In recall trials 48 h and 4 weeks after conditioning, there was no effect of treatment on conditioned freezing ( $F_{(1, 11)} = 0.02891$ , P = 0.87, two-way repeated measures ANOVA; Figure 6.5), indicating that the administration of Homer1a antisense to the dorsal hippocampus had no effect on the consolidation of contextual fear.



**Figure 6.5** Antisense-mediated knockdown of *Homer1a* had no effect on the consolidation of contextual fear memory. *Homer1a* antisense (ASO) or missense (MSO) oligonucleotides were administered to the dorsal hippocampus by intracerebral microinjection 90 min before fear conditioning, indicated by red arrow. Recall (2 min context re-exposure) trials took place 48 h and 4 weeks after conditioning. Data are represented by mean ± SEM percent freezing normalised to post-unconditioned stimulus (US) levels. n = 6 (MSO) or 7 (ASO).

# 6.4 The role of Homer1a in the extinction of contextual fear memory

## 6.4.1 Methods

14 adult male Lister Hooded rats were surgically implanted with indwelling cannula targeting the dorsal hippocampus, as described before. All rats similarly underwent contextual fear conditioning. 48 h later, rats received bilateral intra-hippocampal infusions of 2 nmol/µl Homer1a antisense (n = 6) in a total volume of 1 µ or cogent missense sequences (n = 5) at a rate of 0.5 µl/min, 90 min before extinction training. A third, smaller group (n = 3) received 1 µl phosphate buffer saline (PBS) vehicle administered at the same rate, to control for any effects of the oligonucleotide infusion. Extinction training consisted of a 10 min recall trial in the conditioned context. All rats then underwent a recall trial 48 h later. At the start of a subsequent recall trial, 7 days later, rats were given a 2 sec 0.25 mA reminder footshock, which itself is insufficient to induce fear conditioning in naïve rats and serves to dissociate extinction from amnesia (Trent et al., 2015). A final recall trial took place at 4 weeks after fear conditioning. Freezing behaviour was quantified throughout all trials (see above).

After behavioural testing, rats were killed by  $CO_2$  inhalation and the brains were dissected and snap frozen for histology, as described.

## 6.4.2 Results

#### 6.4.2.1 Verification of injection site

Cannula histology verified the bilateral placement of cannulas to the dorsal hippocampus in all animals (Figure 6.6). Bilateral injection sites were situated between -3.14 mm and -3.60 mm posterior to Bregma, within the dorsal hippocampal region.

## The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and Extinction



**Figure 6.6** Homer1a oligonucleotide injection sites prior to extinction training. Blue crosses mark the ventral-most point of the cannula placement, determined by histology. Paxinos and Watson (1997) rat brain atlas images shown from -3.60 mm to -3.14 mm posterior to Bregma.

#### 6.4.2.2 The effect of Homer1a knockdown on the extinction of contextual fear memory

In a comparison of the level of freezing at the start and end of the extinction trial in all groups, there was lower freezing at the end of the trial (main effect of time:  $F_{(1, 11)}$  = 7.342, P < 0.05, two-way repeated measures ANOVA; Figure 6.7), and there was no interaction between time and treatment group ( $F_{(2, 11)} = 0.01594$ , P = 0.98), showing normal within-trial extinction of the conditioned response in all groups. A main effect of treatment was observed ( $F_{(2, 11)} = 5.518$ , P < 0.05), characterised by lower conditioned freezing responses in the missense-treated group, although there were no differences between the treatment groups at the start or end of the extinction trial (P > 0.05, posthoc Sidak's multiple comparisons test). Low levels of conditioned freezing were seen during a recall trial 48 h after extinction training and there was no effect of treatment  $(F_{(2, 11)} = 0.4627, P = 0.64, one-way ANOVA; Figure 6.7)$ , indicating that extinction was consolidated in all treatment groups and that Homer1a knockdown in the dorsal hippocampus had no effect on extinction learning. In a subsequent recall trial, a lowintensity reminder footshock was used to test the strength of the original fear memory. Analysed together, the freezing response after the reminder was increased compared to the first recall trial (main effect of time:  $F_{(1, 11)} = 11.52$ , P < 0.01, two-way repeated measures ANOVA), although there was no interaction with treatment group ( $F_{(2, 11)}$  = 1.455, P = 0.28). No difference between the treatment groups was observed in this second recall trial ( $F_{(2, 11)}$  = 2.089, P = 0.17, one-way ANOVA), nor a third recall trial at 4 weeks post-conditioning ( $F_{(2, 11)} = 1.437, P = 0.28$ ).


**Figure 6.7** Antisense-mediated knockdown of Homer1a in the dorsal hippocampus did not influence the extinction (Ext) of contextual fear memory. Homer1a antisense (ASO) or missense (MSO) oligonucleotides or phosphate buffer saline (PBS) was administered to the dorsal hippocampus by intracerebral microinjection 90 min prior to extinction training, indicated by the red arrow. Recall trials (2 min) took place 48 h, 7 days and 4 weeks after extinction training. A reminder shock was given at the beginning of the second recall trial, as indicated. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM percent freezing normalised to post-unconditioned stimulus (US) levels. n = 3 (PBS), n = 5 (MSO) or n = 6 (ASO).

# 6.5 The effect of Homer1a and Ania-3 double knockdown on the extinction of contextual fear memory

# 6.5.1 Methods

## 6.5.1.1 Antisense design

An Ania-3 antisense oligonucleotide was designed to target the three prime untranslated region of *Ania-3*, which shows little homology to the equivalent region of *Homer1a* (Bottai et al., 2002). The same criteria used for the design of *Homer1a* antisense were used in filtering candidate oligonucleotides for *Ania-3*. Since *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* antisense were to be co-infused, Clustal Omega analyses were performed to ensure that the two antisense oligonucleotides and also the two missense oligonucleoides would not interact when in solution together. The selected *Ania-3* antisense oligonucleotide sequence (5'-GATTACATAGCCAAGAGATC-3') was only fully complimentary to *Ania-3* mRNA and only 20% homologous to *Homer1a* mRNA and 30% homologous to long *Homer1* variants (Figure 6.8).

No Ania-3-specific antibody currently exists, therefore making it impossible to verify knockdown of Ania-3 by the targeting antisense oligonucleotide using Western blot.



**Figure 6.8** Ania-3 antisense oligonucleotide target region within the predicted structure of *Ania-3* mRNA. Arrow indicates target location. Oligonucleotide sequence = 5'-GATTACATAGCCAAGAGATC-3'. mRNA structure prediction and target visualisation performed using Sfold (http://sfold.wadsworth.org/) tool.

## 6.5.1.2 Intracerebral microinjection and behaviour

14 adult male Lister Hooded rats were surgically implanted with indwelling cannulae targeting the dorsal hippocampus, as before. *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* antisense oligonucleotides were mixed to create a solution containing 2 nmol/µl of each antisense. The two missense oligonucleotides were mixed in the same manner. Rats were first subjected to a contextual fear conditioning trial. 48 h later, rats received bilateral intrahippocampal infusions of 1 µl Homer1a/Ana-3 antisense mix or missense mix (N = 7) at a rate of 0.5 µl / min, 90 min before extinction training. After extinction, rats then underwent three recall trials 48 h, 7 days and 4 weeks afterwards. Freezing behaviour was quantified throughout all trials as previously described.

After behavioural testing, rats were killed by  $CO_2$  inhalation and the brains were dissected and snap frozen for histology, as described.

### 6.5.2 Results

# 6.5.2.1 Verification of injection site

Cannula histology verified the bilateral placement of cannulas to the dorsal hippocampus in all 14 rats (Figure 6.9). Injection sites were bilaterally situated between -3.30 mm and -3.80 mm posterior to Bregma.



**Figure 6.9** Homer1a / Ania-3 antisense injection sites prior to extinction training. Blue crosses mark the ventral-most point of the cannula placement, determined by histology. Paxinos and Watson (1997) rat brain atlas shown from -3.80 mm to -3.30 mm posterior to Bregma.

## 6.5.2.2 Behavioural effect of double knockdown

A double knockdown of Homer1a and Ania-3 in the dorsal hippocampus was performed during extinction learning to account for any residual support of extinction from Ania-3 in effect in the previous experiment. 48 h after contextual fear conditioning, Homer1a/Ania-3 mixed antisense or missense oligonucleotides were administered 90 min before extinction training, which caused a decrease in within session conditioned freezing response (main effect of time:  $F_{(1, 12)} = 21.73$ , P < 0.001, two-way repeated measures ANOVA; Figure 6.10). There was no interaction between time and treatment group ( $F_{(1, 12)} = 0.3735$ , P = 0.55), nor was there a main effect of treatment group ( $F_{(1, 12)} = 0.5268$ , P = 0.48). Three recall trials were performed to test the extinction memory at 3 later times. Homer1a/Ania-3 antisense infusions had no effect on the freezing response in any of these trials compared to the missense infusion group (48 h P = 0.25, 7 days P = 0.26, 4 weeks P = 0.94; t-tests; Figure 6.10).



**Figure 6.10** Homer1a / Ania-3 double antisense infusion into the dorsal hippocampus prior to extinction training had no effect on the extinction (Ext) of contextual fear memory. Homer1a/Ania-3 antisense oligonucleotide mix (ASO) or missense oligonucleotide mix (MSO) was administered to the dorsal hippocampus by intracerebral microinjection 90 min prior to extinction training, indicated by the red arrow. Recall (2 min) trials took place 48 h, 7 days and 4 weeks after extinction training. Data represented by mean ± SEM percent freezing normalised to post-unconditioned stimulus (US) levels. n = 7 per group.

#### 6.6 Discussion

The results presented in the current chapter show that the knockdown of Homer1a in the dorsal hippocampus by microinjection of antisense oligonucleotides had no effect on the consolidation or extinction of contextual fear memory. Furthermore, the administration of antisense sequences targeting both short Homer1 variants, *Homer1a* and *Ania-3*, had no effect on extinction learning. These findings question the changes in mRNA which parallel the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory (Chapter 5) and demand evaluation of the success of the knockdown technique.

Unlike these observations, previous studies have shown the manipulation of short *Homer1* expression to impair fear conditioning (Inoue et al., 2009c; Mahan et al., 2012; Banerjee et al., 2016). However, these studies used different behavioural models and methods for altering Homer1 expression in different brain regions. Banerjee et al (2016) investigated the effect of amygdalar chronic overexpression of Homer1a using viral vector on the consolidation of cued fear conditioning (Banerjee et al., 2016). Mahan et al (2012) also studied cued fear conditioning, yet following the global knockout of both short Homer1 isoforms. Both these studies suggest that Homer1a plays a crucial role in amygdala-dependent fear learning processes which may employ short Homer1 proteins differently to the dorsal hippocampus. They also leave the role of Ania-3 in cued fear conditioning under question. Inoue et al (2009) demonstrated that short form-specific Homer1 knockout mice exhibit normal acquisition but impaired consolidation of contextual fear conditioning. It is possible that this effect was due to altered short Homer1 expression in the amygdala, since contextual fear conditioning is dependent on the hippocampus and amygdala (Phillips and LeDoux, 1992). The effect of knockout on

fear memory consolidation may also be mediated by anxiogenic effects (Szumlinski et al., 2005) or developmental impairments in the hippocampus or other regions.

The disruption of both short Homer1 variants in the dorsal hippocampus may be necessary to block the consolidation of contextual fear. The effects of knocking down one isoform may be compensated by the other sufficiently for association formation. Further studies should explore the effect of knocking down both Homer1a and Ania-3 simultaneously by administering intrahippocampal antisense against *Homer1a* and *Ania-3* prior to contextual fear conditioning.

The present study is the first to explore the role of short Homer1 proteins in extinction learning. It is also the first to investigate the functional contributions of Homer1a and Ania-3 independently. I observed no effect on extinction by the intracerebral administration of antisense against either Homer1a alone or Homer1a and Ania-3 simultaneously. This suggests that the expression of short Homer1 isoforms in the dorsal hippocampus is not required for the extinction of contextual fear. It is possible that the antisense oligonucleotides used were ineffective at generating sufficient knockdown to influence behaviour. I demonstrated that the Homer1a antisense induced a knockdown of Homer1a protein after contextual fear conditioning, but this was only by 20% compared to missense-treated rats. This is below the commonly used definition of successful knockdown of 50% or greater (Achenbach et al., 2003; Vickers et al., 2003; Chan et al., 2006). The extent of knockdown of Ania-3 during extinction training using my custom designed antisense oligonucleotide could not be determined because there are currently no Ania-3 antibodies to quantify protein levels by Western blotting. The effectiveness of antisense oligonucleotides is influenced by several factors, including

secondary structure, serum stability and binding energy (Chan et al., 2006), which cannot be predicted with certainty. Hence, a proportion of designed antisense strands have weak activity and provide poor inhibition of the target mRNA, regardless of specificity. It is imperative that the effectiveness of each antisense sequence at reducing target protein levels is determined empirically.

If indeed the translation of short Homer1 variants is not necessary for the extinction of conditioned fear, it demands the question of why both the mRNA of Homer1a and Ania-3, and the protein of Homer1a, are increased following extinction training in subregions of the dorsal hippocampus, as presented in Chapter 5. It is possible that, through protein homeostasis, short Homer1 variants are metabolised during plasticity processes and become replaced through *de novo* gene expression but are not functionally central to the process. However, this explanation seems unlikely, or at least insufficient, considering the specificity of Homer1a recruitment to CA3 following extinction learning (Chapter 5).

In order to gain better insight into the role of Homer1a and Ania-3 in associative learning processes, future experiments may employ alternative knockdown strategies with an aim to achieve improved protein knockdown. As well as designing new antisense oligonucleotide sequences, these may be compared to RNA interference methods. Whilst neither method has been demonstrated to be conclusively advantageous *in vivo* (Watts and Corey, 2012), some studies have shown that short interfering RNA has superior potency over single-stranded antisense techniques (Grünweller et al., 2003; Kretschmer-Kazemi Far and Sczakiel, 2003). The use of gene expression silencing techniques may be complimented by disruption of the translated protein (Campbell and

Bennett, 2016). In particular, green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged protein degradation techniques have been used effectively in conjunction with RNA interference to generate a more effective depletion of protein levels (Caussinus et al., 2011; Brankatschk et al., 2014; Dunst et al., 2015). Greater knockdown of Homer1 variants through such methods may provide conclusive evidence for their roles in fear memory consolidation and extinction, although the validation of their effectiveness will be limited by the availability of Homer1 short-form specific antibodies.

Our results do not allow us to conclude whether Homer1a and Ania-3 are required in the dorsal hippocampus for the consolidation or extinction of contextual fear memory. Data currently indicate that Homer1a and Ania-3 are likely to overlap functionally and therefore exhibit functional redundancy. However, their differential expression patterns with fear learning suggest that their roles in the hippocampus may diverge. The advent of an antibody against Ania-3 may help to delineate the respective roles of the short Homer1 isoforms. Further experiments may benefit from extending knockdown techniques to RNA interference or protein degradation methods.

# Chapter 7: General Discussion

In this Chapter, I highlight the main findings from each results chapter presented herein and consider the primary implications of the collective results. I then discuss how these results inform future research directions and address any general limitations to the methodology and interpretation of the data. Below, the principle findings from each results chapter are summarised.

# 7.1 Results Chapter Summaries

# 7.1.1 The Enrichment of Learning-Related Genes in Genetic Variants from Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Disorders

- The enrichment of consolidation-, retrieval- and extinction-related genes in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia, autism, intellectual disability and ADHD, and in SNPs from patients with schizophrenia was investigated.
- There was an enrichment of extinction-related genes in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia, which was common to both duplications and deletions, but no enrichment of learning-related genes in CNVs from patients with other psychiatric disorders, or melanoma.
- I note that some extinction-related genes have been individually implicated in schizophrenia previously.
- There was no enrichment of consolidation-, retrieval- or extinction-related genes in single nucleotide polymorphisms from patients with schizophrenia.

# 7.1.2 Associative Learning by Contextual Fear Conditioning

• Contextual fear conditioning was induced by a single pairing of a novel context with a footshock stimulus, and was subsequently extinguished by 10 min re-exposure to the context without the footshock.

- Administration of a higher dose (25 mg/kg), but not a lower dose (8 mg/kg), of ketamine prior to fear conditioning induced the generation of a state-dependent fear memory.
- Neither dose affected the consolidation of contextual fear memory, which is consistent with published data.
- Both low and high dose ketamine blocked the extinction of contextual fear memory when administered prior, but not immediately after, extinction training, consistent with effects of ketamine on other inhibitory learning processes observed in past studies.

# 7.1.3 The Regulation of Postsynaptic Density Homer1 Proteins by Associative Learning

- I measured the expression pattern of *Homer1a*, *Ania-3* and long Homer1 isoforms following different components of associative fear learning.
- Short, activity-induced isoforms, *Homer1a* and *Ania-3*, but not the long isoforms, were regulated in the hippocampus by novel context exposure, contextual fear conditioning, retrieval and extinction.
- Whilst the induction of both short isoforms was rapid and transient, *Ania-3* levels returned to baseline earlier (by 2 h post-conditioning) than *Homer1a* (sustained for at least 4 h), irrespective of hippocampal subregion.
- Regulation of *Homer1a* in CA3 occurred solely following extinction training.
- Changes in Homer1a and Ania-3 mRNA were indistinguishable following novelty or CPFE, although an increase in Homer1a protein was only detected 4 h after the extinction, but not the consolidation, of fear memory, in whole hippocampal homogenates.

# 7.1.4 The Role of Short Homer Proteins in Fear Memory Consolidation and Extinction

 Antisense oligonucleotides complimentary to Homer1a or Ania-3 mRNA were designed and administered via intracerebral microinjection bilaterally to the dorsal hippocampus of rats prior to contextual fear conditioning and prior to extinction of contextual fear memory.

- Homer1a antisense produced a 20% knockdown in hippocampal Homer1a protein levels after fear conditioning, but had no effect on the consolidation of contextual fear memory.
- The administration of Homer1a and Ania-3 antisense simultaneously had no effect on fear extinction.
- The weak antisense activity of the Homer1a oligonucleotide and the lack of antibody against Ania-3 to test the effectiveness of the Ania-3 antisense sequence occludes evidence that might demonstrate that the synthesis of *de novo* short Homer1 proteins is necessary for processes of associative fear learning.

#### 7.2 The role of extinction learning in psychopathology

A primary point of convergence from the results presented in this thesis is the implication that extinction learning processes are important in the development of schizophrenia, specifically those concerning the extinction of associative fear memories. Firstly, in studying the relationship between associative learning-related gene sets and genetic variants from patients with schizophrenia, I found an enrichment of extinction-related genes in patient CNVs, suggesting that the risk conferred by these rare variants may be attributable to effects on extinction learning. Secondly, the NMDA antagonist, ketamine, blocked the extinction of contextual fear, perhaps revealing an origin to the drug's psychotomimetic properties. Thirdly, products of the *Homer1* gene, which is central to synaptic plasticity and has been linked to psychiatric disease (Spellmann et al., 2011; Luo et al., 2012), are differentially regulated in specific hippocampal subregions following extinction learning.

Extinction is widely interpreted to be a process of new inhibitory associative learning, rather than the erasure of the original association between conditioned and unconditioned stimuli (Bouton, 2004; Quirk and Mueller, 2008). This is due to the

observation that the extinguished conditioned responses can become renewed or reinstated following manipulations such as a change of context or exposure to the unconditioned stimulus, or over time (spontaneous recovery) (Rescorla and Heth, 1975; Bouton, 1993). Through competitive processes, the inhibitory extinction memory dominates over the conditioned association with the unconditioned stimulus (Bouton, 2004). An important characteristic of extinction is its context-dependency (Bouton, 1993; Brooks and Bouton, 1994). There is substantial evidence suggesting that the regulation of fear expression after extinction using contextual stimuli is mediated by the dorsal hippocampus (Corcoran and Maren, 2001, 2004; Bouton et al., 2006). Such studies lend support to a model in which the dorsal hippocampus is responsible for the contextual gating of inhibitory associations (Bouton and Bouton, 1994; Maren and Holt, 2000), which provides a common mechanism for both extinction learning and another form of inhibitory associative learning, latent inhibition (Puga et al., 2007). Both these processes use contextual retrieval cues to delineate conflicting memories concerning a particular conditioned stimulus, influencing behaviour (Ji and Maren, 2007).

Both extinction and latent inhibition are impaired in patients with schizophrenia (Baruch et al., 1988; Jentsch and Taylor, 2001; Serra et al., 2001; Holt et al., 2009, 2012). Together with the results presented herein, these studies strongly implicate abnormalities in inhibitory-type learning in schizophrenia. Interestingly, yet perhaps unsurprisingly, these inhibitory learning processes are physiologically mediated through inhibitory cellular and neurotransmitter systems. During fear extinction learning, the hippocampus regulates the activity of projections from the ventromedial prefrontal cortex to inhibitory intercalated cells of the amygdala (Vertes, 2004; Likhtik et al., 2008;

Orsini et al., 2011). The clustering of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors in the amygdala occurs following extinction training, increasing inhibition within this structure (Chhatwal et al., 2005) and administration of a beta-carboline antagonist of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors blocks the expression of extinction (Harris and Westbrook, 1998). It is notable that parvalbumin-positive inhibitory interneurons are heavily implicated in schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2012; Boley et al., 2014) and genes encoding components of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor complex were enriched in schizophrenia-associated CNVs in a recent large-scale CNV study (Pocklington et al., 2015). This dysregulation of inhibitory and excitatory inputs to the amygdala, or elsewhere in fear memory circuitry, will have profound effects on stimulus regulated fear expression.

Indeed, it is not only hippocampal regions that are required for extinction leaning. The hippocampal-prefrontal-amygdala extinction circuit has been extensively studied (for reviews see Ji and Maren, 2007; Quirk and Mueller, 2008; Milad and Quirk, 2012). In functional studies in rodents, the infralimbic prefrontal cortex is considered to be functionally homologous to the ventromedial prefrontal cortex in humans for the facilitation of extinction (Kalisch, 2006; Sierra-Mercado et al., 2011). Table 7.1 displays the effects of systemic, hippocampal, infralimbic and amygdalar manipulations on fear extinction.

Manipulation	Fear conditioning	Effect on extinction	Reference
	protocol	cxtilletion	
Systemic			
TrkB agonist	Cued	$\uparrow$ acquisition	(Andero et al., 2011)
NR2B blockade	Cued	$\downarrow$ acquisition	(Sotres-Bayon et al., 2007)
NMDA agonist	Cued	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Walker et al., 2002)
Cannabinoid agonist	Contextual	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Pamplona et al., 2008)
FGF2	Cued	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Graham and Richardson, 2009)
Oxytocin	Contextual	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Eskandarian et al., 2013)
NMDA antagonist	Contextual	$\downarrow$ consolidation	Chapter 4
Hippocampus			
Hippocampal BDNF KO	Cued	$\downarrow$ acquisition	(Heldt et al., 2007)
GABA <sub>A</sub> R agonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ acquisition	(Corcoran et al., 2005)
Histone deacetylase inhibition	Contextual	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Stafford et al., 2012)
NMDAR agonist	Cued	↑ consolidation	(Ledgerwood et al., 2003)
Zif268 knockdown	Contextual	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Lee et al., 2004)
Actin remodelling	Contextual	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Fischer et al., 2004)
MEK inhibition	Contextual	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Fischer et al., 2007)
Translation inhibition	IA	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Vianna et al., 2003)
SRC inhibition	IA	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Bevilaqua et al., 2005)
P38MAPK inhibition	IA	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Rossato et al., 2006)
CAMKII inhibition	IA	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Szapiro et al., 2003)
NMDAR antagonist	IA	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Szapiro et al., 2003)
Infralimbic cortex			
CB1R agonist	Cued	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Lin et al., 2009)
BDNF	Cued	$\Lambda$ consolidation	(Peters et al., 2010)
GABA <sub>A</sub> R antagonist	Contextual	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Thompson et al., 2010)
M-K <sup>+</sup> channel block	Cued	$\uparrow$ consolidation	(Santini and Porter, 2010)
CB1R antagonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Lin et al., 2009)
GABA <sub>A</sub> R agonist	Contextual	$\downarrow$ consolidation $\downarrow$ retrieval	(Laurent and Westbrook, 2009)
mGluR5 antagonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Fontanez-Nuin et al., 2011)
Dopamine D2 antagonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Mueller et al., 2010)
Dopamine D4 antagonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Pfeiffer and Fendt, 2006)
Amygdala	•		
MAPK inhibition	Cued	$\downarrow$ acquisition	(Herry et al., 2006)
NR2B antagonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ acquisition	(Sotres-Bayon et al., 2007)
mGluR1 antagonist	Cued	$\downarrow$ acquisition	(Kim et al., 2007)
GABA <sub>A</sub> R antagonist	Contextual	↑ consolidation	(Berlau and McGaugh, 2006)
Translation inhibition	Cued	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Lin et al., 2003)
BDNF knockdown	Cued	$\downarrow$ consolidation	(Chhatwal et al., 2006)

**Table 7.1** Effects of systemic, hippocampal, infralimbic and amygdalar manipulations on the extinction of conditioned fear memory. Abbreviations: tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB); N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR); fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2); NMDAR subunit 2B (NR2B); brain-derived neurotrophic factor receptor (BDNF);  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid A receptor (GABA<sub>A</sub>R); mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK); sarcoma kinase (SRC); p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38MAPK); calcium-calmodulin protein kinase II (CAMKII); cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB1R); M-type potassium channel (M-K<sup>+</sup> channel); metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 (mGluR1); inhibitory avoidance (IA).

Abnormal functional connectivity within the hippocampal-prefrontal-amygdalar circuit has been proposed to form the neurobiological basis for alterations in extinction learning observed during adolescence (for review see Baker et al., 2014). This has important implications for the development of schizophrenia, since the emergence of symptoms typically occurs in late adolescence and early adulthood. Clinical studies have demonstrated that adolescents are resistant to the acquisition of extinction when compared to children and adults (Haddad et al., 2011; Pattwell et al., 2012). These findings are reflected in adolescent rodents, which present impairments in the acquisition (Pattwell et al., 2012) and consolidation (McCallum et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2011; Pattwell et al., 2012) of extinction.

The adolescent period is a "critical period" for neuronal development inasmuch as it is accompanied by a surge in synaptic maturation, which may involve above-normal levels of synapse formation and subsequent elimination (Feinberg, 1982; Paus et al., 2008; Pantelis et al., 2009). Hence, this period represents a vulnerable developmental stage to the effects of environmental insult (McCormick et al., 2010; Romeo, 2013). Rats subjected to chronic stress in early adolescence display deficits in extinction learning which persist into adulthood (Toledo-Rodriguez and Sandi, 2007; Zhang and Rosenkranz, 2013). Furthermore, rats exposed to early-life stress exhibit accelerated maturation of extinction learning, whereby extinction is impaired pre-adolescence but comparable to adults during adolescence (Callaghan and Richardson, 2012). It has been proposed that these age-specific effects of stress on extinction processing may be due to an imbalance between the support of fear extinction and fear expression (Eiland et al., 2012) and/or hypersensitivity of the hippocampus in its regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-

adrenal axis (McCormick, 2010). One study showed that chronic stress in adolescent rats led to dendritic retraction in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, yet dendritic hypertrophy in the amygdala (Eiland et al., 2012). Interestingly, patients with schizophrenia exhibit reduced ventromedial prefrontal cortex activity and amygdalar hyperactivity during extinction training (Holt et al., 2012).

Phenotypically, schizophrenia is not the only psychiatric disorder for which extinction learning is relevant. Anxiety disorders such as posttraumatic stress disorder are thought to be characterised by strong associations between traumatic events and specific sensory cues, which are resistant to extinction (Pitman, 1988). Importantly, genetic variants conferring risk to schizophrenia also contribute risk to other psychiatric disorders (Malhotra and Sebat, 2012; Kirov et al., 2014), raising the possibility that the link between CNVs and extinction learning, presented herein, has further relevance to other disorders. Furthermore, there is evidence suggesting that ketamine exacerbates posttraumatic stress in accident victims (Schönenberg et al., 2005, 2008), which may originate from effects on extinction learning, as observed in Chapter 4.

Due to the resistance to extinction learning exhibited by patients with posttraumatic stress disorder, current treatments include exposure-based cognitive behavioural therapy (Kar, 2011) and novel therapeutic interventions aim to exploit the function of circuits involved in inhibitory-type learning (Yehuda and LeDoux, 2007; Maren and Holmes, 2015; Singewald et al., 2015). If fear extinction processing is abnormal in schizophrenia, it is plausible that the same approaches may have therapeutic potential in schizophrenia. Whilst extinction does not typically result in the erasure of conditioned memories, some studies suggest that the precise timing of extinction training can be

used to prevent the return of conditioned fear in both rodents and humans (reviewed in Quirk et al., 2010). Furthermore, some evidence suggests that the partial NMDA receptor agonist, D-cycloserine, may be used in conjunction with cognitive behavioural therapy to normalise extinction impairments (Davis, 2011; Hofmann et al., 2013).

#### 7.3 Generalisability and limitations

Evidence implicating altered associative learning in schizophrenia comes from clinical studies (Miller, 1976; Bazin and Perruchet, 1996; Friston, 1998; Serra et al., 2001; Diwadkar et al., 2008b; Jensen et al., 2008; Holt et al., 2012) and, as of more recently, genetic studies (Hall et al., 2009; Pocklington et al., 2015), which include the results presented herein. The apparent role of associative learning has been incorporated into logical inference models of how false beliefs such as delusions and hallucinations may come about (Corlett et al., 2009; Fletcher and Frith, 2009). It is important to note, however, that other cognitive domains have also been associated with schizophrenia through clinical studies, including attention, working memory, episodic memory, social cognition and procedural learning (Millan et al., 2012). The robust, yet broad, implication of synaptic plasticity processes in schizophrenia (Hall et al., 2015) is of equal relevance to these other cognitive processes, as it is to associative learning. Pocklington et al (2015) reported that sets of genes annotated with the terms "associative learning" and "contextual conditioning behaviour", are enriched in CNVs from patients with schizophrenia. However, the same study also implicates some other cognitive domains, such as "spatial working memory", "spatial learning" and "temporal memory", whilst schizophrenia-relevant cognitive domains such as episodic memory and procedural learning were not represented by gene set analyses (Pocklington et al., 2015). This

limitation is not due to poor experimental design, however, but originates from the bias in gene ontology databases towards those cognitive domains most studied and therefore incorporated into the annotation of gene sets. It should therefore be acknowledged that the evidence implicating specific components of associative learning in schizophrenia, reported here, do not occlude the importance of additional cognitive processes in the development of the disorder.

There is considerable overlap between psychiatric disorders, particularly with regards to the genetic variants from which their risk is conferred (Lee et al., 2013; Kirov et al., 2014). Included in this is the association of Homer1 with autism spectrum disorder and major depression as well as schizophrenia (Rietschel et al., 2010b; Spellmann et al., 2011; Kelleher et al., 2012). The assumption that psychiatric disorders can be defined as distinct diseases, each with separate aetiology and pathophysiology, has been said to impede mental health research (Craddock and Owen, 2010). Hence, it would not be appropriate to consider the relevance of these findings to be restricted to schizophrenia alone. Instead, the role of associative learning, and specifically extinction learning, should be interpreted in the context of a range of psychiatric disorders, particularly those in which CNVs play a role.

Several of the experiments I have described centre around the measurement of gene and protein expression in tissue extracted from rats, following behavioural paradigms. This approach is accompanied by some limitations. Firstly, it restricts expression data to specific time points chosen for the extraction of tissue. Since the temporal pattern of regulated gene expression can vary greatly, any conclusions drawn from the data are relevant only to those times observed. In order to increase the temporal resolution of

the expression data, it requires a multiplicative increase in the use of animals and demands higher stringency in statistical testing. Secondly, linking gene expression with a particular cognitive process preceding it relies on carefully designed control groups with which to make quantitative comparisons. Completely avoiding the observation of gene expression changes associated with non-specific aspects of a behavioural paradigm is often impossible, particularly with gene expression arrays, which must be analysed with an awareness of a proportion of false positives and false negatives. Thirdly, the magnitude of detectable differential gene or protein expression is limited by the tools used. The method favours the observation of large expression changes, but makes it more difficult to conclusively demonstrate no change from control. This was compounded by the lack of availability of short-form specific Homer1 antibodies for protein quantification, the most notable being the absence of antibodies against Ania-

3.

### 7.4 Future directions

#### 7.4.1 Specific future investigations

There are unresolved research questions concerning the roles of short Homer1 proteins, not just in associative learning, but also in further synaptic plasticity processes relevant to schizophrenia. I have discussed the opportunities for studying the function of Homer1a and Ania-3 in the consolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory, through the use of alternative knockdown strategies. Additional studies may investigate Homer1 expression in models of schizophrenia and related disorders. Homer1 interacts with a number of proteins strongly implicated in schizophrenia and/or autism spectrum disorders through large-scale genomic studies, including SHANK1-3, CaV1.2 and F-actin

(Sala et al., 2003; Inoue et al., 2004; Huang et al., 2007; Hayashi et al., 2009; Ripke et al., 2013, 2014; Fromer et al., 2014; Purcell et al., 2014; Rees et al., 2014a). It is notable that rats lacking the gene encoding CaV1.2, *CACNA1C*, exhibit impairments in inhibitory learning, as assessed through the latent inhibition of contextual fear conditioning (Sykes et al., 2016, unpublished). Further synaptic complexes implicated in schizophrenia through genetic variants functionally overlap with Homer1, such as FMRP and CYFIP1 (Ronesi et al., 2012; Fromer et al., 2014; Szatkiewicz et al., 2014b), as well as members of the MAGUK protein family, PSD-95 and PSD-93 (Sala et al., 2003; Kirov et al., 2012; Fromer et al., 2014). Through expression and protein interaction studies in model organisms, the role of Homer1 proteins in the mechanisms through which these genetic variants confer risk for psychiatric disease may be explored.

The integration of human genetic studies with experimental gene expression studies in rodents, presented in Chapter 3, demonstrates considerable potential for this approach in the investigation of biological pathways effected by genetic variation. In comparison to pathway analyses based upon gene ontology databases, which are limited by the prior functional annotation of genes, this method incorporates all genes in the analysis, regardless of prior knowledge. This form of gene set enrichment analysis could be used to probe the impact of genetic variants associated with schizophrenia, and other disorders, on discrete synaptic plasticity processes. For example, this approach could be used to investigate the enrichment of genes associated with other inhibitory learning processes, such as latent inhibition, in schizophrenia-associated variants. Alternatively, it may be used to explore the contribution of hebbian and non-hebbian type synaptic plasticity processes to psychiatric disease (Turrigiano and Nelson, 2004; Wondolowski

and Dickman, 2013). Furthermore, by analysing genes differentially expressed in cells or animals following the genetic alteration of psychiatric disease risk genes, or the exposure to environmental insult, this method may help to validate the disease relevance of model organisms. All such experiments will need to include considerations of the relative advantages of different gene expression quantification techniques. With recent advances in technology and the reduction in cost of RNA sequencing, this may now be a favourable technique for the acquisition of high quality gene expression data, over microarrays (Ozsolak and Milos, 2011).

#### 7.4.2 General future directions

Whilst the recent years have seen a substantial advance in our understanding of both genetic variants and learning systems implicated in schizophrenia, the translation of these findings to disease pathogenesis and, ultimately, applications in the clinic will require extensive further research.

It is likely that we will see further large-scale genomic studies of increasing size, in order to identify additional rare and common variants associated with schizophrenia. However, it is of equal importance that future research focuses on the function of those genes through which genetic variants confer risk to the disorder. One way this could be explored is through the characterisation and partitioning of genes sets highly enriched in case variants. This may include the investigation of regional and developmental expression patterns, or evolutionary origin. It is this type of information that would substantially improve gene ontology databases used in pathway analyses. Another approach is the generation of cell and animal models of alleles with high penetrance. This is facilitated by technological advances in genome engineering, notably the advent

of clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) (Cong et al., 2013). However, whilst these methods are useful for exploring the effects of individual risk variants, they may be less informative of the biological systems implicated in schizophrenia pathogenesis. This is where environmental models may be advantageous; particularly the study of gene-environment interactions will be critical to understanding how at-risk individuals develop schizophrenia. Together with studies into gene-gene epistatic interactions, this research will contribute to exposing the "missing heritability" associated with schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders.

#### 7.5 Conclusions

Genetic evidence increasingly suggests that genetic risk variants associated with schizophrenia impact on specific cognitive processes. One of these cognitive processes may be the extinction of averse associative memories, particularly with regards to rare CNVs. The association between extinction and schizophrenia strengthens the existing link between inhibitory learning and schizophrenia and compliments recent findings implicating inhibitory circuits in the disorder. Imbalance between inhibitory and excitatory systems may represent a key abnormality contributing to the progression of schizophrenia, and may be modelled by psychoactive compounds, such as ketamine, which blocks extinction learning. There is a clear role for synaptic proteins, particularly those of the postsynaptic density, in associative learning processes relevant to schizophrenia. Whilst further studies are required to delineate the contributions of individual schizophrenia-associated synaptic proteins in these processes, current evidence warrants the continued investigation of the Homer1 family in this regard. Future research will also benefit from further use of bioinformatics to combine

experimental expression studies with human genomic data, with an aim to better characterise specific biological pathways underlying psychiatric disorders.

# References

Abbott LF, Nelson SB (2000) Synaptic plasticity: taming the beast. Nat Neurosci 3:1178–1183.

- Achenbach T V., Brunner B, Heermeier K (2003) Oligonucleotide-based knockdown technologies: Antisense versus RNA interference. ChemBioChem 4:928–935.
- Aguado L, Antonio AS, Perez L, Valle R del, Gomez J (1994) Effects of the NMDA receptor antagonist ketamine on flavor memory: Conditioned aversion, latent inhibition, and habituation of neophobia. Behav Neural Biol 61:271–281.
- Akil M, Edgar CL, Pierri JN, Casali S, Lewis DA (2000) Decreased density of tyrosine hydroxylase-immunoreactive axons in the entorhinal cortex of schizophrenic subjects. Biol Psychiatry 47:361–370.
- Akil M, Pierri JN, Whitehead RE, Edgar CL, Mohila C, Sampson AR, Lewis DA (1999) Lamina-specific alterations in the dopamine innervation of the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenic subjects. Am J Psychiatry 156:1580–1589.
- Amann LC, Halene TB, Ehrlichman RS, Luminais SN, Ma N, Abel T, Siegel SJ (2009) Chronic ketamine impairs fear conditioning and produces long-lasting reductions in auditory evoked potentials. Neurobiol Dis 35:311–317.
- Ambesi-Impiombato A, Panariello F, Dell'aversano C, Tomasetti C, Muscettola G, de Bartolomeis A (2007) Differential expression of Homer 1 gene by acute and chronic administration of antipsychotics and dopamine transporter inhibitors in the rat forebrain. Synapse 61:429–439.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5. Am Psychiatr Assoc:991.
- Andero R, Heldt SA, Ye K, Liu X, Armario A, Ressler KJ (2011) Effect of 7,8-dihydroxyflavone, a small-molecule TrkB agonist, on emotional learning. Am J Psychiatry 168:163–172.
- Andersen SL (2003) Trajectories of brain development: Point of vulnerability or window of opportunity? In: Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, pp 3–18.
- Andrew A, Knapp M, McCrone P, Parsonage M, Trachtenberg M (2012) EFFECTIVE INTERVENTIONS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA THE ECONOMIC CASE A report prepared for the Schizophrenia Commission. London Rethink Ment Illn:1–44.
- Ango F, Pin JP, Tu JC, Xiao B, Worley PF, Bockaert J, Fagni L (2000) Dendritic and axonal targeting of type 5 metabotropic glutamate receptor is regulated by homer1 proteins and neuronal excitation. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 20:8710–8716.
- Ango F, Prézeau L, Muller T, Tu JC, Xiao B, Worley PF, Pin JP, Bockaert J, Fagni L (2001) Agonist-independent activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors by the intracellular protein Homer. Nature 411:962–965.
- Ango F, Robbe D, Tu JC, Xiao B, Worley PF, Pin J-P, Bockaert J, Fagni L (2002) Homer-dependent cell surface expression of metabotropic glutamate receptor type 5 in neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 20:323–329.
- Applegate CD, Frysinger RC, Kapp BS, Gallagher M (1982) Multiple unit activity recorded from amygdala central nucleus during Pavlovian heart rate conditioning in rabbit. Brain Res 238:457–462.
- Ary AW, Aguilar VR, Szumlinski KK, Kippin TE (2007) Prenatal stress alters limbo-corticostriatal Homer protein expression. Synapse 61:938–941.
- Asok A, Schreiber WB, Jablonski SA, Rosen JB, Stanton ME (2013) Egr-1 increases in the prefrontal cortex following training in the context preexposure facilitation effect (CPFE) paradigm. Neurobiol Learn Mem 106:145–153.
- Awad H, Hubert GW, Smith Y, Levey AI, Conn PJ (2000) Activation of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 has direct excitatory effects and potentiates NMDA receptor currents in neurons of the subthalamic nucleus. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 20:7871–7879.
- Baker KD, Den ML, Graham BM, Richardson R (2014) A window of vulnerability: Impaired fear extinction in adolescence. Neurobiol Learn Mem 113:90–100.
- Banerjee A, Luong JA, Ho A, Saib AO, Ploski JE (2016) Overexpression of Homer1a in the basal and lateral amygdala impairs fear conditioning and induces an autism-like social impairment. Mol Autism 7:16.
- Bannerman DM, Rawlins JNP, McHugh SB, Deacon RMJ, Yee BK, Bast T, Zhang W-N, Pothuizen HHJ, Feldon J (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus--memory and anxiety. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:273–283.
- Bannerman DM, Sprengel R, Sanderson DJ, McHugh SB, Rawlins JNP, Monyer H, Seeburg PH (2014) Hippocampal synaptic plasticity, spatial memory and anxiety. Nat Rev Neurosci 15:181–192.

- Barad M, Blouin AM, Cain CK (2004) Like extinction, latent inhibition of conditioned fear in mice is blocked by systemic inhibition of L-type voltage-gated calcium channels. Learn Mem 11:536–539.
- Barch DM, Carter CS, MacDonald AW, Braver TS, Cohen JD (2003) Context-processing deficits in schizophrenia: diagnostic specificity, 4-week course, and relationships to clinical symptoms. J Abnorm Psychol 112:132–143.
- Barnes P, Kirtley A, Thomas KL (2012) Quantitatively and qualitatively different cellular processes are engaged in CA1 during the consolidation and reconsolidation of contextual fear memory. Hippocampus 22:149– 171.
- Barnes P, Thomas KL (2008) Proteolysis of proBDNF is a key regulator in the formation of memory. PLoS One 3:e3248.
- Baruch I, Hemsley DR, Gray JA (1988) Differential performance of acute and chronic schizophrenics in a latent inhibition task. J Nerv Ment Dis 176:598–606.
- Bassett AS, Chow EWC (2008) Schizophrenia and 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Curr Psychiatry Rep 10:148–157.
- Baude A, Nusser Z, Roberts JD, Mulvihill E, Mcllhinney RA, Somogyi P (1993) The metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR1 alpha) is concentrated at perisynaptic membrane of neuronal subpopulations as detected by immunogold reaction. Neuron 11:771–787.
- Bauer EP, Schafe GE, LeDoux JE (2002) NMDA receptors and L-type voltage-gated calcium channels contribute to long-term potentiation and different components of fear memory formation in the lateral amygdala. J Neurosci 22:5239–5249.
- Baumeister A a, Francis JL (2002) Historical development of the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. J Hist Neurosci 11:265–277.
- Bazin N, Perruchet P (1996) Implicit and explicit associative memory in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 22:241–248.
- Beasley CL, Reynolds GP (1997) Parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons are reduced in the prefrontal cortex of schizophrenics. Schizophr Res 24:349–355.
- Behar TN, Scott CA, Greene CL, Wen X, Smith S V., Maric D, Liu QY, Colton CA, Barker JL (1999) Glutamate acting at NMDA receptors stimulates embryonic cortical neuronal migration. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 19:4449–4461.
- Beneken J, Tu JC, Xiao B, Nuriya M, Yuan JP, Worley PF, Leahy DJ (2000) Structure of the Homer EVH1 domainpeptide complex reveals a new twist in polyproline recognition. Neuron 26:143–154.
- Benros ME, Mortensen PB, Eaton WW (2012) Autoimmune diseases and infections as risk factors for schizophrenia. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1262:56–66.
- Berke JD, Paletzki RF, Aronson GJ, Hyman SE, Gerfen CR (1998) A complex program of striatal gene expression induced by dopaminergic stimulation. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 18:5301–5310.
- Berlau DJ, McGaugh JL (2006) Enhancement of extinction memory consolidation: The role of the noradrenergic and GABAergic systems within the basolateral amygdala. Neurobiol Learn Mem 86:123–132.
- Berridge KC, Robinson TE (1998) What is the role of dopamine in reward: Hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? Brain Res Rev 28:309–369.
- Berridge MJ (1998) Neuronal calcium signaling. Neuron 21:13–26.
- Bertaso F, Roussignol G, Worley P, Bockaert J, Fagni L, Ango F (2010) Homer1a-dependent crosstalk between NMDA and metabotropic glutamate receptors in mouse neurons. PLoS One 5:e9755.
- Bevilaqua LRM, Da Silva WN, Medina JH, Izquierdo I, Cammarota M (2005) Extinction and reacquisition of a fearmotivated memory require activity of the Src family of tyrosine kinases in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 81:139–145.
- Boksa P (2012) Abnormal synaptic pruning in schizophrenia: Urban myth or reality? J Psychiatry Neurosci 37:75– 77.
- Boley AM, Perez SM, Lodge DJ (2014) A fundamental role for hippocampal parvalbumin in the dopamine hyperfunction associated with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 157:238–243.
- Bolton MM, Heaney CF, Sabbagh JJ, Murtishaw AS, Magcalas CM, Kinney JW (2012) Deficits in emotional learning and memory in an animal model of schizophrenia. Behav Brain Res 233:35–44.
- Bosch M, Castro J, Saneyoshi T, Matsuno H, Sur M, Hayashi Y (2014) Structural and molecular remodeling of dendritic spine substructures during long-term potentiation. Neuron 82:444–459.
- Bottai D, Guzowski JF, Schwarz MK, Kang SH, Xiao B, Lanahan A, Worley PF, Seeburg PH (2002) Synaptic activityinduced conversion of intronic to exonic sequence in Homer 1 immediate early gene expression. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 22:167–175.
- Bouton ME (1993) Context, time, and memory retrieval in the interference paradigms of Pavlovian learning.

Psychol Bull 114:80–99.

Bouton ME (2004) Context and behavioral processes in extinction. Learn Mem 11:485–494.

- Bouton ME, Bouton E (1994) Context, Ambiguity, and Classical Conditioning. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 3:49–53.
- Bouton ME, Westbrook RF, Corcoran KA, Maren S (2006) Contextual and Temporal Modulation of Extinction: Behavioral and Biological Mechanisms. Biol Psychiatry 60:352–360.
- Brakeman PR, Lanahan AA, O'Brien R, Roche K, Barnes CA, Huganir RL, Worley PF (1997) Homer: a protein that selectively binds metabotropic glutamate receptors. Nature 386:284–288.
- Brankatschk M, Dunst S, Nemetschke L, Eaton S (2014) Delivery of circulating lipoproteins to specific neurons in the Drosophila brain regulates systemic Insulin signaling. Elife:e02862.
- Bredt DS, Nicoll RA (2003) AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. Neuron 40:361–379.
- Brooks DC, Bouton ME (1994) A retrieval cue for extinction attenuates response recovery (renewal) caused by a return to the conditioning context. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process 20:366–379.
- Burgos-Robles A, Vidal-Gonzalez I, Santini E, Quirk GJ (2007) Consolidation of Fear Extinction Requires NMDA Receptor-Dependent Bursting in the Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex. Neuron 53:871–880.
- Calabresi P, Picconi B, Tozzi A, Di Filippo M (2007) Dopamine-mediated regulation of corticostriatal synaptic plasticity. Trends Neurosci 30:211–219.
- Callaghan BL, Richardson R (2012) Early-life stress affects extinction during critical periods of development: An analysis of the effects of maternal separation on extinction in adolescent rats. Stress 15:671–679.
- Campbell AE, Bennett D (2016) Targeting protein function : the expanding toolkit for conditional disruption. 0:2573–2589.
- Cannon TD, van Erp TG, Bearden CE, Loewy R, Thompson P, Toga AW, Huttunen MO, Keshavan MS, Seidman LJ, Tsuang MT (2003) Early and late neurodevelopmental influences in the prodrome to schizophrenia: contributions of genes, environment, and their interactions. Schizophr Bull 29:653–669.
- Caussinus E, Kanca O, Affolter M (2011) Fluorescent fusion protein knockout mediated by anti-GFP nanobody. Nat Struct Mol Biol 19:117–121.
- Celikel T, Marx V, Freudenberg F, Zivkovic A, Resnik E, Hasan MT, Licznerski P, Osten P, Rozov A, Seeburg PH, Schwarz MK (2007) Select overexpression of homer1a in dorsal hippocampus impairs spatial working memory. Front Neurosci 1:97–110.
- Chan JHP, Lim S, Wong WSF (2006) Antisense oligonucleotides: From design to therapeutic application. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 33:533–540.
- Charpentier P, Gailliot P, Jacob R (1952) Recherches sur les diméthylaminopropyl-N phénothiazines substituées. Comptes rendus l'Académie des Sci 235:59–60.
- Chesney E, Goodwin GM, Fazel S (2014) Risks of all-cause and suicide mortality in mental disorders: A metareview. World Psychiatry 13:153–160.
- Chhatwal JP, Myers KM, Ressler KJ, Davis M (2005) Regulation of gephyrin and GABAA receptor binding within the amygdala after fear acquisition and extinction. J Neurosci 25:502–506.
- Chhatwal JP, Stanek-Rattiner L, Davis M, Ressler KJ (2006) Amygdala BDNF signaling is required for consolidation but not encoding of extinction. Nat Neurosci 9:870–872.
- Clifton NE, Morisot N, Girardon S, Millan MJ, Loiseau F (2013) Enhancement of social novelty discrimination by positive allosteric modulators at metabotropic glutamate 5 receptors: adolescent administration prevents adult-onset deficits induced by neonatal treatment with phencyclidine. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 225:579–594.
- Cohen JD, Barch DM, Carter C, Servan-Schreiber D (1999) Context-processing deficits in schizophrenia: converging evidence from three theoretically motivated cognitive tasks. J Abnorm Psychol 108:120–133.
- Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D, Lin S, Barretto R, Habib N, Hsu PD, Wu X, Jiang W, Marraffini LA, Zhang F (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339:819–823.
- Cooper GM et al. (2011) A copy number variation morbidity map of developmental delay. Nat Genet 43:838– 846.
- Cooper JC, Knutson B (2008) Valence and salience contribute to nucleus accumbens activation. Neuroimage 39:538–547.
- Corcoran K a, Desmond TJ, Frey K a, Maren S (2005) Hippocampal inactivation disrupts the acquisition and contextual encoding of fear extinction. J Neurosci 25:8978–8987.
- Corcoran K a, Maren S (2001) Hippocampal inactivation disrupts contextual retrieval of fear memory after extinction. J Neurosci 21:1720–1726.
- Corcoran KA, Maren S (2004) Factors Regulating the Effects of Hippocampal Inactivation on Renewal of Conditional Fear After Extinction. Learn Mem 11:598–603.

- Corlett PR (2012) Latent inhibition: Cognition, neuroscience and applications to schizophrenia. Cogn Neuropsychiatry 17:287–289.
- Corlett PR, Cambridge V, Gardner JM, Piggot JS, Turner DC, Everitt JC, Arana FS, Morgan HL, Milton AL, Lee JL, Aitken MRF, Dickinson A, Everitt BJ, Absalom AR, Adapa R, Subramanian N, Taylor JR, Krystal JH, Fletcher PC (2013) Ketamine Effects on Memory Reconsolidation Favor a Learning Model of Delusions. PLoS One 8:11–13.

Corlett PR, Krystal JH, Taylor JR, Fletcher PC (2009) Why do delusions persist? Front Hum Neurosci 3:12.

- Coutinho V, Kavanagh I, Sugiyama H, Tones MA, Henley JM (2001) Characterization of a metabotropic glutamate receptor type 5-green fluorescent protein chimera (mGluR5-GFP): pharmacology, surface expression, and differential effects of Homer-1a and Homer-1c. Mol Cell Neurosci 18:296–306.
- Craddock N, Owen MJ (2010) The Kraepelinian dichotomy Going, going... but still not gone. Br J Psychiatry 196:92–95.
- Cravens CJ, Vargas-Pinto N, Christian KM, Nakazawa K (2006) CA3 NMDA receptors are crucial for rapid and automatic representation of context memory. Eur J Neurosci 24:1771–1780.
- Czemiawski J, Yoon T, Otto T (2009) Dissociating space and trace in dorsal and ventral hippocampus. Hippocampus 19:20–32.
- Dahl JP, Kampman KM, Oslin DW, Weller AE, Lohoff FW, Ferraro TN, O'Brien CP, Berrettini WH (2005) Association of a polymorphism in the Homer1 gene with cocaine dependence in an African American population. Psychiatr Genet 15:277–283.
- Darnell JC, Van Driesche SJ, Zhang C, Hung KYS, Mele A, Fraser CE, Stone EF, Chen C, Fak JJ, Chi SW, Licatalosi DD, Richter JD, Darnell RB (2011) FMRP stalls ribosomal translocation on mRNAs linked to synaptic function and autism. Cell 146:247–261.
- Davis M (2011) NMDA receptors and fear extinction: implications for cognitive behavioral therapy. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 13:463–474.
- De Bartolomeis A, Aloj L, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Bravi D, Caracò C, Muscettola G, Barone P (2002) Acute administration of antipsychotics modulates Homer striatal gene expression differentially. Mol Brain Res 98:124–129.
- De Bartolomeis A, Sarappa C, Buonaguro EF, Marmo F, Eramo A, Tomasetti C, Iasevoli F (2013) Different effects of the NMDA receptor antagonists ketamine, MK-801, and memantine on postsynaptic density transcripts and their topography: Role of Homer signaling, and implications for novel antipsychotic and pro-cognitive targets in psychosis. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry 46:1–12.
- de Leeuw CA, Mooij JM, Heskes T, Posthuma D (2015) MAGMA: Generalized Gene-Set Analysis of GWAS Data. PLoS Comput Biol 11.
- Dell'Aversano C, Tomasetti C, Iasevoli F, de Bartolomeis A (2009) Antipsychotic and antidepressant cotreatment: Effects on transcripts of inducible postsynaptic density genes possibly implicated in behavioural disorders. Brain Res Bull 79:123–129.
- Dempster E, Viana J, Pidsley R, Mill J (2013) Epigenetic studies of schizophrenia: Progress, predicaments, and promises for the future. Schizophr Bull 39:11–16.
- Derkach VA, Oh MC, Guire ES, Soderling TR (2007) Regulatory mechanisms of AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:101–113.
- Dickey CA, Loring JF, Montgomery J, Gordon MN, Eastman PS, Morgan D (2003) Selectively reduced expression of synaptic plasticity-related genes in amyloid precursor protein + presenilin-1 transgenic mice. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 23:5219–5226.
- Dionisio N, Smani T, Woodard GE, Castellano A, Salido GM, Rosado JA (2015) Homer proteins mediate the interaction between STIM1 and Cav1.2 channels. Biochim Biophys Acta 1853:1145–1153.
- Diwadkar V a., Flaugher B, Jones T, Zalányi L, Ujfalussy B, Keshavan MS, Érdi P (2008a) Impaired associative learning in schizophrenia: Behavioral and computational studies. Cogn Neurodyn 2:207–219.
- Diwadkar VA, Flaugher B, Jones T, Zal??nyi L, Ujfalussy B, Keshavan MS, ??rdi P (2008b) Impaired associative learning in schizophrenia: Behavioral and computational studies. Cogn Neurodyn 2:207–219.
- Doherty JL, Owen MJ (2014) Genomic insights into the overlap between psychiatric disorders: implications for research and clinical practice. Genome Med 6:29.
- Dunst S, Kazimiers T, von Zadow F, Jambor H, Sagner A, Brankatschk B, Mahmoud A, Spannl S, Tomancak P, Eaton S, Brankatschk M (2015) Endogenously Tagged Rab Proteins: A Resource to Study Membrane Trafficking in Drosophila. Dev Cell 33:351–365.
- Duvarci S, Nader K, LeDoux JE (2008) De novo mRNA synthesis is required for both consolidation and reconsolidation of fear memories in the amygdala. Learn Mem 15:747–755.

- Dvir Y, Ford JD, Hill M, Frazier JA (2011) Childhood maltreatment, emotional dysregulation, and psychiatric comorbidities. Harv Rev Psychiatry 18:283–287.
- Eiland L, Ramroop J, Hill MN, Manley J, McEwen BS (2012) Chronic juvenile stress produces corticolimbic dendritic architectural remodeling and modulates emotional behavior in male and female rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37:39–47.
- Engmann O, Hortob??gyi T, Pidsley R, Troakes C, Bernstein HG, Kreutz MR, Mill J, Nikolic M, Giese KP (2011) Schizophrenia is associated with dysregulation of a Cdk5 activator that regulates synaptic protein expression and cognition. Brain 134:2408–2421.
- Escobar M, Arcediano F, Miller RR (2002) Latent inhibition and contextual associations. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process 28:123–136.
- Escudero-Esparza A, Jiang WG, Martin TA (2012) Claudin-5 participates in the regulation of endothelial cell motility. Mol Cell Biochem 361:71–85.
- Eskandarian S, Vafaei AA, Vaezi GH, Taherian F, Kashefi A, Rashidy-Pour A (2013) Effects of systemic administration of oxytocin on contextual fear extinction in a rat model of post-traumatic stress disorder. Basic ClinNeurosci 4:315–322.
- Evers MM, Toonen LJA, van Roon-Mom WMC (2015) Antisense oligonucleotides in therapy for neurodegenerative disorders. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 87:90–103.
- Fagni L, Worley PF, Ango F (2002) Homer as both a scaffold and transduction molecule. Sci STKE 2002:re8.
- Fanselow MS (1990) Factors governing one-trial contextual conditioning. Anim Learn Behav 18:264–270.
- Fanselow MS, Dong HW (2010) Are the Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Functionally Distinct Structures? Neuron 65:7–19.
- Fanselow MS, Poulos AM (2005) The neuroscience of mammalian associative learning. Annu Rev Psychol 56:207–234.
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD (2009) The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of Schizophrenia, revisited. Schizophr Bull 35:528–548.
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Kneeland RE, Yousefi MK, Liesch SB, Thuras PD (2013) Impairment of fragile X mental retardation protein-metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 signaling and its downstream cognates ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1, amyloid beta A4 precursor protein, striatal-enriched protein tyrosine phosphatase, and h. Mol Autism 4:21.
- Fatemi SH, Reutiman TJ, Folsom TD, Bell C, Nos L, Fried P, Pearce DA, Singh S, Siderovski DP, Willard FS, Fukuda M (2006) Chronic olanzapine treatment causes differential expression of genes in frontal cortex of rats as revealed by DNA microarray technique. Neuropsychopharmacol Off Publ Am Coll Neuropsychopharmacol 31:1888–1899.
- Feinberg I (1982) Schizophrenia: Caused by a fault in programmed synaptic elimination during adolescence? J Psychiatr Res 17:319–334.
- Fendt M (2001) Injections of the NMDA receptor antagonist aminophosphonopentanoic acid into the lateral nucleus of the amygdala block the expression of fear-potentiated startle and freezing. J Neurosci 21:4111–4115.
- Feng W, Tu J, Yang T, Vernon PS, Allen PD, Worley PF, Pessah IN (2002) Homer regulates gain of ryanodine receptor type 1 channel complex. J Biol Chem 277:44722–44730.
- Fernandez E, Rajan N, Bagni C (2013) The FMRP regulon: From targets to disease convergence. Front Neurosci.
- Fischer A, Radulovic M, Schrick C, Sananbenesi F, Godovac-Zimmermann J, Radulovic J (2007) Hippocampal Mek/Erk signaling mediates extinction of contextual freezing behavior. Neurobiol Learn Mem 87:149–158.
- Fischer A, Sananbenesi F, Schrick C, Spiess J, Radulovic J (2004) Distinct roles of hippocampal de novo protein synthesis and actin rearrangement in extinction of contextual fear. J Neurosci 24:1962–1966.
- Fitzjohn SM, Irving AJ, Palmer MJ, Harvey J, Lodge D, Collingridge GL (1996) Activation of group I mGluRs potentiates NMDA responses in rat hippocampal slices. Neurosci Lett 203:211–213.
- Flavell SW, Greenberg ME (2008) Signaling mechanisms linking neuronal activity to gene expression and plasticity of the nervous system. Annu Rev Neurosci 31:563–590.
- Flavell SW, Kim T-K, Gray JM, Harmin DA, Hemberg M, Hong EJ, Markenscoff-Papadimitriou E, Bear DM, Greenberg ME (2008) Genome-wide analysis of MEF2 transcriptional program reveals synaptic target genes and neuronal activity-dependent polyadenylation site selection. Neuron 60:1022–1038.
- Fletcher PC, Frith CD (2009) Perceiving is believing: a Bayesian approach to explaining the positive symptoms of schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:48–58.
- Foa L, Rajan I, Haas K, Wu GY, Brakeman P, Worley P, Cline H (2001) The scaffold protein, Homer1b/c, regulates axon pathfinding in the central nervous system in vivo. Nat Neurosci 4:499–506.

- Fontanez-Nuin DE, Santini E, Quirk GJ, Porter JT (2011) Memory for fear extinction requires mGluR5-mediated activation of infralimbic neurons. Cereb Cortex 21:727–735.
- Fredriksson A, Archer T, Alm H, Gordh T, Eriksson P (2004) Neurofunctional deficits and potentiated apoptosis by neonatal NMDA antagonist administration. Behav Brain Res 153:367–376.

Friston KJ (1998) The disconnection hypothesis. In: Schizophrenia Research, pp 115–125.

Fromer M et al. (2014) De novo mutations in schizophrenia implicate synaptic networks. Nature 506:179–184.

- Gale GD, Anagnostaras SG, Godsil BP, Mitchell S, Nozawa T, Sage JR, Wiltgen B, Fanselow MS (2004) Role of the Basolateral Amygdala in the Storage of Fear Memories across the Adult Lifetime of Rats. J Neurosci 24:3810–3815.
- Ghasemzadeh MB, Windham LK, Lake RW, Acker CJ, Kalivas PW (2009) Cocaine activates Homer1 immediate early gene transcription in the mesocorticolimbic circuit: differential regulation by dopamine and glutamate signaling. Synapse 63:42–53.
- Gilmartin MR, Helmstetter FJ (2010) Trace and contextual fear conditioning require neural activity and NMDA receptor-dependent transmission in the medial prefrontal cortex. Learn Mem 17:289–296.
- Girirajan S, Brkanac Z, Coe BP, Baker C, Vives L, Vu TH, Shafer N, Bernier R, Ferrero GB, Silengo M, Warren ST, Moreno CS, Fichera M, Romano C, Raskind WH, Eichler EE (2011) Relative burden of large CNVs on a range of neurodevelopmental phenotypes. PLoS Genet 7.
- Giuffrida R, Musumeci S, D'Antoni S, Bonaccorso CM, Giuffrida-Stella AM, Oostra BA, Catania MV (2005) A reduced number of metabotropic glutamate subtype 5 receptors are associated with constitutive homer proteins in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 25:8908–8916.
- Gonzalez-Burgos G, Lewis DA (2012) NMDA receptor hypofunction, parvalbumin-positive neurons, and cortical gamma oscillations in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 38:950–957.
- Goodbourn PT, Bosten JM, Bargary G, Hogg RE, Lawrance-Owen a. J, Mollon JD (2014) Variants in the 1q21 risk region are associated with a visual endophenotype of autism and schizophrenia. Genes, Brain Behav 13:144–151.
- Grace AA (1991) Phasic versus tonic dopamine release and the modulation of dopamine system responsivity: A hypothesis for the etiology of schizophrenia. Neuroscience 41:1–24.
- Graham BM, Richardson R (2009) Acute systemic fibroblast growth factor-2 enhances long-term extinction of fear and reduces reinstatement in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:1875–1882.
- Grant SGN (2012) Synaptopathies: diseases of the synaptome. Curr Opin Neurobiol 22:522–529.
- Gray NW, Fourgeaud L, Huang B, Chen J, Cao H, Oswald BJ, Hémar A, McNiven MA (2003) Dynamin 3 is a component of the postsynapse, where it interacts with mGluR5 and Homer. Curr Biol CB 13:510–515.
- Groeber Travis CM, Altman DE, Genovese RF (2015) Ketamine administration diminishes operant responding but does not impair conditioned fear. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 139:84–91.
- Grünweller A, Wyszko E, Bieber B, Jahnel R, Erdmann VA, Kurreck J (2003) Comparison of different antisense strategies in mammalian cells using locked nucleic acids, 2'-O-methyl RNA, phosphorothioates and small interfering RNA. Nucleic Acids Res 31:3185–3193.
- Haddad ADM, Lissek S, Pine DS, Lau JYF (2011) How do social fears in adolescence develop? Fear conditioning shapes attention orienting to social threat cues. Cogn Emot 25:1139–1147.
- Haijma S V., Van Haren N, Cahn W, Koolschijn PCMP, Hulshoff Pol HE, Kahn RS (2013) Brain volumes in schizophrenia: A meta-analysis in over 18 000 subjects. Schizophr Bull 39:1129–1138.
- Hakak Y, Walker JR, Li C, Wong WH, Davis KL, Buxbaum JD, Haroutunian V, Fienberg AA (2001) Genome-wide expression analysis reveals dysregulation of myelination-related genes in chronic schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:4746–4751.
- Hall J, Romaniuk L, McIntosh AM, Steele JD, Johnstone EC, Lawrie SM (2009) Associative learning and the genetics of schizophrenia. Trends Neurosci 32:359–365.
- Hall J, Trent S, Thomas KL, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2015) Genetic risk for schizophrenia: Convergence on synaptic pathways involved in plasticity. Biol Psychiatry 77:52–58.
- Harris JA, Westbrook RF (1998) Evidence that GABA transmission mediates context-specific extinction of learned fear. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 140:105–115.
- Harrison PJ (2015) Recent genetic findings in schizophrenia and their therapeutic relevance. J Psychopharmacol 29:85–96.
- Harrison PJ, Weinberger DR (2005) Schizophrenia genes, gene expression, and neuropathology: on the matter of their convergence. Mol Psychiatry 10:40–68; image 5.
- Hayashi MK, Ames HM, Hayashi Y (2006) Tetrameric hub structure of postsynaptic scaffolding protein homer. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 26:8492–8501.

- Hayashi MK, Tang C, Verpelli C, Narayanan R, Stearns MH, Xu R-M, Li H, Sala C, Hayashi Y (2009) The postsynaptic density proteins Homer and Shank form a polymeric network structure. Cell 137:159–171.
- Heck A et al. (2014) Converging genetic and functional brain imaging evidence links neuronal excitability to working memory, psychiatric disease, and brain activity. Neuron 81:1203–1213.
- Heldt SA, Stanek L, Chhatwal JP, Ressler KJ (2007) Hippocampus-specific deletion of BDNF in adult mice impairs spatial memory and extinction of aversive memories. Mol Psychiatry 12:656–670.
- Hennou S, Kato A, Schneider EM, Lundstrom K, Gähwiler BH, Inokuchi K, Gerber U, Ehrengruber MU (2003) Homer-1a/Vesl-1S enhances hippocampal synaptic transmission. Eur J Neurosci 18:811–819.
- Hernandez PJ, Schiltz C a., Kelley AE (2006) Dynamic shifts in corticostriatal expression patterns of the immediate early genes Homer 1a and Zif268 during early and late phases of instrumental training. Learn Mem 13:599– 608.
- Herry C, Trifilieff P, Micheau J, Lüthi A, Mons N (2006) Extinction of auditory fear conditioning requires MAPK/ERK activation in the basolateral amygdala. Eur J Neurosci 24:261–269.
- Hofer E, Doby D, Anderer P, Dantendorfer K (2001) Impaired conditional discrimination learning in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 51:127–136.
- Hofmann SG, Smits J a J, Rosenfield D, Simon N, Otto MW, Meuret AE, Marques L, Fang A, Tart C, Pollack MH (2013) D-Cycloserine as an augmentation strategy with cognitive-behavioral therapy for social anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 170:751–758.
- Holt DJ, Coombs G, Zeidan M a, Goff DC, Milad MR (2012) Failure of neural responses to safety cues in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69:893–903.
- Holt DJ, Lebron-Milad K, Milad MR, Rauch SL, Pitman RK, Orr SP, Cassidy BS, Walsh JP, Goff DC (2009) Extinction Memory Is Impaired in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 65:455–463.
- Hu J-H, Park JM, Park S, Xiao B, Dehoff MH, Kim S, Hayashi T, Schwarz MK, Huganir RL, Seeburg PH, Linden DJ, Worley PF (2010) Homeostatic scaling requires group I mGluR activation mediated by Homer1a. Neuron 68:1128–1142.
- Huang G, Kim JY, Dehoff M, Mizuno Y, Kamm KE, Worley PF, Muallem S, Zeng W (2007) Ca2+ signaling in microdomains: Homer1 mediates the interaction between RyR2 and Cav1.2 to regulate excitation-contraction coupling. J Biol Chem 282:14283–14290.
- Huang W-D, Fei Z, Zhang X (2005) Traumatic injury induced homer-1a gene expression in cultured cortical neurons of rat. Neurosci Lett 389:46–50.
- Huber KM, Gallagher SM, Warren ST, Bear MF (2002) Altered synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of fragile X mental retardation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:7746–7750.
- Hugues S, Garcia R (2007) Reorganization of learning-associated prefrontal synaptic plasticity between the recall of recent and remote fear extinction memory. Learn Mem 14:520–524.
- Hwang J-I, Kim HS, Lee JR, Kim E, Ryu SH, Suh P-G (2005) The interaction of phospholipase C-beta3 with Shank2 regulates mGluR-mediated calcium signal. J Biol Chem 280:12467–12473.
- Iasevoli F, Polese D, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Muscettola G, de Bartolomeis A (2007) Ketamine-related expression of glutamatergic postsynaptic density genes: possible implications in psychosis. Neurosci Lett 416:1–5.
- lasevoli F, Tomasetti C, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Muscettola G, de Bartolomeis A (2009) Dopamine receptor subtypes contribution to Homer1a induction: insights into antipsychotic molecular action. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 33:813–821.
- lasevoli F, Tomasetti C, Marmo F, Bravi D, Arnt J, De Bartolomeis A (2010) Divergent acute and chronic modulation of glutamatergic postsynaptic density genes expression by the antipsychotics haloperidol and sertindole. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 212:329–344.
- Igaz LM, Bekinschtein P, Izquierdo I, Medina JH (2004) One-trial aversive learning induces late changes in hippocampal CaMKIIalpha, Homer 1a, Syntaxin 1a and ERK2 protein levels. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 132:1–12.
- Ikonomidou C, Bosch F, Miksa M, Bittigau P, Vöckler J, Dikranian K, Tenkova TI, Stefovska V, Turski L, Olney JW (1999) Blockade of NMDA receptors and apoptotic neurodegeneration in the developing brain. Science 283:70–74.
- Inoue N, Nakao H, Migishima R, Hino T, Matsui M, Hayashi F, Nakao K, Manabe T, Aiba A, Inokuchi K (2009a) Requirement of the immediate early gene vesl-1S/homer-1a for fear memory formation. Mol Brain 2:7.
- Inoue N, Nakao H, Migishima R, Hino T, Matsui M, Hayashi F, Nakao K, Manabe T, Aiba A, Inokuchi K (2009b) Requirement of the immediate early gene vesl-1S/homer-1a for fear memory formation. Mol Brain 2:7.
- Inoue N, Nakao H, Migishima R, Hino T, Matsui M, Hayashi F, Nakao K, Manabe T, Aiba A, Inokuchi K (2009c) Requirement of the immediate early gene vesl-1S/homer-1a for fear memory formation. Mol Brain 2:7.

- Inoue Y, Honkura N, Kato A, Ogawa S, Udo H, Inokuchi K, Sugiyama H, Ogawa S (2004) Activity-inducible protein Homer1a/Vesl-1S promotes redistribution of postsynaptic protein Homer1c/Vesl-1L in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. Neurosci Lett 354:143–147.
- Irie K, Nakatsu T, Mitsuoka K, Miyazawa A, Sobue K, Hiroaki Y, Doi T, Fujiyoshi Y, Kato H (2002) Crystal structure of the Homer 1 family conserved region reveals the interaction between the EVH1 domain and own proline-rich motif. J Mol Biol 318:1117–1126.
- Jaaro-Peled H, Hayashi-Takagi A, Seshadri S, Kamiya A, Brandon NJ, Sawa A (2009) Neurodevelopmental mechanisms of schizophrenia: understanding disturbed postnatal brain maturation through neuregulin-1-ErbB4 and DISC1. Trends Neurosci 32:485–495.
- Jacobs MM, Ökvist A, Horvath M, Keller E, Bannon MJ, Morgello S, Hurd YL (2013) Dopamine receptor D1 and postsynaptic density gene variants associate with opiate abuse and striatal expression levels. Mol Psychiatry 18:1205–1210.
- Jaubert PJ, Golub MS, Lo YY, Germann SL, Dehoff MH, Worley PF, Kang SH, Schwarz MK, Seeburg PH, Berman RF (2007) Complex, multimodal behavioral profile of the Homer1 knockout mouse. Genes Brain Behav 6:141–154.
- Javitt DC, Zukin SR (1991) Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 148:1301–1308.
- Jensen J, Willeit M, Zipursky RB, Savina I, Smith AJ, Menon M, Crawley AP, Kapur S (2008) The Formation of Abnormal Associations in Schizophrenia: Neural and Behavioral Evidence. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:473–479.
- Jentsch JD, Taylor JR (2001) Impaired Inhibition of conditioned responses produced by subchronic administration of phencyclidine to rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 24:66–74.
- Ji J, Maren S (2007) Hippocampal involvement in contextual modulation of fear extinction. Hippocampus 17:749–758.
- Ji J, Maren S (2008) Differential roles for hippocampal areas CA1 and CA3 in the contextual encoding and retrieval of extinguished fear. Learn Mem 15:244–251.
- Jia Z, Lu Y, Henderson J, Taverna F, Romano C, Abramow-Newerly W, Wojtowicz JM, Roder J (1998) Selective abolition of the NMDA component of long-term potentiation in mice lacking mGluR5. Learn Mem 5:331– 343.
- Jones CA, Watson DJG, Fone KCF (2011) Animal models of schizophrenia. Br J Pharmacol 164:1162–1194.
- Jones SH, Gray J a, Hemsley DR (1992) Loss of the Kamin blocking effect in acute but not chronic schizophrenics. Biol Psychiatry 32:739–755.
- Kalisch R (2006) Context-Dependent Human Extinction Memory Is Mediated by a Ventromedial Prefrontal and Hippocampal Network. J Neurosci 26:9503–9511.
- Kaminsky EB et al. (2011) An evidence-based approach to establish the functional and clinical significance of copy number variants in intellectual and developmental disabilities. 13.
- Kammermeier PJ, Worley PF (2007) Homer 1a uncouples metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 from postsynaptic effectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:6055–6060.
- Kammermeier PJ, Xiao B, Tu JC, Worley PF, Ikeda SR (2000) Homer proteins regulate coupling of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors to N-type calcium and M-type potassium channels. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 20:7238–7245.
- Kampa BM, Letzkus JJ, Stuart GJ (2006) Requirement of dendritic calcium spikes for induction of spike-timingdependent synaptic plasticity. J Physiol 574:283–290.
- Kandel ER (2001) The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialogue between genes and synapses. Science 294:1030–1038.
- Kantrowitz JT, Javitt DC (2010) N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor dysfunction or dysregulation: The final common pathway on the road to schizophrenia? Brain Res Bull 83:108–121.
- Kapur S, Mizrahi R, Li M (2005) From dopamine to salience to psychosis-linking biology, pharmacology and phenomenology of psychosis. In: Schizophrenia Research, pp 59–68.
- Kar N (2011) Cognitive behavioral therapy for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder: A review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 7:167–181.
- Karl T, Arnold JC (2014) Schizophrenia: A consequence of gene-environment interactions? Front Behav Neurosci 8.
- Kato A, Ozawa F, Saitoh Y, Fukazawa Y, Sugiyama H, Inokuchi K (1998a) Novel members of the Vesl/Homer family of PDZ proteins that bind metabotropic glutamate receptors. J Biol Chem 273:23969–23975.
- Kato A, Ozawa F, Saitoh Y, Fukazawa Y, Sugiyama H, Inokuchi K, Brien O, Nature PF (1998b) Novel Members of

the Vesl / Homer Family of PDZ Proteins That Bind Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors \*. Biochemistry 273:23969–23975.

- Kato A, Ozawa F, Saitoh Y, Hirai K, Inokuchi K (1997) vesl, a gene encoding VASP/Ena family related protein, is upregulated during seizure, long-term potentiation and synaptogenesis. FEBS Lett 412:183–189.
- Kawabata S, Kohara A, Tsutsumi R, Itahana H, Hayashibe S, Yamaguchi T, Okada M (1998) Diversity of calcium signaling by metabotropic glutamate receptors. J Biol Chem 273:17381–17385.
- Kehrer C, Maziashvili N, Dugladze T, Gloveli T (2008) Altered Excitatory-Inhibitory Balance in the NMDA-Hypofunction Model of Schizophrenia. Front Mol Neurosci 1:6.
- Kelleher RJ, Geigenmüller U, Hovhannisyan H, Trautman E, Pinard R, Rathmell B, Carpenter R, Margulies D (2012) High-throughput sequencing of mGluR signaling pathway genes reveals enrichment of rare variants in autism. PLoS One 7:11–14.
- Kelly L, Farrant M, Cull-Candy SG (2009) Synaptic mGluR activation drives plasticity of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors. Nat Neurosci 12:593–601.
- Kennedy MB, Beale HC, Carlisle HJ, Washburn LR (2005) Integration of biochemical signalling in spines. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:423–434.
- Keshavan MS, Anderson S, Pettergrew JW (1994) Is Schizophrenia due to excessive synaptic pruning in the prefrontal cortex? The Feinberg hypothesis revisited. J Psychiatr Res 28:239–265.
- Kesner RP, Rolls ET (2015) A computational theory of hippocampal function, and tests of the theory: New developments. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 48:92–147.
- Khandaker GM, Zimbron J, Lewis G, Jones PB (2012) Prenatal maternal infection, neurodevelopment and adult schizophrenia: a systematic review of population-based studies. Psychol Med:1–19.
- Khashan AS, Abel KM, McNamee R, Pedersen MG, Webb RT, Baker PN, Kenny LC, Mortensen PB (2008) Higher risk of offspring schizophrenia following antenatal maternal exposure to severe adverse life events. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:146–152.
- Kim J, Lee S, Park H, Song B, Hong I, Geum D, Shin K, Choi S (2007) Blockade of amygdala metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 1 impairs fear extinction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 355:188–193.
- Kim JH, Li S, Richardson R (2011) Immunohistochemical analyses of long-term extinction of conditioned fear in adolescent rats. Cereb Cortex 21:530–538.
- Kim JY, Zeng W, Kiselyov K, Yuan JP, Dehoff MH, Mikoshiba K, Worley PF, Muallem S (2006) Homer 1 mediates store- and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor-dependent translocation and retrieval of TRPC3 to the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 281:32540–32549.
- Kirov G et al. (2012) De novo CNV analysis implicates specific abnormalities of postsynaptic signalling complexes in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 17:142–153.
- Kirov G, Rees E, Walters JTR, Escott-Price V, Georgieva L, Richards AL, Chambert KD, Davies G, Legge SE, Moran JL, McCarroll SA, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2014) The penetrance of copy number variations for schizophrenia and developmental delay. Biol Psychiatry 75:378–385.
- Kleinman JE, Law AJ, Lipska BK, Hyde TM, Ellis JK, Harrison PJ, Weinberger DR (2011) Genetic neuropathology of schizophrenia: New approaches to an old question and new uses for postmortem human brains. Biol Psychiatry 69:140–145.
- Klugmann M, Symes CW, Leichtlein CB, Klaussner BK, Dunning J, Fong D, Young D, During MJ (2005) AAVmediated hippocampal expression of short and long Homer 1 proteins differentially affect cognition and seizure activity in adult rats. Mol Cell Neurosci 28:347–360.
- Knuesel I, Chicha L, Britschgi M, Schobel SA, Bodmer M, Hellings JA, Toovey S, Prinssen EP (2014) Maternal immune activation and abnormal brain development across CNS disorders. Nat Rev Neurol 10:643–660.
- Komuro H, Rakic P (1993) Modulation of neuronal migration by NMDA receptors. Science 260:95–97.
- Kosmidis MH, Breier A, Fantie BD (1999) Avoidance learning in schizophrenia: A dissociation between the effects of aversive and non-aversive stimuli. Schizophr Res 38:51–59.
- Kotlar A V., Mercer KB, Zwick ME, Mulle JG (2015) New discoveries in schizophrenia genetics reveal neurobiological pathways: A review of recent findings. Eur J Med Genet 58:704–714.
- Kretschmer-Kazemi Far R, Sczakiel G (2003) The activity of siRNA in mammalian cells is related to structural target accessibility: A comparison with antisense oligonucleotides. Nucleic Acids Res 31:4417–4424.
- Krystal JH, Karper LP, Seibyl JP, Freeman GK, Delaney R, Bremner JD, Heninger GR, Bowers MB, Charney DS (1994) Subanesthetic effects of the noncompetitive NMDA antagonist, ketamine, in humans.

Psychotomimetic, perceptual, cognitive, and neuroendocrine responses. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:199–214. Laborit H, Huguenard P, Alluaume R (1952) Un noveau stabilisateur végétatif. Presse Med 60:206–208.

Laurent V, Westbrook RF (2009) Inactivation of the infralimbic but not the prelimbic cortex impairs consolidation
and retrieval of fear extinction. Learn Mem 16:520–529.

- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J (2003) Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction of conditioned freezing. Behav Neurosci 117:341–349.
- LeDoux JE, Farb CR, Romanski LM (1991) Overlapping projections to the amygdala and striatum from auditory processing areas of the thalamus and cortex. Neurosci Lett 134:139–144.
- Lee JLC, Everitt BJ, Thomas KL (2004) Independent cellular processes for hippocampal memory consolidation and reconsolidation. Science 304:839–843.
- Lee SH et al. (2013) Genetic relationship between five psychiatric disorders estimated from genome-wide SNPs. Nat Genet 45:984–994.
- Lee SH, DeCandia TR, Ripke S, Yang J, Sullivan PF, Goddard ME, Keller MC, Visscher PM, Wray NR (2012) Estimating the proportion of variation in susceptibility to schizophrenia captured by common SNPs. Nat Genet 44:247–250.
- Lee SH, Wray NR, Goddard ME, Visscher PM (2011) Estimating missing heritability for disease from genome-wide association studies. Am J Hum Genet 88:294–305.
- Leucht S, Cipriani A, Spineli L, Mavridis D, Örey D, Richter F, Samara M, Barbui C, Engel RR, Geddes JR, Kissling W, Stapf MP, Lässig B, Salanti G, Davis JM (2013) Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 15 antipsychotic drugs in schizophrenia: A multiple-treatments meta-analysis. Lancet 382:951–962.
- Leucht S, Tardy M, Komossa K, Heres S, Kissling W, Salanti G, Davis JM (2012) Antipsychotic drugs versus placebo for relapse prevention in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 379:2063–2071.
- Levinson DF et al. (2011) Copy number variants in schizophrenia: confirmation of five previous findings and new evidence for 3q29 microdeletions and VIPR2 duplications. Am J Psychiatry 168:302–316.
- Lewandowski KE, Cohen BM, Ongur D (2011) Evolution of neuropsychological dysfunction during the course of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Psychol Med 41:225–241.
- Lewis D a, Hashimoto T, Volk DW (2005) Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:312–324.
- Lewis DA, Curley A a., Glausier JR, Volk DW (2012) Cortical parvalbumin interneurons and cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. Trends Neurosci 35:57–67.
- Li Y, Krogh KA, Thayer SA (2012) Epileptic stimulus increases Homer 1a expression to modulate endocannabinoid signaling in cultured hippocampal neurons. Neuropharmacology 63:1140–1149.
- Lichtenstein P, Yip BH, Björk C, Pawitan Y, Cannon TD, Sullivan PF, Hultman CM (2009) Common genetic determinants of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in Swedish families: a population-based study. Lancet 373:234–239.
- Likhtik E, Popa D, Apergis-Schoute J, Fidacaro GA, Paré D (2008) Amygdala intercalated neurons are required for expression of fear extinction. Nature 454:642–645.
- Lin C, Yeh S, Lu H, Gean P (2003) The similarities and diversities of signal pathways leading to consolidation of conditioning and consolidation of extinction of fear memory. J Neurosci 23:8310–8317.
- Lin H-C, Mao S-C, Su C-L, Gean P-W (2009) The role of prefrontal cortex CB1 receptors in the modulation of fear memory. Cereb Cortex 19:165–175.
- Linden DEJ (2012) The Challenges and Promise of Neuroimaging in Psychiatry. Neuron 73:8–22.
- Linnman C, Coombs G, Goff DC, Holt DJ (2013) Lack of insula reactivity to aversive stimuli in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 143:150–157.
- Liu H, Abecasis GR, Heath SC, Knowles A, Demars S, Chen Y-J, Roos JL, Rapoport JL, Gogos J a, Karayiorgou M (2002) Genetic variation in the 22q11 locus and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:16859–16864.
- Lominac KD, Oleson EB, Pava M, Klugmann M, Schwarz MK, Seeburg PH, During MJ, Worley PF, Kalivas PW, Szumlinski KK (2005) Distinct roles for different Homer1 isoforms in behaviors and associated prefrontal cortex function. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 25:11586–11594.
- Lu J, Helton TD, Blanpied TA, R??cz B, Newpher TM, Weinberg RJ, Ehlers MD (2007) Postsynaptic Positioning of Endocytic Zones and AMPA Receptor Cycling by Physical Coupling of Dynamin-3 to Homer. Neuron 55:874– 889.
- Lujan R, Nusser Z, Roberts JD, Shigemoto R, Somogyi P (1996) Perisynaptic location of metabotropic glutamate receptors mGluR1 and mGluR5 on dendrites and dendritic spines in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 8:1488–1500.
- Luo P, Chen T, Zhao Y, Zhang L, Yang Y, Liu W, Li S, Rao W, Dai S, Yang J, Fei Z (2014) Postsynaptic scaffold protein Homer 1a protects against traumatic brain injury via regulating group I metabotropic glutamate receptors. Cell Death Dis 5:e1174.

- Luo P, Li X, Fei Z, Poon W (2012) Scaffold protein Homer 1: Implications for neurological diseases. Neurochem Int 61:731–738.
- Ma Z-L, Zhu W, Zhang W, Gu X-P (2009) Effect of the synaptic scaffolding protein Homer1a on chronic compression of dorsal root ganglion. Ann Clin Lab Sci 39:71–75.
- Mackay TFC (2014) Epistasis and quantitative traits: using model organisms to study gene-gene interactions. Nat Rev Genet 15:22–33.
- Mackintosh NJ (1983) Conditioning and associative learning. Oxford University Press.
- Mahan AL, Mou L, Shah N, Hu J-H, Worley PF, Ressler KJ (2012) Epigenetic modulation of Homer1a transcription regulation in amygdala and hippocampus with pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 32:4651–4659.
- Malhotra D, Sebat J (2012) CNVs: Harbingers of a rare variant revolution in psychiatric genetics. Cell 148:1223– 1241.
- Malone DT, Hill MN, Rubino T (2010) Adolescent cannabis use and psychosis: Epidemiology and neurodevelopmental models. Br J Pharmacol 160:511–522.
- Mamiya N, Fukushima H, Suzuki A, Matsuyama Z, Homma S, Frankland PW, Kida S (2009) Brain Region-Specific Gene Expression Activation Required for Reconsolidation and Extinction of Contextual Fear Memory. J Neurosci 29:402–413.
- Manolio TA et al. (2009) Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases. Nature 461:747–753.
- Maren S (2001) Neurobiology of Pavlovian fear conditioning. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:897–931.
- Maren S (2011) Seeking a Spotless Mind: Extinction, Deconsolidation, and Erasure of Fear Memory. Neuron 70:830–845.
- Maren S, Fanselow MS (1995) Synaptic plasticity in the basolateral amygdala induced by hippocampal formation stimulation in vivo. J Neurosci 15:7548–7564.
- Maren S, Hobin J a (2007) Hippocampal regulation of context-dependent neuronal activity in the lateral amygdala. Learn Mem 14:318–324.
- Maren S, Holmes A (2015) Stress and Fear Extinction. Neuropsychopharmacology 41:1–22.
- Maren S, Holt W (2000) The hippocampus and contextual memory retrieval in Pavlovian conditioning. In: Behavioural Brain Research, pp 97–108.
- Maren S, Phan KL, Liberzon I (2013) The contextual brain: implications for fear conditioning, extinction and psychopathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:417–428.
- Marenco S, Weinberger DR, Schreurs BG (2003) Single-cue delay and trace classical conditioning in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 53:390–402.
- Marrone DF, Schaner MJ, McNaughton BL, Worley PF, Barnes CA (2008) Immediate-early gene expression at rest recapitulates recent experience. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 28:1030–1033.
- Martin SJ, Grimwood PD, Morris RG (2000) Synaptic plasticity and memory: an evaluation of the hypothesis. Annu Rev Neurosci 23:649–711.
- Marwaha S, Johnson S (2004) Schizophrenia and employment: A review. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 39:337–349.
- Matosin N, Fernandez-Enright F, Lum JS, Engel M, Andrews JL, Gassen NC, Wagner K V, Schmidt M V, Newell KA (2016) Molecular evidence of synaptic pathology in the CA1 region in schizophrenia. npj Schizophr 2:16022.
- Matosin N, Newell KA (2013) Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in the pathology and treatment of schizophrenia. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37:256–268.
- Matsugami TR, Tanemura K, Mieda M, Nakatomi R, Yamada K, Kondo T, Ogawa M, Obata K, Watanabe M, Hashikawa T, Tanaka K (2006) From the Cover: Indispensability of the glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT1 to brain development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:12161–12166.
- Matus-Amat P, Higgins E a, Barrientos RM, Rudy JW (2004) The role of the dorsal hippocampus in the acquisition and retrieval of context memory representations. J Neurosci 24:2431–2439.
- Matveeva O V, Tsodikov AD, Giddings M, Freier SM, Wyatt JR, Spiridonov AN, Shabalina SA, Gesteland RF, Atkins JF (2000) Identification of sequence motifs in oligonucleotides whose presence is correlated with antisense activity. Nucleic Acids Res 28:2862–2865.
- Maurano MT et al. (2012) Systematic Localization of Common Disease-Associated Variation in Regulatory DNA. Science (80-) 337:1190–1195.
- McCallum J, Kim JH, Richardson R (2010) Impaired extinction retention in adolescent rats: effects of Dcycloserine. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:2134–2142.
- McCarthy MI, Abecasis GR, Cardon LR, Goldstein DB, Little J, Ioannidis JPA, Hirschhorn JN (2008) Genome-wide

association studies for complex traits: consensus, uncertainty and challenges. Nat Rev Genet 9:356–369.

- McCormick CM (2010) An animal model of social instability stress in adolescence and risk for drugs of abuse. Physiol Behav 99:194–203.
- McCormick CM, Mathews IZ, Thomas C, Waters P (2010) Investigations of HPA function and the enduring consequences of stressors in adolescence in animal models. Brain Cogn 72:73–85.
- McGaugh JL (1966) Time-dependent processes in memory storage. Science 153:1351–1358.
- McGrath J, Saha S, Chant D, Welham J (2008) Schizophrenia: A concise overview of incidence, prevalence, and mortality. Epidemiol Rev 30:67–76.
- Milad MR, Quirk GJ (2012) Fear Extinction as a Model for Translational Neuroscience: Ten Years of Progress. Annu Rev Psychol 63:129–151.
- Millan MJ et al. (2012) Cognitive dysfunction in psychiatric disorders: characteristics, causes and the quest for improved therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11:141–168.
- Millan MJ (2013) An epigenetic framework for neurodevelopmental disorders: From pathogenesis to potential therapy. Neuropharmacology 68:2–82.
- Miller R (1976) Schizophrenic psychology, associative learning and the role of forebrain dopamine. Med Hypotheses 2:203–211.
- Moghaddam B (2003) Bringing Order to the Glutamate Chaos in Schizophrenia. Neuron 40:881–884.
- Montes-Rodríguez CJ, Lapointe V, Trivedi V, Lu Q, Demchuk AM, Mcnaughton BL (2013) Postnatal development of Homer1a in the rat hippocampus. Hippocampus 23:890–902.
- Moosmang S, Haider N, Klugbauer N, Adelsberger H, Langwieser N, Muller J, Stiess M, Marais E, Schulla V, Lacinova L, Goebbels S, Nave KA, Storm DR, Hofmann F, Kleppisch T (2005) Role of hippocampal Cav1.2 Ca2+ channels in NMDA receptor-independent synaptic plasticity and spatial memory. J Neurosci 25:9883– 9892.
- Morris AM, Weeden CS, Churchwell JC, Kesner RP (2013) The role of the dentate gyrus in the formation of contextual representations. Hippocampus 23:162–168.
- Moutin E, Raynaud F, Roger J, Pellegrino E, Homburger V, Bertaso F, Ollendorff V, Bockaert J, Fagni L, Perroy J (2012) Dynamic remodeling of scaffold interactions in dendritic spines controls synaptic excitability. J Cell Biol 198:251–263.
- Mueller D, Bravo-Rivera C, Quirk GJ (2010) Infralimbic D2 receptors are necessary for fear extinction and extinction-related tone responses. Biol Psychiatry 68:1055–1060.
- Murakoshi H, Yasuda R (2012) Postsynaptic signaling during plasticity of dendritic spines. Trends Neurosci 35:135–143.
- Naisbitt S, Kim E, Tu JC, Xiao B, Sala C, Valtschanoff J, Weinberg RJ, Worley PF, Sheng M (1999) Shank, a novel family of postsynaptic density proteins that binds to the NMDA receptor/PSD-95/GKAP complex and cortactin. Neuron 23:569–582.
- Napoli I, Mercaldo V, Boyl PP, Eleuteri B, Zalfa F, De Rubeis S, Di Marino D, Mohr E, Massimi M, Falconi M, Witke W, Costa-Mattioli M, Sonenberg N, Achsel T, Bagni C (2008) The Fragile X Syndrome Protein Represses Activity-Dependent Translation through CYFIP1, a New 4E-BP. Cell 134:1042–1054.
- Neumann DL, Waters AM, Westbury HR, Henry J (2008) The use of an unpleasant sound unconditional stimulus in an aversive conditioning procedure with 8- to 11-year-old children. Biol Psychol 79:337–342.
- Neves G, Cooke SF, Bliss TVP (2008) Synaptic plasticity, memory and the hippocampus: a neural network approach to causality. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:65–75.
- Nevian T, Sakmann B (2006) Spine Ca2+ signaling in spike-timing-dependent plasticity. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 26:11001–11013.
- Newcomer JW, Farber NB, Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Selke G, Melson AK, Hershey T, Craft S, Olney JW (1999) Ketamine-induced NMDA receptor hypofunction as a model of memory impairment and psychosis. Neuropsychopharmacology 20:106–118.
- Nichols CD, Garcia EE, Sanders-Bush E (2003) Dynamic changes in prefrontal cortex gene expression following lysergic acid diethylamide administration. Mol Brain Res 111:182–188.
- Nichols CD, Sanders-Bush E (2002) A single dose of lysergic acid diethylamide influences gene expression patterns within the mammalian brain. Neuropsychopharmacol Off Publ Am Coll Neuropsychopharmacol 26:634–642.
- Nicodemus KK, Callicott JH, Higier RG, Luna A, Nixon DC, Lipska BK, Vakkalanka R, Giegling I, Rujescu D, Clair DS, Muglia P, Shugart YY, Weinberger DR (2010a) Evidence of statistical epistasis between DISC1, CIT and NDEL1 impacting risk for schizophrenia: Biological validation with functional neuroimaging. Hum Genet 127:441–452.

- Nicodemus KK, Hargreaves A, Morris D, Anney R, Gill M, Corvin A, Donohoe G (2014) Variability in Working Memory Performance Explained by Epistasis vs Polygenic Scores in the ZNF804A Pathway. JAMA Psychiatry 71:778–785.
- Nicodemus KK, Kolachana BS, Vakkalanka R, Straub RE, Giegling I, Egan MF, Rujescu D, Weinberger DR (2007) Evidence for statistical epistasis between catechol-O -methyltransferase (COMT) and polymorphisms in RGS4, G72 (DAOA), GRM3, and DISC1: influence on risk of schizophrenia. Hum Genet 120:889–906.
- Nicodemus KK, Law AJ, Radulescu E, Luna A, Kolachana B, Vakkalanka R, Rujescu D, Giegling I, Straub RE, McGee K, Gold B, Dean M, Muglia P, Callicott JH, Tan H-Y, Weinberger DR (2010b) Biological validation of increased schizophrenia risk with NRG1, ERBB4, and AKT1 epistasis via functional neuroimaging in healthy controls. Arch Gen Psychiatry 67:991–1001.
- Norton N, Williams HJ, Williams NM, Spurlock G, Zammit S, Jones G, Jones S, Owen R, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2003) Mutation screening of the Homer gene family and association analysis in schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet Part B, Neuropsychiatr Genet Off Publ Int Soc Psychiatr Genet 120B:18–21.
- O'Carroll CM, Morris RGM (2004) Heterosynaptic co-activation of glutamatergic and dopaminergic afferents is required to induce persistent long-term potentiation. Neuropharmacology 47:324–332.
- Obara I, Goulding SP, Hu J-H, Klugmann M, Worley PF, Szumlinski KK (2013) Nerve injury-induced changes in Homer/glutamate receptor signaling contribute to the development and maintenance of neuropathic pain. Pain 154:1932–1945.
- Oberling P, DiScala G, Sandner G (1996) Ketamine acts as an internal contextual stimulus that facilitates the retrieval of weak associations in conditioned taste aversion. Psychobiology 24:300–305.
- Ochs S (1968) Integrative activity of the brain: An interdisciplinary approach. JAMA 203:371–371.
- Okada D, Ozawa F, Inokuchi K (2009a) Input-specific spine entry of soma-derived Vesl-1S protein conforms to synaptic tagging. Science 324:904–909.
- Okada D, Ozawa F, Inokuchi K (2009b) Input-specific spine entry of soma-derived Vesl-1S protein conforms to synaptic tagging. Science 324:904–909.
- Olney JW, Farber NB (1995) Glutamate receptor dysfunction and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:998–1007.
- Olson PA, Tkatch T, Hernandez-Lopez S, Ulrich S, Ilijic E, Mugnaini E, Zhang H, Bezprozvanny I, Surmeier DJ (2005) G-protein-coupled receptor modulation of striatal CaV1.3 L-type Ca2+ channels is dependent on a Shankbinding domain. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 25:1050–1062.
- Orsini C a., Kim JH, Knapska E, Maren S (2011) Hippocampal and Prefrontal Projections to the Basal Amygdala Mediate Contextual Regulation of Fear after Extinction. J Neurosci 31:17269–17277.
- Owen MJ, Sawa A, Mortensen PB (2016) Schizophrenia. Lancet 6736:1–12.
- Ozsolak F, Milos PM (2011) RNA sequencing: advances, challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Genet 12:87–98.
- Padlubnaya DB, Parekh NH, Brown TH (2006) Neurophysiological theory of kamin blocking in fear conditioning. Behav Neurosci 120:337–352.
- Pamplona FA, Bitencourt RM, Takahashi RN (2008) Short- and long-term effects of cannabinoids on the extinction of contextual fear memory in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 90:290–293.
- Pantelis C, Y??cel M, Bora E, Fornito A, Testa R, Brewer WJ, Velakoulis D, Wood SJ (2009) Neurobiological markers of illness onset in psychosis and schizophrenia: The search for a moving target. Neuropsychol Rev 19:385–398.
- Pardiñas AF et al. (2016) Common schizophrenia alleles are enriched in mutation-intolerant genes and maintained by background selection. bioRxiv.
- Paschoud S, Guillemot L, Citi S (2012) Distinct domains of paracingulin are involved in its targeting to the actin cytoskeleton and regulation of apical junction assembly. J Biol Chem 287:13159–13169.
- Pathania M, Davenport EC, Muir J, Sheehan DF, López-Doménech G, Kittler JT (2014) The autism and schizophrenia associated gene CYFIP1 is critical for the maintenance of dendritic complexity and the stabilization of mature spines. Transl Psychiatry 4:e374.
- Pattwell SS, Duhoux S, Hartley CA, Johnson DC, Jing D, Elliott MD (2012) Altered fear learning across development in both mouse and human. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:16318–16323.
- Paus T, Keshavan M, Giedd JN (2008) Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? Nat Rev Neurosci 9:947–957.
- Pavlov IP (1927) Conditioned Reflexes.
- Pearce JM, Bouton ME (2001) Theories of associative learning in animals. Annu Rev Psychol 52:111–139.
- Pedreira ME, Maldonado H (2003) Protein synthesis subserves reconsolidation or extinction depending on reminder duration. Neuron 38:863–869.

- Peters J, Dieppa-Perea LM, Melendez LM, Quirk GJ (2010) Induction of fear extinction with hippocampalinfralimbic BDNF. Science 328:1288–1290.
- Pfeiffer UJ, Fendt M (2006) Prefrontal dopamine D4 receptors are involved in encoding fear extinction. Neuroreport 17:847–850.
- Phelps EA, LeDoux JE (2005) Contributions of the amygdala to emotion processing: From animal models to human behavior. Neuron 48:175–187.
- Phillips RG, LeDoux JE (1992) Differential contribution of amygdala and hippocampus to cued and contextual fear conditioning. Behav Neurosci 106:274–285.
- Pietersen CY, Bosker FJ, Postema F, Fokkema DS, Korf J, den Boer J a. (2006) Ketamine administration disturbs behavioural and distributed neural correlates of fear conditioning in the rat. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry 30:1209–1218.
- Pinto D et al. (2014) Convergence of genes and cellular pathways dysregulated in autism spectrum disorders. Am J Hum Genet 94:677–694.
- Pitkänen A, Savander V, LeDoux JE (1997) Organization of intra-amygdaloid circuitries in the rat: An emerging framework for understanding functions of the amygdala. Trends Neurosci 20:517–523.
- Pitman RK (1988) Post-traumatic stress disorder, conditioning, and network theory. Psychiatr Ann 18:182–189.
- Plath N et al. (2006) Arc/Arg3.1 is essential for the consolidation of synaptic plasticity and memories. Neuron 52:437–444.
- Plenge RM, Scolnick EM, Altshuler D (2013) Validating therapeutic targets through human genetics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12:581–594.
- Pocklington AJ, O'Donovan M, Owen MJ (2014) The synapse in schizophrenia. Eur J Neurosci 39:1059–1067.
- Pocklington AJ, Rees E, Walters JTR, Han J, Kavanagh DH, Chambert KD, Holmans P, Moran JL, McCarroll SA, Kirov G, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2015) Novel Findings from CNVs Implicate Inhibitory and Excitatory Signaling Complexes in Schizophrenia. Neuron 86:1203–1214.
- Polese D, de Serpis AA, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Muscettola G, de Bartolomeis A (2002) Homer 1a gene expression modulation by antipsychotic drugs: involvement of the glutamate metabotropic system and effects of Dcycloserine. Neuropsychopharmacol Off Publ Am Coll Neuropsychopharmacol 27:906–913.
- Pollard M, Varin C, Hrupka B, Pemberton DJ, Steckler T, Shaban H (2012) Synaptic transmission changes in fear memory circuits underlie key features of an animal model of schizophrenia. Behav Brain Res 227:184–193.
- Pop AS, Gomez-Mancilla B, Neri G, Willemsen R, Gasparini F (2014) Fragile X syndrome: a preclinical review on metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) antagonists and drug development. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 231:1217–1226.
- Puga F, Barrett DW, Bastida CC, Gonzalez-Lima F (2007) Functional networks underlying latent inhibition learning in the mouse brain. Neuroimage 38:171–183.
- Purcell SM et al. (2009) Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Nature 10:8192–8192.
- Purcell SM et al. (2014) A polygenic burden of rare disruptive mutations in schizophrenia. Nature 506.
- Quirk GJ, Mueller D (2008) Neural mechanisms of extinction learning and retrieval. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:56–72.
- Quirk GJ, Paré D, Richardson R, Herry C, Monfils MH, Schiller D, Vicentic A (2010) Erasing fear memories with extinction training. J Neurosci 30:14993–14997.
- Radulovic J, Tronson NC (2010) Molecular specificity of multiple hippocampal processes governing fear extinction. Rev Neurosci 21:1–17.
- Ranganath C, Cohen MX, Dam C, D'Esposito M (2004) Inferior temporal, prefrontal, and hippocampal contributions to visual working memory maintenance and associative memory retrieval. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 24:3917–3925.
- Ranganath C, Minzenberg MJ, Ragland JD (2008) The Cognitive Neuroscience of Memory Function and Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 64:18–25.
- Rao S, Lam MHB, Yeung VSY, Wing YK, Waye MMY (2016) Association of HOMER1 rs2290639 with suicide attempts in Hong Kong Chinese and the potentially functional role of this polymorphism. Springerplus 5:767.
- Rascle C, Mazas O, Vaiva G, Tournant M, Raybois O, Goudemand M, Thomas P (2001) Clinical features of latent inhibition in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 51:149–161.
- Rattiner LM, Davis M, French CT, Ressler KJ (2004) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and tyrosine kinase receptor B involvement in amygdala-dependent fear conditioning. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 24:4796–4806.

- Razoux F, Garcia R, Léna I (2007) Ketamine, at a dose that disrupts motor behavior and latent inhibition, enhances prefrontal cortex synaptic efficacy and glutamate release in the nucleus accumbens. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:719–727.
- Rees E et al. (2014a) CNV analysis in a large schizophrenia sample implicates deletions at 16p12.1 and SLC1A1 and duplications at 1p36.33 and CGNL1. Hum Mol Genet 23:1669–1676.

Rees E, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2015) Genetics of schizophrenia. Curr Opin Behav Sci 2:8–14.

- Rees E, Walters JTR, Georgieva L, Isles AR, Chambert KD, Richards AL, Mahoney-Davies G, Legge SE, Moran JL, McCarroll S a., O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ, Kirov G (2014b) Analysis of copy number variations at 15 schizophrenia-associated loci. Br J Psychiatry 204:108–114.
- Reinhard M, Jarchau T, Walter U (2001) Actin-based motility: stop and go with Ena/VASP proteins. Trends Biochem Sci 26:243–249.
- Rescorla RA, Heth CD (1975) Reinstatement of fear to an extinguished conditioned stimulus. Anim Behav Process 104:88–96.
- Rietschel M et al. (2010a) Genome-wide association-, replication-, and neuroimaging study implicates HOMER1 in the etiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 68:578–585.
- Rietschel M et al. (2010b) Genome-wide association-, replication-, and neuroimaging study implicates homer1 in the etiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 68:578–585.
- Ripke S et al. (2013) Genome-wide association analysis identifies 13 new risk loci for schizophrenia. Nat Genet 45:1150–1159.
- Ripke S et al. (2014) Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. Nature 511:421–427.
- Ripke S, Sanders A, Kendler K (2011) Genome-wide association study identifies five new schizophrenia loci. Nat ... 43:969–976.
- Roche KW, Tu JC, Petralia RS, Xiao B, Wenthold RJ, Worley PF (1999) Homer 1b regulates the trafficking of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors. J Biol Chem 274:25953–25957.
- Rodrigues SM, Bauer EP, Farb CR, Schafe GE, LeDoux JE (2002) The group I metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5 is required for fear memory formation and long-term potentiation in the lateral amygdala. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 22:5219–5229.
- Rolls ET (2016) Pattern separation, completion, and categorisation in the hippocampus and neocortex. Neurobiol Learn Mem 129:4–28.
- Romeo RD (2013) The Teenage Brain: The Stress Response and the Adolescent Brain. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 22:140–145.
- Ronesi J a, Huber KM (2008) Homer interactions are necessary for metabotropic glutamate receptor-induced long-term depression and translational activation. J Neurosci 28:543–547.
- Ronesi JA, Collins KA, Hays SA, Tsai N-P, Guo W, Birnbaum SG, Hu J-H, Worley PF, Gibson JR, Huber KM (2012) Disrupted Homer scaffolds mediate abnormal mGluR5 function in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. Nat Neurosci 15:431–440.
- Roselli F, Hutzler P, Wegerich Y, Livrea P, Almeida OFX (2009) Disassembly of shank and homer synaptic clusters is driven by soluble beta-amyloid(1-40) through divergent NMDAR-dependent signalling pathways. PLoS One 4:e6011.
- Rossato JI, Bevilaqua LRM, Lima RH, Medina JH, Izquierdo I, Cammarota M (2006) On the participation of hippocampal p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in extinction and reacquisition of inhibitory avoidance memory. Neuroscience 143:15–23.
- Rozov A, Zivkovic AR, Schwarz MK (2012) Homer1 gene products orchestrate Ca(2+)-permeable AMPA receptor distribution and LTP expression. Front Synaptic Neurosci 4:4.
- Rushe TM, Woodruff PW, Murray RM, Morris RG (1999) Episodic memory and learning in patients with chronic schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 35:85–96.
- Sala C, Futai K, Yamamoto K, Worley PF, Hayashi Y, Sheng M (2003) Inhibition of dendritic spine morphogenesis and synaptic transmission by activity-inducible protein Homer1a. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 23:6327– 6337.
- Sala C, Roussignol G, Meldolesi J, Fagni L (2005) Key role of the postsynaptic density scaffold proteins Shank and Homer in the functional architecture of Ca2+ homeostasis at dendritic spines in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 25:4587–4592.
- Santini E, Porter JT (2010) M-type potassium channels modulate the intrinsic excitability of infralimbic neurons and regulate fear expression and extinction. J Neurosci 30:12379–12386.
- Schobel S a, Lewandowski NM, Corcoran CM, Moore H, Brown T, Malaspina D, Small S a (2009) Differential targeting of the CA1 subfield of the hippocampal formation by schizophrenia and related psychotic

disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66:938–946.

- Scholz B, Doidge AN, Barnes P, Hall J, Wilkinson LS, Thomas KL (2016) The regulation of cytokine networks in hippocampal CA1 differentiates extinction from those required for the maintenance of contextual fear memory after recall. PLoS One 11:e0153102.
- Schönenberg M, Reichwald U, Domes G, Badke a, Hautzinger M (2008) Ketamine aggravates symptoms of acute stress disorder in a naturalistic sample of accident victims. J Psychopharmacol 22:493–497.
- Schönenberg M, Reichwald U, Domes G, Badke A, Hautzinger M (2005) Effects of peritraumatic ketamine medication on early and sustained posttraumatic stress symptoms in moderately injured accident victims. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 182:420–425.
- Sears LL, Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS (2000) Cerebellar functional abnormalities in schizophrenia are suggested by classical eyeblink conditioning. Biol Psychiatry 48:204–209.
- Seeman P, Lee T, Chau-Wong M, Wong K (1976) Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. Nature 261:717–719.
- Serra a. M, Jones SH, Toone B, Gray J a. (2001) Impaired associative learning in chronic schizophrenics and their first-degree relatives: A study of latent inhibition and the Kamin blocking effect. Schizophr Res 48:273–289.
- Shiraishi-Yamaguchi Y, Furuichi T (2007) The Homer family proteins. Genome Biol 8:206.
- Sierra-Mercado D, Padilla-Coreano N, Quirk GJ (2011) Dissociable Roles of Prelimbic and Infralimbic Cortices, Ventral Hippocampus, and Basolateral Amygdala in the Expression and Extinction of Conditioned Fear. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:529–538.
- Singewald N, Schmuckermair C, Whittle N, Holmes A, Ressler KJ (2015) Pharmacology of cognitive enhancers for exposure-based therapy of fear, anxiety and trauma-related disorders. Pharmacol Ther 149:150–190.
- Smyth AM, Lawrie SM (2013) The neuroimmunology of schizophrenia. Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci 11:107–117.
- Snyder EM, Philpot BD, Huber KM, Dong X, Fallon JR, Bear MF (2001) Internalization of ionotropic glutamate receptors in response to mGluR activation. Nat Neurosci 4:1079–1085.
- Soloviev MM, Ciruela F, Chan WY, McIlhinney RA (2000) Molecular characterisation of two structurally distinct groups of human homers, generated by extensive alternative splicing. J Mol Biol 295:1185–1200.
- Sotres-Bayon F, Bush DEA, LeDoux JE (2007) Acquisition of Fear Extinction Requires Activation of NR2B-Containing NMDA Receptors in the Lateral Amygdala. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:1929–1940.
- Sotres-Bayon F, Sierra-Mercado D, Pardilla-Delgado E, Quirk GJ (2012) Gating of Fear in Prelimbic Cortex by Hippocampal and Amygdala Inputs. Neuron 76:804–812.
- Spellmann I, Rujescu D, Musil R, Mayr A, Giegling I, Genius J, Zill P, Dehning S, Opgen-Rhein M, Cerovecki A, Hartmann AM, Schäfer M, Bondy B, Müller N, Möller H-J, Riedel M (2011) Homer-1 polymorphisms are associated with psychopathology and response to treatment in schizophrenic patients. J Psychiatr Res 45:234–241.
- Stafford JM, Raybuck JD, Ryabinin AE, Lattal KM (2012) Increasing histone acetylation in the hippocampusinfralimbic network enhances fear extinction. Biol Psychiatry 72:25–33.
- Stefansson H et al. (2008) Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia. Nature 455:232–236.
- Stefansson H et al. (2009) Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia. Nature 460:744–747.
- Stephenson ML, Zamecnik PC (1978) Inhibition of Rous sarcoma viral RNA translation by a specific oligodeoxyribonucleotide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:285–288.
- Stone JL et al. (2008) Rare chromosomal deletions and duplications increase risk of schizophrenia. Nature 455:237–241.
- Stone M, Gabrieli JDE, Stebbins GT, Sullivan E V (1998) Working and strategic memory deficits in schizophrenia. Neuropsychology 12:278–288.
- Strange B a, Witter MP, Lein ES, Moser EI (2014) Functional organization of the hippocampal longitudinal axis. Nat Publ Gr 15:655–669.
- Strange BA, Dolan RJ (1999) Functional segregation within the human hippocampus. Mol Psychiatry 4:508–511.
- Strauss J, McGregor S, Freeman N, Tiwari A, George CJ, Kovacs M, Kennedy JL (2012) Association study of earlyimmediate genes in childhood-onset mood disorders and suicide attempt. Psychiatry Res 197:49–54.
- Sullivan PF, Kendler KS, Neale MC (2003) Schizophrenia as a Complex Trait Evidence From a Meta-analysis of Twin Studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:1187–1192.
- Sun J, Tadokoro S, Imanaka T, Murakami SD, Nakamura M, Kashiwada K, Ko J, Nishida W, Sobue K (1998) Isolation of PSD-Zip45, a novel Homer/vesl family protein containing leucine zipper motifs, from rat brain. FEBS Lett 437:304–308.

Swerdlow NR, Braff DL, Hartston H, Perry W, Geyer MA (1996) Latent inhibition in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 20:91–103.

Sylantyev S, Savtchenko LP, Ermolyuk Y, Michaluk P, Rusakov D a. (2013) Spike-Driven Glutamate Electrodiffusion Triggers Synaptic Potentiation via a Homer-Dependent mGluR-NMDAR Link. Neuron 77:528–541.

Szapiro G, Vianna MRM, McGaugh JL, Medina JH, Izquierdo I (2003) The role of NMDA glutamate receptors, PKA, MAPK, and CAMKII in the hippocampus in extinction of conditioned fear. Hippocampus 13:53–58.

Szatkiewicz J et al. (2014a) Copy number variation in schizophrenia in Sweden. Mol Psychiatry 19:762–773.

Szatkiewicz JP et al. (2014b) Copy number variation in schizophrenia in Sweden. Mol Psychiatry 19:762–773.

Szumlinski KK, Dehoff MH, Kang SH, Frys KA, Lominac KD, Klugmann M, Rohrer J, Griffin W, Toda S, Champtiaux NP, Berry T, Tu JC, Shealy SE, During MJ, Middaugh LD, Worley PF, Kalivas PW (2004) Homer proteins regulate sensitivity to cocaine. Neuron 43:401–413.

Szumlinski KK, Kippin TE (2008) Homer: A Genetic Factor in Schizophrenia? In (MD PO, ed), pp 29–72. Springer US.

Szumlinski KK, Lominac KD, Kleschen MJ, Oleson EB, Dehoff MH, Schwarz MK, Schwartz MK, Seeburg PH, Seeberg PH, Worley PF, Kalivas PW (2005) Behavioral and neurochemical phenotyping of Homer1 mutant mice: possible relevance to schizophrenia. Genes Brain Behav 4:273–288.

Talati P, Rane S, Kose S, Blackford JU, Gore J, Donahue MJ, Heckers S (2014) Increased hippocampal CA1 cerebral blood volume in schizophrenia. NeuroImage Clin 5:359–364.

Tamminga CA, Stan AD, Wagner AD (2010) The hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 167:1178–1193.

Tappe A, Klugmann M, Luo C, Hirlinger D, Agarwal N, Benrath J, Ehrengruber MU, During MJ, Kuner R (2006) Synaptic scaffolding protein Homer1a protects against chronic inflammatory pain. Nat Med 12:677–681.

Tappe A, Kuner R (2006) Regulation of motor performance and striatal function by synaptic scaffolding proteins of the Homer1 family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:774–779.

Tappe-Theodor A, Fu Y, Kuner R, Neugebauer V (2011) Homer1a signaling in the amygdala counteracts painrelated synaptic plasticity, mGluR1 function and pain behaviors. Mol Pain 7:38.

Taylor SF, Kang J, Brege IS, Tso IF, Hosanagar A, Johnson TD (2012) Meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies of emotion perception and experience in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 71:136–145.

Tekin S, Cummings JL (2002) Frontal-subcortical neuronal circuits and clinical neuropsychiatry: an update. J Psychosom Res 53:647–654.

Thapar A, Martin J, Mick E, Arias Vásquez A, Langley K, Scherer SW, Schachar R, Crosbie J, Williams N, Franke B, Elia J, Glessner J, Hakonarson H, Owen MJ, Faraone S V, O'Donovan MC, Holmans P (2015) Psychiatric gene discoveries shape evidence on ADHD's biology. Mol Psychiatry:1–6.

Thompson BM, Baratta M V, Biedenkapp JC, Rudy JW, Watkins LR, Maier SF (2010) Activation of the infralimbic cortex in a fear context enhances extinction learning. Learn Mem 17:591–599.

Tkachev D, Mimmack ML, Ryan MM, Wayland M, Freeman T, Jones PB, Starkey M, Webster MJ, Yolken RH, Bahn S (2003) Oligodendrocyte dysfunction in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Lancet 362:798–805.

Toledo-Rodriguez M, Sandi C (2007) Stress before puberty exerts a sex- and age-related impact on auditory and contextual fear conditioning in the rat. Neural Plast 2007.

Tønnesen J, Katona G, Rózsa B, Nägerl UV (2014) Spine neck plasticity regulates compartmentalization of synapses. Nat Neurosci 17:678–685.

Traverso LM, Ruiz G, De La Casa LG (2012) Effect of the NMDA antagonist MK-801 on latent inhibition of fear conditioning. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 102:488–494.

Trent S, Barnes P, Hall J, Thomas KL (2015) Rescue of long-term memory after reconsolidation blockade. Nat Commun 6:7897.

Tronson NC, Corcoran KA, Jovasevic V, Radulovic J (2012) Fear conditioning and extinction: Emotional states encoded by distinct signaling pathways. Trends Neurosci 35:145–155.

Tseng KY, O'Donnell P (2007) Dopamine modulation of prefrontal cortical interneurons changes during adolescence. Cereb Cortex 17:1235–1240.

Tu JC, Xiao B, Naisbitt S, Yuan JP, Petralia RS, Brakeman P, Doan A, Aakalu VK, Lanahan AA, Sheng M, Worley PF (1999) Coupling of mGluR/Homer and PSD-95 complexes by the Shank family of postsynaptic density proteins. Neuron 23:583–592.

Tu JC, Xiao B, Yuan JP, Lanahan AA, Leoffert K, Li M, Linden DJ, Worley PF (1998) Homer binds a novel prolinerich motif and links group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptors with IP3 receptors. Neuron 21:717–726.

Turrigiano GG, Nelson SB (2004) Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:97–107.

- Van Keuren-Jensen K, Cline HT (2006) Visual experience regulates metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated plasticity of AMPA receptor synaptic transmission by homer1a induction. J Neurosci 26:7575–7580.
- van Loo KMJ, Martens GJM (2007) Genetic and environmental factors in complex neurodevelopmental disorders. Curr Genomics 8:429–444.
- van Os J, Kapur S (2009) Schizophrenia. Lancet 374:635–645.
- van Os J, Rutten BP, Poulton R (2008) Gene-environment interactions in schizophrenia: review of epidemiological findings and future directions. Schizophr Bull 34:1066–1082.
- Varese F, Smeets F, Drukker M, Lieverse R, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, Read J, Van Os J, Bentall RP (2012) Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: A meta-analysis of patient-control, prospective-and cross-sectional cohort studies. Schizophr Bull 38:661–671.
- Vazdarjanova A, McNaughton BL, Barnes CA, Worley PF, Guzowski JF (2002) Experience-dependent coincident expression of the effector immediate-early genes arc and Homer 1a in hippocampal and neocortical neuronal networks. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 22:10067–10071.
- Vertes RP (2004) Differential Projections of the Infralimbic and Prelimbic Cortex in the Rat. Synapse 51:32–58.
- Vianna MR, Igaz LM, Coitinho AS, Medina JH, Izquierdo I (2003) Memory extinction requires gene expression in rat hippocampus. Neurobiol Learn Mem 79:199–203.
- Vickers TA, Koo S, Bennett CF, Crooke ST, Dean NM, Baker BF (2003) Efficient reduction of target RNAs by small interfering RNA and RNase H-dependent antisense agents. A comparative analysis. J Biol Chem 278:7108–7118.
- Vita A, De Peri L, Deste G, Sacchetti E (2012) Progressive loss of cortical gray matter in schizophrenia: a metaanalysis and meta-regression of longitudinal MRI studies. Transl Psychiatry 2:e190.
- Waelti P, Dickinson A, Schultz W (2001) Dopamine responses comply with basic assumptions of formal learning theory. Nature 412:43–48.
- Walker DL, Ressler KJ, Lu K-T, Davis M (2002) Facilitation of conditioned fear extinction by systemic administration or intra-amygdala infusions of D-cycloserine as assessed with fear-potentiated startle in rats. J Neurosci 22:2343–2351.
- Wang Q, Chikina MD, Pincas H, Sealfon SC (2014) Homer1 alternative splicing is regulated by gonadotropinreleasing hormone and modulates gonadotropin gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 34:1747–1756.
- Watts J, Corey D (2012) Gene silencing by siRNAs and antisense oligonucleotides in the laboratory and the clinic. J Pathol 226:365–379.
- Weiler IJ, Spangler CC, Klintsova AY, Grossman AW, Kim SH, Bertaina-Anglade V, Khaliq H, de Vries FE, Lambers FAE, Hatia F, Base CK, Greenough WT (2004) Fragile X mental retardation protein is necessary for neurotransmitter-activated protein translation at synapses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:17504–17509.
- West AE, Chen WG, Dalva MB, Dolmetsch RE, Kornhauser JM, Shaywitz AJ, Takasu MA, Tao X, Greenberg ME (2001) Calcium regulation of neuronal gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:11024–11031.
- White J a, McKinney BC, John MC, Powers P a, Kamp TJ, Murphy GG (2008) Conditional forebrain deletion of the L-type calcium channel Ca V 1.2 disrupts remote spatial memories in mice. Learn Mem 15:1–5.
- Wondolowski J, Dickman D (2013) Emerging links between homeostatic synaptic plasticity and neurological disease. 7:1–9.
- Worley PF, Zeng W, Huang G, Kim JY, Shin DM, Kim MS, Yuan JP, Kiselyov K, Muallem S (2007) Homer proteins in Ca2+ signaling by excitable and non-excitable cells. Cell Calcium 42:363–371.
- Xiao B, Tu JC, Petralia RS, Yuan JP, Doan A, Breder CD, Ruggiero A, Lanahan AA, Wenthold RJ, Worley PF (1998) Homer regulates the association of group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptors with multivalent complexes of homer-related, synaptic proteins. Neuron 21:707–716.
- Yamamoto K, Sakagami Y, Sugiura S, Inokuchi K, Shimohama S, Kato N (2005) Homer 1a enhances spike-induced calcium influx via L-type calcium channels in neocortex pyramidal cells. Eur J Neurosci 22:1338–1348.
- Yamamoto K, Ueta Y, Wang L, Yamamoto R, Inoue N, Inokuchi K, Aiba A, Yonekura H, Kato N (2011) Suppression of a neocortical potassium channel activity by intracellular amyloid-β and its rescue with Homer1a. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 31:11100–11109.
- Yang SN, Tang YG, Zucker RS (1999) Selective induction of LTP and LTD by postsynaptic [Ca2+]i elevation. J Neurophysiol 81:781–787.
- Yeckel MF, Kapur A, Johnston D (1999) Multiple forms of LTP in hippocampal CA3 neurons use a common postsynaptic mechanism. Nat Neurosci 2:625–633.
- Yehuda R, LeDoux J (2007) Response Variation following Trauma: A Translational Neuroscience Approach to Understanding PTSD. Neuron 56:19–32.
- Yoshihara Y, De Roo M, Muller D (2009) Dendritic spine formation and stabilization. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19:146-

153.

- Yu SP, Sensi SL, Canzoniero LM, Buisson A, Choi DW (1997) Membrane-delimited modulation of NMDA currents by metabotropic glutamate receptor subtypes 1/5 in cultured mouse cortical neurons. J Physiol 499 (Pt 3:721–732.
- Yuan JP, Kiselyov K, Shin DM, Chen J, Shcheynikov N, Kang SH, Dehoff MH, Schwarz MK, Seeburg PH, Muallem S, Worley PF (2003) Homer binds TRPC family channels and is required for gating of TRPC1 by IP3 receptors. Cell 114:777–789.
- Yuan JP, Lee KP, Hong JH, Muallem S (2012) The closing and opening of TRPC channels by Homer1 and STIM1. Acta Physiol 204:238–247.
- Yuede CM, Wozniak DF, Creeley CE, Taylor GT, Olney JW, Farber NB (2010) Behavioral consequences of NMDA antagonist-induced neuroapoptosis in the infant mouse brain. PLoS One 5.
- Zelikowsky M, Pham DL, Fanselow MS (2012) Temporal factors control hippocampal contributions to fear renewal after extinction. Hippocampus 22:1096–1106.
- Zhang G-C, Mao L-M, Liu X-Y, Parelkar NK, Arora A, Yang L, Hains M, Fibuch EE, Wang JQ (2007) In vivo regulation of Homer1a expression in the striatum by cocaine. Mol Pharmacol 71:1148–1158.
- Zhang W, Rosenkranz JA (2013) Repeated restraint stress enhances cue-elicited conditioned freezing and impairs acquisition of extinction in an age-dependent manner. Behav Brain Res 248:12–24.
- Zhang Z, Peterson M, Liu H (2013) Essential role of postsynaptic NMDA receptors in developmental refinement of excitatory synapses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:1095–1100.

## Acknowledgments for CNV datasets

We acknowledge the contribution of data from the Database of Genotypes and Phenotypes (dbGaP): A) Genetic Epidemiology of COPD (COPDGene) Funded by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. dbGaP Study Accession: phs000179.v3.p2. The principal investigators were James D Crapo (National Jewish Health, Denver, CO, USA) and Edwin K Silverman (Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA). The study was run at the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA and funded by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD USA (U01HL089897, U01HL089856). B) A Genome-Wide Association Study of Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD). dbGaP Study Accession: phs000421.v1.p. The principal investigators were Natalie Afshari (Duke University, Durham, NC, USA), John Gottsch (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA), Sudha K Iyengar (Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, USA), Nicholas Katsanis (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA), Gordon Klintworth (Duke University, Durham, NC, USA) and Jonathan Lass (Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, USA). Co-investigators were Simon Gregory (Duke University, Durham, NC, USA) and Yi-Ju Li (Duke University, Durham, NC, USA). The study was funded by the National Eye Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA (R01EY016482, CWRU, PI: Sudha Iyengar; R01EY016514, DUEC, PI: Gordon Klintworth; R01EY016835, JHU, PI: John Gottsch). Genotyping was carried out at the Center for Inherited Disease Research (CIDR), Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA and was funded by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA. HHSN268200782096C, NIH contract "High throughput genotyping for studying the genetic contributions to human disease"; HHSN268201100011I, NIH contract "High throughput genotyping for studying the genetic

contributions to human disease". C) California Pacific Medical Center Research Breast Health Cohort. dbGaP Study Accession: phs000395.v1.p1. The principal investigator was Elad Ziv (University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA). Co-investigators were Steven Cummings (California Pacific Medical Center Research Institute and University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA), Karla Kerlikowske (University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA) and John Shepherd (University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA). The study was run at the National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA and was funded by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA (P01 CA107584; R01 CA120120). Genotyping was carried out at Johns Hopkins University Center for Inherited Disease Research (CIDR), Baltimore, MD, USA and was funded by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA (HHSN268200782096C, "NIH contract High throughput genotyping for studying the genetic contributions to human disease"; HHSN268201100011I, "NIH contract High throughput genotyping for studying the genetic contributions to human disease"). D) Study of Melanoma Risk in Australia and the United Kingdom. dbGaP Study Accession: phs000519.v1.p1. The principal investigator was Nicholas Hayward (Queensland Institute of Medical Research, Brisbane, QLD, Australia). The study was funded by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA (R01CA088363). Genotyping was carried out at the Center for Inherited Disease Research (CIDR), Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA and funded by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA (HHSN268201100011I). E) Genome-Wide Association of Schizophrenia Study, (GAIN). dbGaP accession phs000021.v3.p2. Funding for this study was provided by the National Institute of Mental Health (R01 MH67257, R01 MH59588, R01 MH59571, R01 MH59565, R01 MH59587, R01 MH60870, R01 MH59566, R01 MH59586, R01 MH61675, R01 MH60879, R01 MH81800, U01 MH46276, U01 MH46289 U01 MH46318, U01 MH79469, and U01 MH79470) and the

genotyping of samples was provided through the Genetic Association Information Network. The principle investigator was Pablo V. Gejman, Evanston Northwestern Healthcare (ENH) and Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, USA. F) Genome-Wide Association of Schizophrenia Study, (MGS\_nonGAIN). dbGaP accession phs000167.v1.p1. Samples and associated phenotype data for the MGS\_nonGAIN study were collected under the following grants: NIMH Schizophrenia Genetics Initiative U01s: MH46276 (CR Cloninger), MH46289 (C Kaufmann), and MH46318 (MT Tsuang); and MGS Part 1 (MGS1) and Part 2 (MGS2) R01s: MH67257 (NG Buccola), MH59588 (BJ Mowry), MH59571 (PV Gejman), MH59565 (Robert Freedman), MH59587 (F Amin), MH60870 (WF Byerley), MH59566 (DW Black), MH59586 (JM Silverman), MH61675 (DF Levinson), and MH60879 (CR Cloninger). G) Genetic Architecture of Smoking and Smoking Cessation dbGAP accession phs000404.v1.p1. Funding support for genotyping, which was performed at the Center for Inherited Disease Research (CIDR), was provided by 1 X01 HG005274-01. CIDR is fully funded through a federal contract from the National Institutes of Health to The Johns Hopkins University, contract number HHSN2682007 82096C. Assistance with genotype cleaning, as well as with general study coordination, was provided by the Gene Environment Association Studies (GENEVA) Coordinating Center (U01 HG004446). Funding support for collection of datasets and samples was provided by the Collaborative Genetic Study of Nicotine Dependence (COGEND; P01 CA089392) and the University of Wisconsin Transdisciplinary Tobacco Use Research Center (P50 DA019706, P50 CA084724). H) High- Density SNP Association Analysis of Melanoma: Case-Control and Outcomes Investigation. dbGaP accession phs000187.v1.p1. Research support to collect data and develop an application to support this project was provided by 3P50CA093459, 5P50CA097007, 5R01ES011740 and 5R01CA133996. I) Genetic Epidemiology of Refractive Error in the KORA Study. dbGaP accession phs000303.v1.p1. Principal investigators: Dwight

Stambolian, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA; H. Erich Wichmann, Institut fu"r Humangenetik, Helmholtz-Zentrum Mu"nchen, Germany, National Eye Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA. Funded by R01 EY020483, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA.

Samples from the WTCCC2 study were downloaded from https://www.ebi.ac.uk/ega/ and include samples from the National Blood Donors Cohort, EGAD00000000024 and samples from the 1958 British Birth Cohort, EGAD0000000022. Funding for these projects was provided by the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 project (085475/B/08/Z and 085475/Z/ 08/Z), the Wellcome Trust (072894/Z/03/Z, 090532/Z/09/Z and 075491/Z/04/B) and NIMH grants (MH 41953 and MH08 3094). For the CLOZUK sample, we thank Novartis for their guidance and co-operation. We also thank staff at The Doctor's Laboratory, in particular Lisa Levett and Andrew Levett, for help and advice regarding sample acquisition. We acknowledge Kiran Mantripragada, Lesley Bates, Catherine Bresner and Lucinda Hopkins for laboratory sample management. Finally, we thank the participants and clinicians who took part in the Cardiff COGS study.